ENSEARCH - Agency Interest Details

Tronox LLC, Columbus

General Information

Page 1 of 2

ID Branch SIC County Basin Start End

1696 Chemical 2491 Lowndes Tombigbee River 10/27/1992

Address

Physical Address (Primary) Mailing Address

2300 14th Avenue North PO Box 268859

Columbus, MS 39701 Oklahoma City, OK 731268859

Telecommunications

Type Address or Phone

'Work phone number (405) 775-5129

Alternate / Historic AI Identifiers

AltID Alt Name Alt Type Start Date [End Date

2808700020 |Tronox LLC, Columbus Air-AIRS AFS 10/12/2000{06/01/2002
Kerr McGee Chemical . .

168000020 Corporation, Columbus Air-Construction 06/12/1998
Kerr McGee Chemical Air-Synthetic Minor

168000020 Corporation, Columbus Operating 06/06/1997/06/01/2002

! Kerr McGee Chemical Air-Synthetic Minor

§168000020 Corporation, Columbus Operating 06/12/1998/06/01/2002
Kerr McGee Chemical .

MSR220010 Corporation, Columbus GP-Wood Treating 10/27/1992{07/13/1997
Kerr McGee Chemical

MSD990866329 Corporation, Columbus Hazardous Waste-EPA 1D 10/12/2000

! Kerr McGee Chemical _

;MSDQ90866329 Corporation, Columbus Hazardous Waste-TSD 06/11/2001|04/12/2006

IMSD990866329[Tronox LLC, Columbus Hazardous Waste-TSD 04/13/2006|05/31/2011

1696 Kerr McGee Chemical Corporation |Historic Site Name 10/27/1992|04/10/2006

1696 Tronox, LLC Official Site Name 04/10/2006
Kerr McGee Chemical

MSP090021 Corporation, Columbus Water-Pretreatment 10/11/1994{10/10/1999
Kerr McGee Chemical

MSP090021 Corporation, Columbus Water-Pretreatment 08/23/2000]|07/31/2005
Kerr McGee Chemical

MSP090021 Corporation, Columbus Water-Pretreatment 10/31/2005]04/12/2006

MSP090021 Tronox LLC, Columbus Water-Pretreatment 04/13/2006{09/30/2010

Regulatory Programs

‘Program SubProgram Start Date [End Date

Air NSPS Subpart D¢ 09/12/1990j06/01/2002

Air SM 06/06/1997|06/01/2002

!Hazardous Waste Large Quantity Generator |04/01/1997

IHazardous Waste TSD - Not Classified 06/11/2001

Water PT CIU 10/11/1994(09/01/2003

iWater PT CIU - Timber Products 10/11/1994|09/01/2003

httn*//nnrweah/ancearch/anenry interect Aetaile acnv?ai=1A0A
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Processing (Subpart 429)

Water

PT NCS 09/01/2003
Water PT SIU 10/11/1994
Locational Data
Latitude Longitude Metadata S/T/R Map Links
33° 30" 88 ° 24" Point Desc: PG - Plant entrance Section: SWIMS
38 .51 34 .02 (General) Data collected by Louis Township: TerraServer
(033.510697) [(088.409450) |Crawford on 7/11/00. PG - Plant ) Map It

Entrance (General) Data collected by Range:

Clift Jeter on 6/13/02. LAT 33deg 30min
36.6sec LON 88deg 24min 35.1sec

Method: GPS Code (Psuedo Range)
Differential
Datum: NADS83

Type: MDEQ

10/13/2006 10:29:50 AM

httn://oncweh/ensparch/anency interect detaile acnv?ai—=1A0A
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Kerr McGee Chemical Corporation, Columbus

Al General Information

Al ID Branch SiC County Basin Start End

1696 Chem'ical Branch 2491 Lowndes Tombigbee River Basin 10/27/1992

Physical and Mailing Address

Physical Address (Primary) Mailing Address
2300 14th Avenue North 2300 14th Avenue North
Columbus, MS 39701 Columbus, MS 39701

Telecommunications

Type Address or Phone

Work phone number {662) 328-7551

Alternate / Historic Al Identifiers

AltiD Alt Name Alt Type Start Date | End Date
08700020 Kerr McGee Chemical Corporation, Columbus Air-AIRS AFS 10/12/00

168000020 Kerr McGee Chemical Corporation, Columbus Air-Construction 06/12/98

168000020 Kerr McGee Chemica! Corporation, Columbus Air-Synthetic Minor Operating 06/06/97 06/01/02
168000020 Kerr McGee Chemical Corporation, Columbus Air-Synthetic Minor Operating 06/12/98 06/0 t/02
MSR220010 Kerr McGee Chemical Corporation, Columbus GP-Wood Treating 10/27/92

MSD990866329 Kerr McGee Chemical Corporation, Columbus Hazardous Waste-EPA 1D 10/t2/00

MSD990866329 Kerr McGee Chemica! Corporation, Columbus Hazardous Waste-TSD 06/1t/01 05/31/11
1696 Kerr McGee Chemical Corporation Official Site Name 10/27/92

MSP090021 Kerr McGee Chemicat Corporation, Columbus Water-Pretreatment 10/11/94 to/10/99
MSP090021 Kemr McGee Chemical Corporation, Columbus Water-Pretreatment 08/23/00 07/31/05

Regulatory Programs

Program SubProgram
Arr NSPS Subpart Dc
Air SM - Not Classified
Hazardous Waste TSD - Not Classified

httn/lanmrrah/ancaarrh/acancy interact Aataile aenv2ai1=1AQ0A 12/10/7007
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Suites 2500 Fax: (+H05) 278-6823
210 Park Avenue Fax:  (405) 278-68 34
Okahoma City, Oklahoma 73102 www.ey.com

Report of Independent Accountants on
Applying Agreed-Upon Procedures

Management of Tronox LLC

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States, the consolidated financial statements of Tronox LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary
of Tronox Incorporated (the Company) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2005,
and have issued our report thereon dated March 31, 2006.

We have performed the procedures enumerated below, which were agreed to by
management of the Company solely to assist management with respect to the use of the
financial test to demonstrate financial responsibility for liability coverage and closure
and/or post-closure care as specified in subpart H of the Mississippi Hazardous Waste
Regulations parts 264 and 265 (the Regulations). Management is responsible for
determining compliance with the financial test that is presented on the basis specified by
the Regulations. This agreed-upon procedures engagement was performed in accordance
with standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
The sufficiency of the procedures is solely the responsibility of the specified users of the
report. Consequently, we make no representation regarding the sufficiency of the
procedures described below either for the purpose for which this report has been

requested or for any other purpose.

We have performed the following procedures with respect to the Chief Financial
Officer’s accompanying letter dated March 31, 2006 to the Executive Director,
Mississippi Department of Environmental Quality (the Letter):

1. We compared the dollar amount of total liabilities (item 4), net worth (item 6), current
assets (item 7), current liabilities (item 8), net working capital (item 9) as of
December 31, 2005, and the sum of net income plus depreciation, depletion and
amortization (item 10) for the year ended December 31, 2005, in the Letter to the
applicable amount in or that can be derived from the Company’s audited consolidated
financial statements referred to above, and found such to be in agreement.

2. We obtained the Company’s schedule which calculates tangible net worth as of
December 31, 2005. We recomputed the Company’s schedule, and agreed amounts
included in the calculation with amounts included in the Company’s audited
consolidated financial statements referred to above, and found such to be in
agreement. We compared the dollar amount of tangible net worth as of December 31,
2005, from this schedule to the Letter (item 5) and found it to be in agreement.

0603-0726349 S .
A Member Practice of Emst & Young Global



3. We obtained the Company’s schedule which calculates total assets in the United
States as of December 31, 2005. We recomputed the Company’s schedule, and
agreed amounts included in the calculation with amounts included in the Company’s
accounting records and found such to be in agreement. We compared the dollar
amount of total assets in the United States as of December 31, 2005, from this
schedule to the Letter (item 11) and found it to be in agreement. We also recomputed
the percentage of total assets in the U.S. from the company’s schedule of total assets
in the U.S. and the amount of total assets derived from the Company’s audited
consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2005 and found the resulting
percentage to be consistent with the Company’s response to Item 15.

We were not engaged to and did not conduct an audit of the items noted above, the
objective of which would be the expression of an opinion on such items. Accordingly,
we do not express such an opinion. Had we performed additional procedures, other
matters might have come to our attention that would have been reported to you.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Company and the

Mississippi Department of Environmental Quality and is not intended to be and should
not be used by anyone other that these specified parties.

St ¥ MLLP

March 31, 2006

0603-0726349
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Suite 2500 Fax: (405) 278-6823
210 Park Avenue Fax:  (405) 278-6834
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73102 www.ey.com

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
Management of Kerr-McGee Chemical LLC:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Kerr-McGee Chemical LLC (a
wholly owned subsidiary of Kerm-McGee Chemical Worldwide LLC) and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the related consolidated statements of operations, member's
equity and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2003. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Kerr-McGee Chemical LLC and subsidiaries at December 31, 2003 and
2002, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the two years in the
period ended December 31, 2003 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2003, the
Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 143, “Accounting for Asset
Retirement Obligations” and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 146, “Accounting

for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.”
é/vmt ¥ MLL?

Oklahoma City, Oklahoma
March 19, 2004

A Member Practice of Ernst & Young Global
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KERR-McGEE CHEMICAL LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
DECEMBER 31, 2003 AND 2002

(Thousands of Dollars)

ASSETS 2003 2002
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 11,3717 $ 11,471
Accounts and notes receivable, net of allowance
for doubtful accounts of $1,117 in 2003 and $1,923 in 2002 114,523 86,816
Accounts receivable from affiliates 23,738 28,299
Notes receivable from affiliates 51,300 18,100
Advances to parent and affiliates 27,847 46,612
Inventories 250,966 250,063
Deposits and prepaid expenses 17,906 15,188
Derivatives 13,799 -
Total Cutrent Assets 511,456 456,549
OTHER ASSETS 107,867 104,534
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Plant and equipment 1,383,123 1,364,962
Land 48,418 48,418
Buildings 116,717 113,013
Other 46,101 45,135
1,694,359 1,671,528
Less - Reserves for depreciation and amortization 915,783 864,781
Total Property, Plant and Equipment 678,576 706,747
INTANGIBLES AND DEFERRED CHARGES 36,185 37,746
Total Assets $ 1,334,084 $ 1,305,576
LIABILITIES AND MEMBER'S EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 92,150 $ 81,068
Accrued liabilities - 88,072 81,572
Total Current Liabilities 180,222 162,640
NOTE PAYABLE TO AFFILIATE 221,000 221,000
DEFERRED CREDITS AND RESERVES
Deferred income iaxes 83,874 60,596
Environmental remediation and / or restoration and other 129,203 136,127
Total Deferred Credits and Reserves 213,077 196,723
MEMBER'S EQUITY
Member's investment 493,882 493,882
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 9,923 (879)
Undistributed earnings 215,980 232,210
Total Member's Equity 719,785 725,213
Total Liabilities and Member's Equity _$ 1,334,084 $ 1,305,576
- 119,78
¢ 14297

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

-1-
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KERR-McGEE CHEMICAL LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003 AND 2002

(Thousands of Dollars)

SALES

COSTS AND EXPENSES
Costs and operating expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Shipping and handling expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Asset impairment
Provision for environmental remediation and restoration,
net of reimbursement
Taxes, other than income taxes

Total Costs and Expenses

OTHER EXPENSE

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES
INCOME TAX BENEFIT (NOTE 10)

INCOME BEFORE CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE
CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE

NET INCOME (LOSS)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

-2-

2003
$ 843738

669,127
77,500
34,612
95,856

1,850

22,529
14,851

916,325
(72,587)

(20,361)
(92,948)
55,242

(37,706)

(14,100
$ (51806)

2002

$ 840522

610,158
61,982
31,020
82,813

6,542

13,759
13,600

819,874
20,648

(15,260)
5,388
2,223

7,611

7,611
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KERR-McGEE CHEMICAL LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF MEMBER’S EQUITY

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003 AND 2002

(Thousands of Dollars)
Accumulated Other

Member's Undistributed Comprehensive Total Member's

Investment Eamings income (Loss) Equity
Balance at December 31, 2001 $ 493,882 $ 175,838 $ (16,405) $ 653,315
Change in derivative fair value - - 15,526 15,526
Net income - 7,611 - 7611
Total comprehensive income - - - 23437
Distribution to parent for:

Govemment reimbursements - (9,593) - (9,593)
Capital contribution from parent - 58,354 - 58,354
Balance at December 31, 2002 $ 493,882 $ 232,210 $ (879) $ 725,213
Change in derivative fair value - - 10,802 10,802

Net income (loss) - (51,806) - (51,806)

Total comprehensive income (loss) - - - (41,004)
Distribution to parent for:

Government reimbursement - (14,832) - (14,832)
Capital contribution from parent . - 50,408 - 50,408

$ 719,785

Balance at December 31, 2003 $ 493,882 . $ 215,980 $ 9,923

|\

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

-3-
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KERR-McGEE CHEMICAL LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003 AND 2002

(Thousands of Dollars)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss) ~
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash
provided by operating activities-
Depreciation and amortization
Asset impairment
Deferred income taxes
Loss on sale of assets
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
Other noncash items affecting net income (loss)
Environmental provision
Other
Changes in assets and liabilities and other-
increase in accounts and notes receivable
(Increase) Decrease in advances to parent and affiliates
(Increase) Decrease in inventory
(Increase) Decrease in deposits and prepaid expenses
(Increase) Decrease in receivables from parent
for income taxes
Increase (Decrease) in accounts payable
and accrued liabilities
Decrease in environmental remediation and restoration
Net Cash provided by operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditures
Proceeds from sale of assets
Proceeds from notes receivable from affiliates
Issuance of notes receivable to affiliates

Other
Net cash used in investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Distribution from (to) parent for government reimbursements
Capital contribution from parent
Payments on note payable to affiliate
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR

2003 2002
$ (51,806) $ 7,611
95,856 82,813

1,850 6,542

(7.766) 4522

2,975 3,540

14,100 E

22,529 13,759

11,252 8,362

(25,836) (4,484)

31,057 (88.414)

(903) 6,937

(2,719) 421

7,340 22,221

23514 (8,302)

(51,621) (25,042)

69,822 30,486
(76,169) (59,580)

4,978 1,649

97,100 3
(130,300) (18,100)
{1,101) 903
(105,492) (75,128)
(14,832) (9,593)

50,408 58,354
- (GIM
35,576 42,250

(94) (2,392)

11,471 13,863
T K AR SN 1X 14

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

-4-
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KERR-McGEE CHEMICAL LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Kerr-McGee
Chemical LLC (the company), a Delaware single member limited liability company that is
wholly owned by Kerr-McGee Chemical Worldwide LLC (the parent), and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, Kerr-McGee Holdings, Inc. (KMHI), a Delaware Corporation, and KMCC
Western Australia Pty Ltd. (KMWA). The ultimate parent of the company is Kerr-McGee
Corporation (Kerr-McGee).

As discussed in footnotes 3, 4, 7, 8, 9, 10, 14 and 15 the company has material
transactions with related parties.

The company produces and markets inorganic industrial chemicals, heavy minerals and
forest products. The primary product is titanium dioxide. The operations are in the United

States and Australia.

The company’s investments in affiliated companies that are 20% to 50% owned are carried
as Other Assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at cost adjusted. for equity in
undistributed earnings. Except for dividends, changes in equity in undistributed earnings
are included in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. All intercompany transactions

have been eliminated.

Reorganization

In late 2002, the ultimate parent reorganized the corporate structure. As a result, effective
December 31, 2002, the company contributed the stock of its subsidiary, Kerr-McGee
Stored Power Corporation, and its 50% interest in US Avestor LLC to Kerr-McGee.
Additionally, an affiliate, KM Investment Corporation (KMIC), directly transferred the stock
of KMWA to the company. These transactions were accounted for as a reorganization of
entities under common control. Accordingly, the 2003 and 2002 financial statements are
presented as if the reorganization had been effective at the beginning of 2002.

Foreign Currencies

As the U.S. dollar is considered the functional currency for KMWA, foreign currency
transaction gains or losses are recognized in the period incurred and included in Other
Expense in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. The company recorded a net
foreign currency transaction loss of $3.9 million in 2003 and gain of $0.4 million in 2002.

Cash Equivalents

The company considers all investments with a maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents.
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Accounts Receivable and Receivable Sales

Accounts receivable are reflected at their net realizable value, reduced by an allowance for
doubtful accounts to allow for expected credit losses. The allowance is estimated by
management based on factors such as age of the related receivables and historical
experience, giving consideration to customer profiles. The company does not generally
charge interest on accounts receivable; however, certain operating agreements have
provisions for interest and penalties that may be invoked if deemed necessary. Accounts
receivable are aged in accordance with contract terms and are written off when deemed
uncollectible. Any subsequent recoveries of amounts written off are credited to the
allowance for doubtful accounts.

Under an asset securitization program, the company sells selected pigment customer
accounts receivable to a Variable Interest Entity (VIE). The company does not own any of
the common stock of the VIE. When the receivables are sold, the company retains an
interest in excess receivables that serve as over-collateralization for the program and
retains interests for servicing and in preference stock of the VIE. The interest in preference
stock is essentially a deposit to provide further credit enhancement to the securitization
program, if needed, but is otherwise recoverable by the company at the end of the program.
The servicing fee received is estimated by management to be adequate compensation and
is equal to what would otherwise be charged by an outside servicing agent. The company
records the loss associated with the receivable sale by comparing cash received and fair
value of the retained interests to the carrying amount of the receivables sold. The estimate
of fair value of the retained interests is based on the present value of future cash flows
discounted at rates estimated by management to be commensurate with the risks.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. The costs of product inventories are
determined by the first-in, first-out method. Inventory carrying values include material
costs, labor and the associated indirect manufacturing expenses. Costs for materials and
supplies are determined by average cost to acquire.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
amortization. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred, except that costs of
replacements or renewals that .improve or extend the lives of existing properties are
capitalized.

The company evaluates impairments -by asset group for which the lowest level of
independent cash flows can be identified. If the sum of these estimated future cash flows
(undiscounted and without interest charges) is less than the carrying amount of the
property, an impairment loss is recognized for the excess of the carrying amount over the
estimated fair value of the property.

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated or amortized over its estimated life by the
straight-line method. Useful lives range from 10 to 35 years for buildings and from 3 to 20
years for machinery and equipment. The cost and related depreciation and amortization
reserves are removed from the respective accounts upon retirement or sale of property,
plant and equipment. The resulting gain or loss is included in Other Expense in the

Consolidated Statement of Operations.
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Intangibles and Deferred Charges

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, Intangibles and Deferred Charges include for each year
end $35.7 million of intangible assets of which $35.5 million are identified as indefinite-lived
intangibles. These assets include titanium dioxide proprietary chioride and sulfate process
technologies and seven patents. In accordance with FAS 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets,” which the company adopted on January 1, 2002, indefinite-lived
intangibles are not amortized but are reviewed annually for impairment, or more frequently
if impairment indicators arise. The annual test for impairment was completed in the second
quarter of 2003, with no impairment indicated for the indefinite-lived intangible assets
associated with the chloride and sulfate process technologies.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when title passes to the customer.

Income Taxes

The company is an entity disregarded as separate from its owner for all federal income tax
purposes and, therefore, is treated as a division in Kerr-McGee'’s consolidated income tax
return. However, the company has elected to recognize the amount of current income tax
allocated to the company’s nontaxable stand-alone operations from Kerr-McGee as income
taxes in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations.

The company's subsidiaries, KMHI and KMWA, are separate taxable entities and the
amount of income taxes attributable to their operations are recorded by the company in the
accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations. Deferred U.S. income taxes related
to KMHI and deferred Australian income taxes related to KMWA are provided to reflect the
future tax consequences of differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and
their reported amounts in the financial statements. The distribution and tax amounts for
each of these entities are recorded as directed by Kerr-McGee, but are generally calculated
as though each entity filed a separate tax return. Certain deductions or benefits generated
by each entity’s operations may be considered in the calculation that might not otherwise be
available if each entity was not part of a consolidated return.

Site Remediation and Restoration Costs

As sites of environmental concern for which the company is the responsible party are
identified, the company assesses the existing conditions, claims and assertions, and
records an estimated undiscounted liability when environmental assessments and/or
remedial efforts are probable and the associated costs can be reasonably estimated.

Financial Instruments

The company accounts for all its derivative financial instruments in accordance with FAS
133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” Derivative
instruments are recorded as assets or liabilities, measured at fair value. When available,
quoted market prices are used in determining fair value; however, if quoted market prices
are not available, the company estimates fair value using either quoted market prices of
financial instruments with similar characteristics or other valuation techniques. See Note
12 for a full description of the company’s derivative activities and related accounting.



Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs

All amounts billed to a customer in a sales transaction related to shipping and handiing
represent revenues earned and are reported as revenue, and the costs incurred by the
company for shipping and handling are reported as expense.

New Accounting Standards

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued FAS 143, "Accounting for
Asset Retirement Obligations.” FAS 143 requires that an asset retirement obligation (ARO)
associated with the retirement of a tangible long-lived asset be recognized as a liability in
the period in which it is incurred or becomes determinable (as defined by the standard),
with an associated increase in the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. The cost
of the tangible asset, including the initially recognized asset retirement cost, is depreciated
over the useful life of the asset. The ARO is recorded at fair value, and accretion expense
will be recognized over time as the discounted liability is accreted to its expected settiement
value. The fair value of the ARO is measured using expected future cash outflows
discounted at the company’s credit-adjusted risk-free interest rate.

The company was required to adopt FAS 143 on January 1, 2003. In January 2003, the
company announced its plan to close the synthetic rutile plant in Mobile, Alabama, and
closed the plant in June 2003. Since the plant had a determinate closure date, the company
accrued an abandonment liability of $18 million associated with its plans to decommission
the Mobile facility. Otherwise, the company has not recognized an ARO associated with its
operating facilities, since there is either no legal obligation or the life of such facilities is

indeterminate.

If the provisions of FAS 143 had been applied retroactively, pro forma net income for 2002
would have been $5.3 million.

In June 2002, the FASB issued FAS 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or
Disposal Activities.” FAS 146 nullifies Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 94-3,
“Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an
Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring).” The new standard requires
that the liability for costs associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized when the
liability is incurred, in contrast to the previous guidance set forth in EITF Issue No. 94-3,
which required accrual of such costs at the date of an entity’s commitment to an exit plan.
The company adopted FAS 146-on January 1, 2003 and applied its provisions to costs
associated to the Mobile plant closure. See Note 2 for discussion of Mobile plant closure

costs.
Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates

as additional information becomes known.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year
presentation.

s e |



b G beid T lnd ™l J T

leccecd

| B2

0 _ .

R Rl i

WORK FORCE REDUCTION, EXIT ACTIVITIES AND ASSET IMPAIRMENTS

In September 2003, Kerr-McGee announced a program to reduce its U.S. non-bargaining
work force through both voluntary retirements and involuntary terminations. As a result of
the program, the company's work force was reduced by 138 employees. Qualifying
employees terminated under this program are eligible for enhanced benefits under Kerr-
McGee’s pension and postretirement plans, along with severance payments. The program
was substantially completed by the end of 2003, with certain retiring employees staying into
the first half of 2004 for transition purposes. In connection with the work force reduction,
the company took a pretax charge of $9 million for severance-related costs. Of the total
provision of $9 million, $2 million has been paid through December 31, 2003, with $7 million
remaining in the accrual to be paid in 2004.

The company closed its synthetic rutile plant in Mobile, Alabama, during June 2003. During
the year, the company provided $24 million pre-tax for costs associated with the closure of
this facility. Included in this amount were $14.1 million recorded as cumulative effect of
change in accounting principle related to the recognition of an asset retirement obligation
and $10 million for the accrual of severance benefits. Of the total provision of $10 million,
$8 million has been paid through the end of the year and $2 million remained in the accrual
at December 31, 2003. Approximately 135 employees will ultimately be terminated in
connection with this plant closure, of which 117 had been terminated as of December 31,
2003. Additionally, during 2003, the company recognized $15 million in accelerated
depreciation on the plant assets, $6 million for curtailiment costs and special termination
benefits related to pension and postretirement plans, $8 million for clean-up and
decommissioning costs associated with the plant, and $8 million for other shutdown costs.

In December 2002, the company announced its intent to exit the forest products business.
The exit plan included closing four of its five operating plants by the end of 2003. During
2002, the company provided $17 million for costs associated with exiting the business. This
amount was increased by an additional $5 million in 2003 for a total provision of $22 million.
Included in the total provision were $16 million for dismantiement and closure costs, and
$6 million for severance costs. These costs are reflected in Costs and operating expenses
and in Selling, general and administrative expenses in the accompanying Consolidated
Statement of Operations. Of the total provision of $22 million, $8 million was paid though
December 31, 2003 and $14 million remained in the accrual as of year-end 2003. The
company will continue to operate its fifth plant, a leased facility located in The Dalles,
Oregon, through the term of the lease, which runs through November 30, 2004. In
connection with the plant closures, 252 employees will be terminated, of which 163 were
terminated as of year-end 2003. Additionally, during 2003, the company recognized $9
million for other shutdown related costs, including accelerated depreciation on plant assets,
curtailment costs and special termination benefits related to pension and postretirement
benefits. ;

The provisions, payments, adjustments and reserve balances for 2003 and 2002 are
included in the table below.

2003 2002

Personnel  Dismantiement [1] Personnel  Dismantiement and

{Milfions of Dollars) Total Costs and Closure Total Costs Closure
Beginning Balance $18 § 1§ 17 $ 7§ S | 7
Provisions 24 24 - 17 1 16
Payments (17) (12) 5) (6) )
Adjustments () - ") - - -
Ending Balance $24 § 13 1 $18 § 1 § 17

[1] Table excludes Asset Retirement Obligations (ARO) and pension reserves.
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Also recognized in the exit of forest products were impairment losses of $1.2 million and
$6.5 million in 2003 and 2002, respectively. The impairment losses reduced the carrying
value of the forest products assets to $5.2 million in 2003 and $13.6 million in 2002. The
carrying value will be depreciated over the remaining useful life of the plants. The
impairment loss was determined based on the difference between the carrying value of the
assets and their estimated fair values, determined by discounted future cash flows.

Following are the sales and pretax loss (thousands of dollars) included in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations for the forest products operations subject to the exit plan. The
restructuring provision and the impairment losses are included in the pretax loss amounts
for 2003 and 2002.

2003 2002
Sales $ 104,950 $ 131,016
Pretax (13,932) (12,784)

The company began production through a new high-productivity oxidation line at the
Savannah, Georgia, chloride process pigment plant in January 2004. This new technology
results in low-cost, incremental capacity increases through modification of existing chloride
oxidation lines and allows for improved operating efficiencies through simplification of
hardware configurations and reduced maintenance requirements. Based on the future
outcome of these technological advancements, the company may need to review its
existing configuration at the Savannah plant to optimize the plant's resources in relation to
capacity requirements. The company will evaluate the performance of the new high-
productivity line, analyze the implications on the capacity of existing assets and have a plan
for reconfiguration, if any, by the latter part of 2004. If the new high-productivity line
performs as expected, the outcome of this review may result in the redeployment of certain
assets to alternate uses and/or the need to idle certain other assets. If this occurs, future
useful life of such assets may be adjusted, resulting in the acceleration of depreciation
expense.

TRANSACTIONS WITH KERR-McGEE, THE PARENT AND AFFILIATES

The company has numerous and significant transactions with Kerr-McGee, the parent and
affiliated entities. These transactions include, but are not limited to, selling, general and
administrative services (including employee benefit plans), environmental and legal
matters, income taxes, intercompany advances and borrowings (including related interest
expense) and sales of product- ‘The company also develops and operates integrated
mineral sands mining and processing facilities in Western Australia through its 50%
ownership of Tiwest Joint Venture.

Kerr-McGee and the parent provide certain selling, general and administrative services to
its subsidiaries that are billed to each subsidiary generally based on usage. The total
amount of such billings to the company, which is included in Selling, General and
Administrative expenses in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations, was
approximately $24.2 million in 2003 and $20.6 million in 2002. These amounts are not
necessarily the same as it might cost the company to obtain these services from outside
parties.

In certain instances, generally related to non-operating sites, the parent is also a named
party and has assumed financial responsibility for legal, remediation and/or restoration
costs. Accordingly, such provisions and related liabilities, to the extent the company is not
the primary obligor, have been excluded from the company’s consolidated financial
statements. See Note 9 for a description of these matters.

-10-
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Notes receivable from affiliates at year-end 2003 consisted of notes receivabie from KMIC,
Kerr-McGee NW Shelf Australia Energy (KMNW) and Kerr-McGee China Petroleum Ltd.
(KMCPL) for $28 million, $4 million and $19.3 million, respectively. The KMIC note, dated
December 30, 2003, was due on January 5, 2004, with interest accruing at the weekly
LIBOR rate of 1.2% plus .5% for a total rate of 1.7%. This note was collected in January,
2004. The KMNW note, dated July 1, 2003 is due on June 30, 2004, with interest accruing
at the three month LIBOR rate plus .5%, for a total rate of 1.7%. The receivable from
KMCPL consists of notes in the amounts of $2 million, $1 million, $6.3 million, $4 million
and $6 million. The KMCPL notes are due December 31, 2004 and have interest accruing
at the 3 month SIBOR rate plus .5% for a total between 1.7% to 1.9% for the year.

The company has entered into a borrowing agreement with an affiliated company. See
Note 8 for a discussion of this borrowing agreement.

The company made sales of titanium dioxide pigment totaling $147.8 million and $143.8
million to affiliate Kerr-McGee Pigments, Ltd., in 2003 and 2002, respectively. As of
December 31, 2003 and 2002, receivables from this affiliate aggregated $23.7 million and
$28.3 million, respectively, all of which were due within one year. Similar sales to affiliate
Kerr-McGee Pigments International were $0.2 million and $0.4 million in 2003 and 2002.
The company also made sales of natural rutile and synthetic rutile to affiliate Kerr-McGee
Pigments (Holland) BV totaling $4.8 million in 2003 and $10.5 million in 2002. All of these
amounts are included as Sales in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. The
company believes the sales were made at prices that approximate the prices which would
have been received from an unrelated party for the same products.

The company also recorded net interest expense totaling $2.8 million in 2003 and $2.7
million in 2002, for interest on advances made to and received from KMIC. The net interest
expense is reflected in Other Expense in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.
Interest on the advances is based on the Federal Short-Term Rate, which ranged from
1.2% to 1.8% in 2003 and 1.8% to 3.2% in 2002. The aggregate of these advances and
other non-interest bearing intercompany receivables or payables are carried in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet as Advances to Kerr-McGee, the parent and affiliates and do
not include intercompany receivables or payables related to income taxes.

The company also has significant income tax transactions with Kerr-McGee, the parent and
affiliates. See Notes 4 and 10 for a discussion of these transactions.

CASH FLOW INFORMATION

During 2003 and 2002, the company paid interest of $12.0 million and $14.2 million to Kerr-
McGee or affiliates, respectively, of whichr $1.4 million and $2.3 million was capitalized
associated with construction in process. Additionally, during the same periods, the
company was allocated income tax expense (benefits) associated with its nontaxable
operations from Kerr-McGee of $(37.0) million and $0.7 million, respectively.

During 2003 and 2002, non-cash activities included the recognition of receivables from the
Department of Energy and insurers of $32.1 million and $122.3 million, respectively, and
provision for legal and environmental liabilities of $54.7 million and $136 million,
respectively. See Note 9 for discussion of these matters. These activities also resulted in
non-cash capital contributions of $50.4 million and $58.4 million in 2003 and 2002,
respectively, due to the direct payment of environmental remediation and/or restoration

costs by the parent.

-11-
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ACCOUNTS AND NOTES RECEIVABLE

Summarized below are accounts and notes receivable, net of the related allowance for
doubtful accounts and notes, at December 31, 2003 and 2002 (thousands of dollars):

2003 2002

Accounts receivable
Department of Energy (Note 9) $ 44,000 $ 30,000
Accounts receivable - trade 71,594 58,406
Notes Receivable 46 333
115,640 T 88739
Allowance for doubtful accounts and notes (1.17) (1,923)
Total: $ 114523 $ 86,816

Under an asset securitization program, the company sells selected accounts receivable to a
VIE. The program was restructured on July 30, 2003, to include the sale of receivables
from the company’s European affiliates and to modify certain other terms of the program.
Under the terms of the program, selected qualifying customer accounts receivable may be
sold monthly to a VIE, which in turn sells an undivided ownership interest in the receivables
to a third-party multi-seller commercial paper conduit sponsored by an independent
financial institution. The company sells, and retains an interest in, excess receivables to the
VIE as over-collateralization for the program. The company’s retained interest in the VIE's
receivables is classified in trade accounts receivable in the accompanying Consolidated
Balance Sheet. The retained interest is subordinate to, and provides credit enhancement
for, the conduit's ownership interest in the VIE's receivables, and is available to the conduit
to pay certain fees or expenses due to the conduit, and to absorb credit losses incurred on
any of the VIE’s receivables in the event of termination. However, the company believes
that the risk of credit loss is very low since its bad-debt experience has historically been
insignificant. The company retained servicing responsibilities and will receive a servicing
fee of 1.07% of the receivables sold for the period of time outstanding, generally 60 to 120
days. Servicing fees collected were $1.4 million in 2003 and $1.3 million in 2002. No
recourse obligations were recorded since the company has no obligations for any recourse
actions on the sold receivables. The company also holds preference stock in the VIE equal
to 3.5% of the receivables sold. This preference stock is essentially a retained deposit to
provide further credit enhancements, if needed, but otherwise recoverable by the company
at the end of the program.

During 2003 and 2002, the company sold $424.6 million and $398.7 million, respectively, of
its pigment receivables resulting in pretax losses of $2.7 million and $3.1 million,
respectively. The losses are recorded in Other Expense in the Consolidated Statement of
Operations and are equal to the difference in the book value of the receivables sold and the
total of cash and the fair value of the deposit retained by the VIE. The outstanding balance
for receivables serving as over-collateralization totaled $15.7 million at December 31, 2003.

-12-
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INVENTORIES

The major categories of inventories at December 31, 2003 and 2002, are as follows
(thousands of dollars):

2003 2002
Heavy minerals $ 74,275 $ 67,317
Industrial chemicals 125,593 120,467
Forest Products 4,517 13,512
Materials and supplies 46,581 48,767
Total: $ 250,966 $ 250,063

OTHER ASSETS

Other assets consist of the following at December 31, 2003 and 2002 (thousands of
dollars):

2003 2002
Receivable from Department of Energy (Note 9) $ 65014 $ 82691
Investments in equity affiliates 14,931 15,441
Receivables from insurers and suppliers 24,530 3,534
Other 3,392 2,868

Total: $ 107,867 $ 104,534

NOTE PAYABLE TO AFFILIATE

Long-term debt outstanding at both December 31, 2003 and 2002, consisted of a note
payable to KMIC for $221 million. The note is payable in full on December 31, 2005, and
may be prepaid upon notice in its entirety or multiples of $1 million. The interest rate on the
note payable was 4.0% to 4.3% in 2003 and 4.8% in 2002, and is based on the prime rate
as established by Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York. Interest expense on the
note payable totaled $9.1 million in 2003 and $10.5 million in 2002, and is included in Other
Expense in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

CONTINGENCIES

The following discussion relates to legal and environmental matters involving sites currently
or previously owned or operated by the company and/or its predecessors. Generally, the
parent has assumed financial responsibility for the company’s legal and environmental
matters, including those discussed below (with the exception of Henderson, Nevada),
although in certain situations, the company remains the primary obligor. Whenever the
legal and financial responsibility is joint and several with the parent, the parent has
recognized the provision and liability; thus, it has not been reflected in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements. When the company is the primary obligor and the parent
has agreed to assume the financial responsibility for the matter, it has been reflected in the
company's Consolidated Statement of Operations as Provision for environmental
remediation and restoration and in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as Accrued liabilities or
Deferred Credits and Reserves — Environmental remediation and/or restoration and other.
Upon reimbursement from the parent, it has been reflected in the Consolidated Statement
of Member's Equity as Capital contribution from the parent. When the company is the
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named recipient of reimbursements and such amounts are probable of receipt, they are
reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as Accounts and Notes Receivable and Other

Assets.

For the year ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, the parent recognized $2 million and $7
million, respectively, for environmental matters related to sites currently and/or previously
owned by the company for which the parent and the company have joint and several
liability. Related to these sites, the parent also recognized provisions for legal matters in the
amount of $70 million in 2002 (no provisions made in 2003).

West Chicago, lliinois

In 1973, the company closed a facility in West Chicago, lllinois, that processed thorium
ores for the federal government and for certain commercial purposes. Historical operations
had resuited in low-level radioactive contamination at the facility and in surrounding areas.
The original processing facility is regulated by the State of liinois (the State), and four
vicinity areas are designated as Superfund sites on the National Priorities List (NPL).

Closed Facility — Pursuant to agreements reached in 1994 and 1997 among the company,
the City of West Chicago (the City) and the State regarding the decommissioning of the
closed West Chicago facility, the company has substantially completed the excavation of
contaminated soils and has shipped the buik of those soils to a licensed disposal facility.
Removal of the remaining materials is expected to be substantially completed by the end of
2004, leaving principally surface restoration and groundwater monitoring and/or
remediation for subsequent years. Surface restoration is expected to be completed in
2004, except for areas designated for use in connection with the Kress Creek and Sewage
Treatment Plant remediation discussed below. The long-term scope, duration and cost of
groundwater monitoring and/or remediation are uncertain because it is not possible to
reliably predict how groundwater conditions have been affected by the excavation and
removal work.

Vicinity Areas — The Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has listed four areas in the
vicinity of the closed West Chicago facility on the NPL and has designated the company as
a Potentially Responsibie Party (PRP) in these four areas. The company has substantially
completed remedial work for two of the areas (known as the Residential Areas and Reed-
Keppler Park). The other two NPL sites, known as Kress Creek and the Sewage
Treatment Plant, are contiguous and involve low levels of insoluble thorium residues,
principally in stream banks and streambed sediments, virtually all within a floodway. The
company has reached an agreement in principle with the appropriate federal and state
agencies and local communities regarding the characterization and cleanup of the sites,
past and future government response costs, and the waiver of natural resource damage
claims. The agreement in principle is expected to be incorporated in a consent decree,
which must be agreed to by the appropriate federal and state agencies and local
communities and then entered by a federal court. Court approval is expected in 2004. The
company has already conducted an extensive characterization of Kress Creek and the
Sewage Treatment Plant and, at the request of EPA, is conducting limited additional
characterization that is expected to be completed in 2004. The cleanup work, which is
expected to take about four years to complete following entry of the consent decree, will
require excavation of contaminated soils and stream sediments, shipment of excavated
materials to a licensed disposal facility and restoration of affected areas.

Financial Reserves — As of December 31, 2003, the company had remaining reserves of
$96 million for costs related to West Chicago. This inciudes $19 million added to the
reserve in 2003 because of an increase in soil volumes experienced at the Closed Facility
and related post-cleanup demolition, city infrastructure replacement, and additional support
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and oversight costs. Although actual costs may exceed current estimates, the amount of
any increases cannot be reasonably estimated at this time. The amount of the reserve is
not reduced by reimbursements expected from the federal government under Title X of the
Energy Policy Act of 1992 (Title X) (discussed below).

Government Reimbursement — Pursuant to Title X, the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE)
is obligated to reimburse the company for certain decommissioning and cleanup costs
incurred in connection with the West Chicago sites in recognition of the fact that about 55%
of the facility's production was dedicated to U.S. government contracts. The amount
authorized for reimbursement under Title X is $365 million plus inflation adjustments. That
amount is expected to cover the government's full share of West Chicago cleanup costs.
Through December 31, 2003, the company had been reimbursed approximately $171
million under Titte X. In March 2004, Chemical received an additional reimbursement of
$44 million, bringing the total reimbursement received to date to about $215 million.

Reimbursements under Title X are provided by congressional appropriations. Historically,
congressional appropriations have lagged the company's cleanup expenditures. As of
December 31, 2003, the government’s share of costs incurred by the company but not yet
reimbursed by the DOE totaled approximately $109 million, which was reduced to $65
million in March 2004 following receipt of the additional reimbursement of $44 million. The
company believes receipt of the remaining arrearage in due course following additional
congressional appropriations is probable and has reflected the arrearage as a receivable in
the financial statements. The company will recognize recovery of the government’s share
of future remediation costs for the West Chicago sites as costs are incurred.

Henderson, Nevada

in 1998, the company decided to exit the ammonium perchiorate business. At that time, it
curtailed operations and began preparation for the shutdown of the associated production
facilities in Henderson, Nevada, that produced ammonium perchlorate and other related
products. Manufacture of perchlorate compounds began at Henderson in 1945 in facilities
owned by the U.S. government. The U.S. Navy expanded production significantly in 1953
when it completed construction-of a plant for the manufacture of ammonium perchlorate.
The Navy continued to own the ammonium perchiorate plant as well as other associated
production equipment at Henderson until 1962, when the plant was purchased by a
predecessor of the company. The ammonium perchlorate produced at the Henderson
facility was used primarily in federal government defense and space programs. Perchlorate
has been detected in nearby Lake Mead and the Colorado River.

The company began decommissioning the facility and remediating associated perchlorate
contamination, including surface impoundments and groundwater when it decided to exit
the business in 1998. In 1999 and 2001, the company entered into consent orders with the
Nevada Division of Environmental Protection that require the company to implement both
interim and long-term remedial measures to capture and remove perchlorate from

groundwater.

in 1999, the company initiated the interim measures required by the consent orders. in
June 2003, construction began on a long-term remediation system. Itis anticipated that
this system will be operational in early 2004. The scope and duration of groundwater
remediation will be driven in the long term by drinking water standards, which to date have
not been formally established by state or federal regulatory authorities. EPA and other
federal and state agencies currently are evaluating the health and environmental risks

-15-
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associated with perchlorate as part of the process for ultimately setting a drinking water
standard. The resolution of these issues could materially affect the scope, duration and
cost of the long-term groundwater remediation that the company is required to perform.

Financial Reserves — In 2003, the company added $32 million to its reserves for
groundwater remediation at Henderson for the construction and operation of the long-term
remediation system and the continued operation of the interim system during the
construction and startup period for the long-term system. Remaining reserves for
Henderson totaled $23 million as of December 31, 2003. As noted above, the long-term
scope, duration and cost of groundwater remediation are uncertain and, therefore,
additional costs may be incurred in the future. However, the amount of any additional costs
cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.

Government Litigation - In 2000, the company initiated litigation against the United States
seeking contribution for response costs. The suit is based on the fact that the government
owned the plant in the early years of its operation, exercised significant control over
production at the plant and the sale of products produced at the plant, and was the largest
consumer of products produced at the plant. The litigation is in the discovery stage.
Although the outcome of the litigation is uncertain, the company believes it is likely to
recover a portion of its costs from the government. The amount and timing of any recovery
cannot be estimated at this time and, accordingly, the company has not recorded a
receivable or otherwise reflected in the financial statements any potential recovery from the
government.

insurance — In 2001, the company purchased a 10-year, $100 million environmental cost
cap insurance policy for groundwater and other remediation at Henderson. The insurance
policy provides coverage only after the company exhausts a self-insured retention of
approximately $61 million and covers only those costs incurred to achieve a cleanup level
specified in the policy. As noted above, federal and state agencies have not established a
drinking water standard and, therefore, it is possible that the company may be required to
achieve a cleanup level more stringent than that covered by the policy. If so, the amount
recoverable under the policy could be affected. Through December 31, 2003, the company
has incurred expenditures of about $59 million that it believes can be applied to the self-
insured retention. The company believes that the remaining reserve of $23 million at
December 31, 2003, also will qualify under the insurance policy, which would exhaust the
self-insured retention and leave- about $21 million for recovery under the policy. The
company believes that reimbursement of the $21 million under the insurance policy is
probable and, accordingly, the company has recorded a $21 million receivable in the
financial statements. The company expects to be reimbursed for this by the end of 2007.

Milwaukee, Wisconsin

In 1976, the company closed a wood-treatment facility it had operated in Milwaukee,
Wisconsin. Operations at the facility prior to its closure had resulted in the contamination of
soil and groundwater at and around the site with creosote and other substances used in the
wood-treatment process. In 1984, EPA designated the Milwaukee wood-treatment facility
as a Superfund site under CERCLA, listed the site on the NPL and named the company a
PRP. The company executed a consent decree in 1991 that required it to perform soil and
groundwater remediation at and below the former wood-treatment area and to address a
tributary creek of the Menominee River that had become contaminated as a result of the
wood-treatment operations. Actual remedial activities were deferred until after the decree
was finally entered in 1996 by a federal court in Milwaukee.

Groundwater treatment was initiated in 1996 to remediate groundwater contamination
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below and in the vicinity of the former wood-treatment area. It is not possible to reliably

+ predict how groundwater conditions will be affected by the ongoing soil remediation and

groundwater treatment; therefore, it is not known how long groundwater treatment will
continue. Soil cleanup of the former wood-treatment area began in 2000 and was
completed in 2002. Also in 2002, terms for addressing the tributary creek were agreed
upon with EPA, after which the company began the implementation of a remedy to reroute
the creek and to remediate associated sediment and stream bank soils, which is expected
to take about four more years.

As of December 31, 2003, the company had remaining reserves of $11 million for the costs
of the remediation work described above. Although actual costs may exceed current
estimates, the amount of any increases cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.

Mobile, Alabama

In June 2003, the company ceased operations at its facility in Mobile, Alabama, which it had
used to produce feedstock for its titanium dioxide plants. Operations prior to closure had
resulted in minor contamination of the groundwater adjacent to surface impoundments. A
groundwater recovery system was installed prior to closure and continues in operation as
required under the company's National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES)
permit. Future remediation work, including groundwater recovery, closure of the
impoundments and other minor work, is expected to be substantially completed in about
five years. Reserves of $11 million were provided for the remediation in 2003 and remain
outstanding as of December 31, 2003. Although actual costs may exceed current
estimates, the amount of any increases cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.

New Jersey Wood-Treatment Site

In 1999, EPA notified the company and the parent that they were potentially responsible
parties at a former wood-treatment site in New Jersey that has been listed by EPA as a
Superfund site. At that time, the company knew little about the site as neither it nor the
parent had ever owned or operated the site. A predecessor of the company had been the
sole stockholder of a company that owned and operated the site. The company that owned
the site already had been dissolved and the site had been sold to a third party before the
company became affiliated with the former stockholder in 1964. EPA has preliminarily
estimated that cleanup costs may reach $120 million or more.

There are substantial uncertainties about the company’s responsibility for the site, and it is
evaluating possible defenses to any claim by EPA for response costs. EPA has not
articulated the factual and legal basis on which EPA notified the company and the parent
that they are potentially responsible parties. The EPA notification may be based on a
successor liability theory premised on the 1964 transaction pursuant to which the company
became affiliated with the former stockholder of the company that had owned and operated
the site. Based on available historical records, it is uncertain whether and, if so, under what
terms, the former stockholder assumed liabilities of the dissolved company. Moreover, as
noted above, the site had been sold to a third party and the seller that owned and operated
the site had been dissolved before the company became affiliated with the seller's
stockholder. In addition, there appear to be other potentially responsible parties, though it
is not known whether the other parties have received notification from EPA. EPA has not
ordered the company or the parent to perform work at the site and is instead performing the
work itself. The company has not recorded a reserve for the site as it is not possible to
reliably estimate whatever liability the company or the parent may have for the cleanup
because of the aforementioned uncertainties and the existence of other potentially
responsible parties.
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Forest Products Litigation

Between 1999 and 2001, the company and the parent were named in 22 lawsuits in three
states (Mississippi, Louisiana and Pennsyivania) in connection with present and former
forest products operations located in those states (in Columbus, Mississippi; Bossier City,
Louisiana; and Avoca, Pennsylvania). The lawsuits sought recovery under a variety of
common law and statutory legal theories for personal injuries and property damages
allegedly caused by exposure to and/or release of creosote and other substances used in
the wood-treatment process.

Having earlier set a reserve of $70 million for liabilities associated with these matters, the
company executed settlement agreements, which are expected to resolve substantially all
of the Louisiana, Pennsylvania and Columbus, Mississippi, lawsuits described above.
About 90% of approximately 10,400 identified claimants and about 2,500 class members
pursuant to a class action settlement have released the company and the parent from
liability related to the former forest products operations in exchange for settiement
payments totaling approximately $66 million (leaving approximately $4 million in the
reserve). Accordingly most of the suits have been, or are expected to be, dismissed. The
settlements do not resolve two of the Columbus, Mississippi, lawsuits, which together
involve 27 plaintiffs. The settlements also do not resolve the claims of plaintiffs who did not
sign releases, class members who opted out of the class settlement, or class members
whose claims may arise in the future for currently unmanifested personal injuries.

The company and its affiliates believe that lawsuits and claims not resolved pursuant to the
settlements described above are without substantial merit, and the company and its
affiliates are vigorously defending against them. However, there is no assurance that the
company will not be required to adjust the reserve in the future in light of the uncertainties
of litigation. The company believes that the resolution of the claims that remain outstanding
with respect to forest products operations in Columbus, Mississippi; Bossier City, Louisiana;
and Avoca, Pennsylvania, will not have a material adverse effect on the company.

Following the adoption by the Mississippi legislature of tort reform, plaintiffs’ lawyers filed
many new lawsuits across the state of Mississippi in advance of the reform’s effective date.
On December 31, 2002, approximately 245 lawsuits were filed against the company and its
affiliates on behalf of approximately 4,600 claimants in connection with its Columbus,
Mississippi, operations, seeking recovery on legal theories substantially similar to those
advanced in the litigation described above. Substantially all of these lawsuits have been
removed to the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Mississippi, and the company
is seeking to consolidate these lawsuits for-pretrial and discovery purposes. The company
and its affiliates believe the lawsuits are without substantial merit and are vigorously
defending against them. The company has not provided a reserve for the lawsuits because
it cannot reasonably determine the probability of a loss, and the amount of loss, if any,

cannot be reasonably estimated.

On December 31, 2002, and June 13, 2003, two lawsuits were filed against the company in
connection with a former wood-treatment plant located in Hattiesburg, Mississippi, and the
plaintiffs’ lawyers also have asserted similar claims on behalf of other persons not named in
the lawsuits. The lawsuits and other claims seek recovery on legal theories substantially
similar to those advanced in the litigation described above. The company resolved the
majority of these claims pursuant to a settlement reached in April 2003, which has resulted
in aggregate payments by the company of approximately $0.6 million. The company and its
affiliates believe that claims not resolved pursuant to the Hattiesburg settlements are
without substantial merit and are vigorously defending against such claims.

The company believes that the resolution of the claims that remain outstanding with respect
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to the follow-on litigation will not have a material adverse effect on the company's financial
condition or results of operations.

Other Matters

The company and/or its subsidiaries are parties to a number of legal and administrative
proceedings involving environmental and/or other matters pending in various courts or
agencies. These include proceedings associated with facilities currently or previously
owned, operated or used by the company, its subsidiaries and/or their predecessors, some
of which include claims for personal injuries and property damages. Current and former
operations of the company and/or its subsidiaries also involve management of regulated
materials and are subject to various environmental laws and regulations. These laws and
regulations will obligate the company, and/or its subsidiaries, and/or the parent to clean up
various sites at which chemicals, low-level radioactive substances and/or other materials
have been disposed of or released. Some of these sites have been designated Superfund
sites by EPA pursuant to CERCLA. Similar environmental regulations exist in foreign
countries in which the company and/or its subsidiaries operate.

The company provides for costs related to contingencies when a loss is probable and the
amount is reasonably estimable. It is not possible for the company to reliably estimate the
amount and timing of all future expenditures related to environmental and legal matters and
other contingencies because, among other reasons:

o some sites are in the early stages of investigation, and other sites may be identified in
the future;

o remediation activities vary significantly in duration, scope and cost from site to site
depending on the mix of unique site characteristics, applicable technologies and
regulatory agencies involved;

e cleanup requirements are difficult to predict at sites where remedial investigations have
not been completed or final decisions have not been made regarding cleanup
requirements, technologies or other factors that bear on cleanup costs;

e environmental laws frequently impose joint and several liability on all potentially
responsible parties, and it can be difficult to determine the number and financial
condition of other potentially responsible parties and their respective shares of
responsibility for cleanup costs;

e environmental laws and regulations, as well as enforcement policies, are continually
changing, and the outcome of court proceedings and discussions with regulatory
agencies are inherently uncertain;

e some legal matters are in the early stages of investigation or proceeding or their
outcomes otherwise may be difficult to predict, and other legal matters may be identified

in the future;

¢ unanticipated construction problems and weather conditions can hinder the completion
of environmental remediation;

¢ the inability to implement a planned engineering design or use planned technologies and
excavation methods may require revisions to the design of remediation measures,
which delay remediation and increase costs; and

o The identification of additional areas or volumes of contamination and changes in costs
of labor, equipment and technology generate corresponding changes in environmental
remediation costs.
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10.

As of December 31, 2003, the company had reserves totaling $174 million for cleaning up
and remediating environmental sites, reflecting the reasonably estimable costs for
addressing these sites and the parent had additional reserves totaling $8 million for which it
assumed the primary obligation from the company in matters involving joint and several
liability. Additionally, as of December 31, 2003, the company and/or the parent had
litigation reserves totaling approximately $6 million for the reasonably estimable losses
associated with litigation all of which has been reflected as an obligation of the parent.
Management believes, after consultation with general counsel that currently the company
and the parent has reserved adequately for the reasonably estimable costs of
environmental matters and other contingencies. However, additions to the reserves may
be required as additional information is obtained that enables the company to better
estimate its liabilities, including liabilities at sites now under review, though the company
cannot now reliably estimate the amount of future additions to the reserves.

INCOME TAXES

The provision (benefit) for income taxes on income before change in accounting for 2003
and 2002 is summarized below (thousands of dollars):

2003 2002
Taxable Entities
U.S. Federal:
Current $ (19619 $  (15,826)
Deferred 6,224 5,675
(13,395) (10,151)
International:
Current 9,175 8,343
Deferred (13,990) (1,153)
(4,815 7,190
Total Taxable Entities (18,210) (2,961)
Nontaxable (disregarded) entity income tax
expense (benefit) allocation from Kerr-McGee (37,032) 738
Total Income Tax Benefit: . § (85242 $ (2,223)

Undistributed earnings of KMWA totaled $72 million at December 31, 2003. No provision
for deferred U.S. income taxes has been made for these earnings because they are
considered to be indefinitely invested outside the U.S. The distribution of these earnings in
the form of dividends or otherwise, may subject the company to U.S. income taxes.
However, because of the complexities of U.S. taxation of foreign earnings, it is not
practicable to estimate the amount of additional tax that might be payable on the eventual
remittance of these earnings.

The net deferred tax liability, classified as Deferred Credits and Reserves - Income taxes in
the Consolidated Balance Sheet, represents the net deferred taxes related solely to the
taxable operations of KMHI and KMWA. Deferred tax assets or liabilities are composed of
the following at December 31, 2003 and 2002 (thousands of dollars):
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2003 2002

Deferred tax assets

AMT credit carry forward [1] $ - $ 11472
Other 6,066 ' -
6,066 11,472

Deferred tax liabilities
Accelerated depreciation 56,983 60,057
Intangible Assets 11,686 11,697
Derivatives 4,038 -
Other 17,233 314
89,940 72,068
Deferred income taxes, net $ 838714 $ 605%

[1] AMT credit transferred io KMIC in 2003 for consideration equal to the carrying amount.

DEFERRED CREDITS AND RESERVES

Included in deferred credits and reserves are reserves of $123 million and $128 million at
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, established for remediation and restoration of
active and inactive sites where it is probable that future costs will be incurred and the

liability is estimable (see Note 9).

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND DERIVATIVE ACTIVITIES

Financial Instruments

The company holds or issues financial instruments for other than trading purposes,
including the following at December 31, 2003 and 2002: cash, accounts and notes
receivable, accounts and notes receivable from Kerr-McGee and affiliates, accounts
payable, accrued liabilities, contracts to purchase foreign currencies and note payable to
affiliate. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the carrying amounts of all financial instruments,
as reflected in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet, approximates their
estimated fair values. The carrying amount of the company’s accounts and notes
receivable from Kerr-McGee and affiliates and note payable to affiliate approximates fair
value based on the current rates for. similar termed instruments. The fair value of foreign
currency forward contracts represents the aggregate fair value based on financial
institutions’ quotes. The carrying amounts of all other financial instruments approximate a
fair value due to the nature or short maturities of such items.

Derivatives

From time to time, the company enters into forward contracts to buy and sell foreign
currencies. Certain of these contracts (purchases of Australian dollars) have been
designated and have qualified as cash flow hedges of the company’s anticipated capital
and operating costs. These forward contracts generally have durations of less than three
years. The resulting changes in fair value of these contracts are recorded in accumulated
other comprehensive income. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the company had an after-

-tax gain of $9.9 million and a loss of $0.9 million, respectively, in accumulated other

comprehensive income related to these forward contracts. The amounts will be recognized
in earnings in the periods during which the hedged forecasted transactions affect earnings
(i.e., when the operating costs are paid). In 2003 and 2002, the company reclassified $10.1
million of gains and $5.4 million of losses, respectively, on forward contracts from
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accumulated other comprehensive income to operating expenses in the Consolidated
Statement of Income. Of the existing unrealized net gains at December 31, 2003,
approximately $13.8 million in gains will be reclassified into earnings during the next 12
months, assuming no further changes in fair value of the contracts. No hedges were
discontinued during 2003, and no ineffectiveness was recognized.

OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSE

Other expense was as follows during the year ended December 31 » 2003 and 2002
(thousands of dollars):

2003 2002
Interest expense, net $ (8,095) $  (10,586)
Gain (Loss) on foreign currency exchar (3,868) 454
Loss on sale of assets (2,975) (3,540)
Legal and other (5,423) (1,588)
Total: $  (20,361) $ _ (15,260)

POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

Kerr-McGee sponsors contributory plans to provide certain health care and life insurance
benefits for retired employees. Substantially all the company's employees may become
eligible for these benefits if they reach retirement age while working for the company;
however, benefits available and costs to individual employees vary depending on the
employee’s date of retirement and date of employment with the company.

The expense allocated to the company and recognized for postretirement health care and
life insurance benefits was $12.0 million for 2003 and $10.1 million for 2002. Kerr-McGee
recognizes the future benefit obligation related to these plans and no liability is reflected in

these financial statements.

RETIREMENT PLANS

Most employees of the company are covered under Kerr-McGee's noncontributory defined
benefit retirement plan. The benefits of this plan are based primarily on years of service
and employees’ remuneration near retirement. Kerr-McGee Corporation’s policy is to fund
the minimum amounts as permitted by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of
1974. Kerr-McGee Corporation makes all contributions to the retirement plan trust. Also,
Kerr-McGee sponsors supplemental retirement plans to provide employees with benefits
provided for by the plans, but in excess of the limits under the Federal tax law. Related to
these plans, the company recognized net pension credits of $15.9 million for 2003 offset by
$23.7 million for one-time charges related to curtailment and special termination benefits
related to closure of Forest Products and Mobile plants and Work Force Reduction program
compared to net pension credits of $20.5 million for 2002. The future benefit obligation
associated with these plans is recognized by Kerr-McGee and, thus, it has not been
reflected in the accompanying financial statements.

Most employees of the company are covered under Kerr-McGee's Employee Stock
Ownership Plan (ESOP). Kerr-McGee's matching contributions for the employees’
contributions to the Kerr-McGee Corporation Savings Investment Plan (SIP) are paid into
the ESOP as well as matching contributions for the Kerr-McGee Pigments (Savannah) Inc.,
Employees’ Savings Plan, a savings plan for the bargaining-unit employees at the
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company’s Savannah, Georgia, pigment plant (Savannah Plan). Although the ESOP, SIP
and Savannah Plan are separate plans, matching contributions to the ESOP are contingent
upon participants’ contributions to the SIP or Savannah Plan. The company recognized
compensation expense related to the ESOP plan of $10.5 million and $4.1 million in 2003
and 2002, respectively.

COMMITMENTS

The company utilizes leased properties, principally railroad cars and storage facilities at
various locations. Net lease rentals expensed was $11.8 million in 2003 and $12.4 million
in 2002, including month-to-month rentals. The aggregate minimum annual rentals under
noncancelable leases in effect on December 31, 2003 totaled $18.7 million of which $3.7
million is due in 2004, $4 million in 2005, $1.6 million in 2006, $1.3 million in 2007, $1.1
million in 2008, and $7 million thereafter.

In the normal course of business, the company enters into contractual agreements to
purchase raw materials, utilities and other services. Aggregate future payments under
these contracts total $653 million, of which $ 205 million is expected to be paid in 2004,
$289 million between 2005 and 2006, $114 million between 2007 and 2008, and $45 million
thereafter.
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enSearch - Agency Interest Details

http://opcweb/ensearch/agency_interest_details.aspx?ai=1696

enSearch

home login

Tronox LLC, Columbus

MASTERFILE

RELATED

STATUS

ATTACHMENTS

TASKS

ID |Branch SIC |County |Basin Start End

1696 [Timber and Wood Products 2491 |[Lowndes [Tombigbee River [10/27/1992

Physical Address (Primary) Mailing Address -

2300 14th Avenue North PO Box 268859

Columbus, MS 39701 Oklahoma City, OK 731268859

Telecom Type Address or Phone

Work Phone Number (405) 775-5168 (Oklahoma City Office)

Work fax number (405) 775-6562

Alt ID Alt Name Alt Type Start End

AIr-AlIRS AFS (MDEQ

2808700020 [Tronox LLC, Columbus USE ONLY) 10/12/2000

168000020  [<orr McGee Chemical —ly 6 gtryiction 06/12/1998
Corporation, Columbus

168000020 & McGee Chemical - Air-Synthetic Minor |0 /na/199706/01/2002
Corporation, Columbus Operating

168000020 Kerr Mc(?‘ee Chemical A/r-Syqthet/c Minor 06/12/199806/01/2002
Corporation, Columbus Operating

1696 001 Kerr Mcgee, Columbus GARD 08/01/1980)
Kerr McGee Chemical .

MSR220010 Corporation, Columbus GP-Wood Treating 10/27/199207/13/1997)
Kerr McGee Chemical Hazardous Waste-EPA

MSD990866329 Corporation, Columbus D 10/12/2000

MSD990866329 1" MoGee Chemical 1, ious waste-TSD  |06/11/2001j04/12/2006
Corporation, Columbus

MSD990866329[Tronox LLC, Columbus Hazardous Waste-TSD [04/13/2006/05/31/2011

1696 Kerr McGee Chemical i toric Site Name 10/27/199204/10/2006
Corporation

1696 Tronox, LLC Official Site Name 04/10/2006)

MsPogooz1 o MoGee Chemical o protroatment  |10r11/199410/10/1999
Corporation, Columbus

MsPogooz1 [ MoGee Chemical —\y o pretroatment  |08/23/200007/31/2005
Corporation, Columbus

10of2

10/5/2010 8:08 AM
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http://opcweb/ensearch/agency_interest_detai Is.aspx?ai=169

MSPogooz1 Ko McGee Chemical & ot 10/31/200‘5‘04/12/2006
Corporation, Columbus

MSP090021  |Tronox LLC, Columbus Water - Pretreatment  |04/1 3/200609/30/201

Program SubProgram Start Date [End Date

Air NSPS Subpart Dc 09/12/199006/01/2002

Air SM 06/06/1997/06/01/2002
Large Quantit

Hazardous Waste Gegerator y 04/01/1997]

Hazardous Waste TSD - Not Classified  [06/11/2001

Water PT CIU 10/11/199409/01/2003
PT CIU - Timber

Water Products Processing |10/11/199409/01/2003
(Subpart 429)

Water PT NCS 09/01/2003

Water PT SIU 10/11/199

Latitude Longitude [Metadata S/T/R Map Links

33°30'38 88°24'34 [Point Desc: PG - Plant entrance _ [Section: MGIS

.51 .02 (General) Data collected by Louis  [Township:

(033.510697) ((088.409450) |Crawford on 7/11/00. PG - Plant Range: Google Maps

Entrance (General) Data collected

by Clift Jeter on 6/13/02. LAT 33deg
30min 36.6sec LON 88deg 24min
35.1sec

Method: GPS Code (Psuedo
Range) Differential

Datum: NADS3

Type: MDEQ

‘MagQuest

10/5/2010 8:07:01 AM
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To Kerr-McGee Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of KERR-McGEE CHEMICAL
LLC (a Delaware single member limited liability company and a wholly owned subsidiary of Kerr-
McGee Operating Corporation) and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 and the
related consolidated statements of income and member's undistributed earnings and cash flows
for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on

our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Kerr-McGee Chemical LLC and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001
and 2000, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

Oklahoma City, Oklahoma,
March 22, 2002



KERR-McGEE CHEMICAL LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

DECEMBER 31, 2001 AND 2000
(Thousands of Dollars)

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash
Accounts and notes receivable
Receivable from parent for income taxes
Inventories
Deposits and prepaid expenses
Total Current Assets

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS
Investment in Kerr-McGee Investment Corporation
Other
Total Investments and Other Assets

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Plants
Land
Other

Less - Reserves for depreciation and amortization
Total Property, Plant and Equipment

DEFERRED CHARGES
Total Assets
LIABILITIES AND MEMBER'S EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Tatal Current Liabilities

LONG-TERM DEBT
Note payable to affiliate
Advances from parent and affiliates

DEFERRED CREDITS AND RESERVES
Income taxes
Other

MEMBER'S EQUITY
Member’s investment
Undistributed earnings

Total Member’s Equity

Total Liabilities and Member’s Equity

2001 2000
$ 10,095 $ 5713
50,170 72,052
27,537 1,769
235,666 200,359
10,681 10,618
334,149 290,511
- 134,508
65,762 26.316
65,762 160,824
1,131,208 1,042,374
34,204 35,919
141,243 134,364
1,306,655 1,212,657
651,507 563,117
655,148 649,540
- 2,685
$1.056,050  $1.103.560
$ 58,656 $ 66,621
40,089 28,049
98,745 94,670
221,000 221,000
68,161 66,277
289,161 287277
34,816 34,789
40,950 73,900
75,766 108,689
367,875 367,875
223,512 245,049
591,387 612,924
$1.056,059  $1.103.560

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this balance sheet.



KERR-McGEE CHEMICAL LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND MEMBER’S UNDISTRIBUTED EARNINGS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001 AND 2000
(Thousands of Dollars)

2001 2000
SALES $706,593 $773.853
COSTS AND EXPENSES
Costs and operating expenses 537,145 518,819
Selling, general and administrative expenses 65,108 75,524
Shipping and handling expenses 23,200 23,068
Depreciation and amortization 82,548 60,005
Asset impairment 14,802 -
Taxes, other than income taxes 14,178 12,659
Purchased in-process research and development - 32,500
Total Costs and Expenses 736,981 722,575
(30,388) 51,278
OTHER EXPENSE (28,365) (6,501)
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES (58,753) 44,777
INCOME TAX PROVISION (BENEFIT) 15,924) __ 2326
NET INCOME (LOSS) (42,829) 42,451
MEMBER'S UNDISTRIBUTED EARNINGS
BEGINNING OF YEAR 245,049 228,612
DISTRIBUTION FROM (TO) PARENT FOR
INCOME TAXES 21,292 (26.014)
MEMBER'S UNDISTRIBUTED EARNINGS
END OF YEAR $223.512 $245.049

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.



KERR-McGEE CHEMICAL LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001 AND 2000
(Thousands of Dollars)

2001 2000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss) $(42,829) $ 42,451
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash
provided by operating activities -

Depreciation and amortization 82,548 60,005
Asset impairment 14,802 -
Deferred income taxes 27 7,389
(Gain) loss on sale of assets 3,842 (10,730)
Purchased in-process research and development - 32,500
Noncash items affecting net income

Environmental provision 7,744 17,906

Other . 12,974 7,171

Changes in current assets and liabilities and other,
net of effects of operations acquired -

Decrease in accounts receivable 16,146 54,832
Increase in receivable for income taxes (10,929) (4,187)
Increase in inventories (35,307) (3,975)
(Increase) decrease in deposits and prepaids (63) 524
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (632) (21,931)
Other (38,208) 4,575
Net cash provided by operating activities | 10,215 186,530
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditures (106,399) (80,693)
Acquisition of Kerr-McGee Holdings, Inc. - (286,982)
Proceeds from sale of assets 1,973 23,895
Decrease in long-term investments 6,075 7,775
Increase in long-term investments (50,327) (5,527)
Net cash used in investing activities (148.678) (341.532)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Distribution from (to) parent for income taxes 6,453 (34,351)
Advances from parent and affiliates 136,392 188,917
Net cash provided by financing activities 142,845 154,566
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS 4,382 (436)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 5713 6,149
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR $ 10,095 $ 5713

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.



KERR-McGEE CHEMICAL LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Kerr-McGee
Chemical LLC (the company), a Delaware single member limited liability company that is
wholly owned by Kerr-McGee Operating Corporation (the parent), and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, Kerr-McGee Holdings, Inc., a Delaware Corporation, which was acquired in
2000, and Kerr-McGee Stored Power Corporation, which was formed in 2001. The
ultimate parent of the company is Kerr-McGee Corporation.

The company’s investments in affiliated companies that are 20% to 50% owned are
carried as Investment and Other Assets — Other in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at
cost adjusted for equity in undistributed earnings. Except for dividends, changes in equity
in undistributed earnings are included in the Consolidated Statements of Income and
Member’s Undistributed Earnings. Investments in affiliated companies that are less than
20% owned are carried as Investments and Other Assets — Investment in Kerr-McGee
Investment Corporation in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at cost. Any dividends
received from this type of investment are included in Other Expense in the Consolidated
Statements of Income and Member's Undistributed Earnings. All material intercompany
transactions have been eliminated.

The company’s 2001 and 2000 comprehensive income was equal to its net income for the
year.

Cash Equivalents

The company considers all investments with a maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents.

Receivable Sales

Under a credit-insurance-backed asset securitization program, the company sells
selected pigment customers' accounts receivable to a special-purpose entity (SPE). The
company does not own any of the SPE's common stock. When the receivables are sold,
the company retains interests in the securitized receivables for servicing and in
preference stock of the SPE. The interest in the preference stock is essentially a deposit
to provide further credit enhancement to the securitization program, if needed, but
otherwise recoverable by the company at the end of the program. The recorded value of
the preference stock is adjusted with each sale to maintain its fair value. The servicing
fee is estimated by management to be adequate compensation and is equal to what
would otherwise be charged by an outside servicing agent. The company records the loss
associated with the receivable sales by comparing cash received and fair value of the
retained interests to the carrying amount of the receivables sold. The estimate of fair
value of the retained interests is based on the present value of future cash flows
discounted at rates estimated by management to be commensurate with the risks.
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Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. The cost of product inventories is
determined by the first-in, first-out method. Inventory carrying values include material
costs, labor and the associated indirect manufacturing expenses. Materials and supplies
are valued at average cost.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less reserves for depreciation and
amortization. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred, except that costs of
replacements or renewals that improve or extend the lives of existing properties are
capitalized.

The company evaluates impairments by asset group for which the lowest level of
independent cash flows can be identified. If the sum of these estimated future cash flows
(undiscounted and without interest charges) is less than the carrying amount of the
property, an impairment loss is recognized for the excess of the carrying amount over the
estimated fair value of the property.

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated or amortized over its estimated life by the
straight-line method. The cost and related depreciation and amortization reserves are
removed from the respective accounts upon retirement or sale of property, plant and
equipment. The resulting gain or loss is included in Other Expense in the Consolidated
Statements of Income and Member's Undistributed Earnings.

At December 31, 2001 and 2000, property, plant and equipment - other includes
$35,770,000 and $37,730,000, respectively, of intangible assets that are being amortized
over their estimated life by the straight-line method.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when title passes to the customer.

Interest Capitalized

The company capitalizes interest costs on major projects that require a considerable
length of time to complete. Interest capitalized in 2001 and 2000 was $3,107,000 and
$474,000, respectively.

Income Taxes

The company is a non-taxable entity and is treated as a division in Kerr-McGee
Corporation’s consolidated income tax return. The amount of income tax attributable to
the company’s stand-alone operations is recorded by the company as a Distribution to or
from Parent for Income Taxes in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income
and Member's Undistributed Earnings.

Kerr-McGee Holdings, Inc. and Kerr-McGee Stored Power Corporation are taxable
entities and the amount of income taxes attributable to their operations are recorded by
the company as Income Tax Provision (Benefit) in the accompanying Consolidated
Statements of Income and Member's Undistributed Earnings. Deferred income taxes
related to Kerr-McGee Holdings, Inc. and Kerr-McGee Stored Power Corporation are
provided to reflect the future tax consequences of differences between the tax basis of
assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements.
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The distribution and tax amounts for each of these entities are recorded as directed by
Kerr-McGee Corporation, but are generally calculated as though each entity filed a
separate tax return. Certain deductions or benefits generated by each entity’s operations
may be considered in the calculation that might not otherwise be available if each entity
was not part of a consolidated return.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs are charged against earnings as incurred. Such costs
totaled $3,909,000 in 2001 and $38,395,000 in 2000. Included in the 2000 costs is
$32,500,000 of in-process research and development purchased as part of the acquisition
of a titanium dioxide pigment operation in Savannah, Georgia (Note 8). Since these
research and development projects had no alternative future use to the company, the cost
was expensed at the date of acquisition.

Site Remediation and Restoration Costs

As sites of environmenta!l concern are identified, the company or the parent company
assesses the existing conditions, claims and assertions, generally related to former
operations, and records an estimated undiscounted liability when environmental
assessments and/or remedial efforts are probable and the associated costs can be
reasonably estimated.

Lease Commitments

The company utilizes leased properties, principally railroad cars and storage facilities at
various locations.” Net lease rentals expensed were $9,910,000 and $7,806,000 in 2001
and 2000, respectively. The aggregate minimum annual rentals under noncancelable
leases in effect on December 31, 2001, totaled $7,245,000 of which $2,665,000 is due in
2002, $2,298,000 in 2003, and $2,282,000 in the period 2004 through 2006.

Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs

All amounts billed to a customer in a sales transaction related to shipping and handling
represent revenues earned and are reported as revenue, and the costs incurred by the
company for shipping and handling are reported as expense.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates as additional information becomes known.

Reclassification

Certain reclassifications have been made in the December 31, 2000, financial statements
to conform to the classifications used in the December 31, 2001, financial statements.
Total assets and net income were not affected by the reclassifications.
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IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS AND LONG-LIVED ASSETS TO BE
DISPOSED OF

During 2001, the company ceased production at its manganese metal production facility
in Hamilton, Mississippi. Production was ceased due to low-priced imports and softening
prices which made the product no longer profitable. A $13,227,000 impairment loss was
recognized in 2001, which reduced the carrying value of the asset to nil. Also in 2001,
due to the loss of its only major customer, a wood-preserving plant in Indianapolis,
Indiana, was deemed to be impaired because the asset was no longer expected to
recover its net book value through future cash flows. A $1,575,000 impairment loss was
recognized in 2001, which reduced the carrying value of the asset to $684,000. Plant
operations will be suspended until the outcome of a viability assessment is completed.

Following are the sales and pretax income (thousands of dollars) included in the
Consolidated Statements of Income and Member's Undistributed Earnings for assets the
company decided to dispose of during 2001. The impairment losses are included in the
pretax income amounts for 2001. The company had no material assets held for disposal
at year end 2000.

2001 2000
Sales $25,749 $39,503
Pretax income (loss) (26,943) 317

TRANSACTIONS WITH PARENT AND AFFILIATES

The parent provides certain services to its subsidiaries that are billed to each subsidiary
generally based on usage. The total amount of such billings to the company for these
services was approximately $13,382,000 in 2001 and $16,452,000 in 2000. These
amounts are not necessarily the same as it might cost the company to obtain these
services from outside parties.

The company has entered into a borrowing agreement with an affiliated company. See
Note 9 for a discussion of this borrowing.

Other transactions with affiliates were for interest and income taxes. The company
recorded net interest expense totaling $5,838,000 in 2001 and $4,223,000 in 2000 for
interest on advances made to and received from Kerr-McGee Investment Corporation
(KMIC). The net interest expense is reflected in Other Expense in the Consolidated
Statements of Income and Member's Undistributed Earnings. Interest on the advances is
based on the Federal Short-Term Rate, which ranged from 2.5% to 5.8% in 2001 and
5.7% to 6.4% in 2000. The aggregate of these advances and other non-interest bearing
intercompany receivables or payables are carried in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as
Advances from parent and affiliates and do not include intercompany receivables or
payables related to income taxes.

CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Net cash provided by operating activities reflects cash payments to the parent or affiliates
for interest and income taxes as follows (thousands of dollars):

2001 2000
Interest paid $23,815 $27,008
Net income tax payments to parent - 29,358
Net income tax refunds received from parent (11,843) -
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ACCOUNTS AND NOTES RECEIVABLE

Summarized below are accounts and notes receivable, net of the related allowance for
doubtful accounts and notes, at December 31, 2001 and 2000 (thousands of dollars):

2001 _2000

Accounts receivable $52,809 $74,604
Notes receivable 207 189
53,016 74,793

Allowance for doubtful accounts and notes (2,846) (2,741)
Total $50,170 $72.052

In December 2000, the company began an accounts receivable monetization for its
pigment business through the sale of selected accounts receivable with a three-year,
credit-insurance-backed asset securitization program. The company retained servicing
responsibilities and subordinated interests and will receive a servicing fee of 1.07% of the
receivables sold for the period of time outstanding, generally 60 to 120 days. No recourse
obligations were recorded since the company has very limited obligations for any recourse
actions on the sold receivables. The collection of the receivables is insured, and only
receivables that qualify for credit insurance can be sold. A portion of the insurance is
reinsured by the parent's captive insurance company; however, the company believes that
the risk of insurance loss is very low since its bad debt experience has historically been
insignificant. The company also received preference stock in the SPE equal to 3.5% of
the receivables sold. This preference stock is essentially a retained deposit to provide
further credit enhancements, if needed.

During 2001, the company sold $407,133,000 of ils pigment receivables resulting in
pretax losses of $5,736,000. During 2000, the company sold $100,362,000 of the
receivables, resulting in pretax losses of $2,047,000. The losses are recorded in Other
Expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Member's Undistributed Earnings
and are equal to the difference in the book value of the receivables sold and the total of
cash and the fair value of the deposit retained by the SPE. At year-end 2001, the
outstanding balance on receivables sold totaled $53,899,000.

INVENTORIES

The major categories of inventories at December 31, 2001 and 2000, are as follows
(thousands of dollars):

2001 2000
industrial chemicals $180,049 $140,163
Forest products 12,492 13,775

192,541 163,938
Materials and supplies 43,125 46,421
Total $235,666 $200.359
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INVESTMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS

Investments and other assets consist of the following at December 31, 2001 and 2000
(thousands of dollars):

2001 —2000

Investment in Kerr-McGee Investment Corp. $ - $134,508
Investment in Avestor Limited Partnership 43,543 -
Investment in other equity affiliates 15,398 15,774
Advances to suppliers 3,599 4,548
Other 3,222 5,994
Total $65762  $160.824

During 2001, the company formed a subsidiary (Kerr-McGee Stored Power Corporation)
for the purpose of purchasing a 50% equity interest in the Avestor Limited Partnership,
formed to develop, produce and market a next-generation power cell for use in
telecommunications, utility peak shaving and electric vehicles. At year-end 2001, the
company transferred its investment in KMIC to the parent.

In October 2000, the company sold its 25% equity interest in the National Titanium
Dioxide Company Limited, a Saudi Arabian pigment operation. The gain on this sale was
$8,194,000, net of $5,396,000 for income taxes, and is included in Other Expense in the
Consolidated Statements of iIncome and Member's Undistributed Earnings.

ACQUISITIONS

During the second quarter of 2000, the company finalized an agreement with Kemira Oyj
of Finland to purchase its titanium dioxide pigment operation in Savannah, Georgia, for
$286,982,000. The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method of
accounting for business combinations. The Savannah pigment operating results have
been included in the company’s income statements beginning April 1, 2000. The
following table provides selected pro-forma unaudited information as if the operation had
been combined as of January 1, 2000 (thousands of dollars):

2000
(Unaudited)
Sales $831,666
Net Income 37,768

NOTE PAYABLE TO AFFILIATE

At both December 31, 2001 and 2000, a note payable to KMIC for $221,000,000 was
outstanding. The note is payable in full on December 31, 2005, and may be prepaid upon
notice in its entirety or multiples of $1,000,000. Interest on the note payable is based on
the prime rate as established by Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York, which
ranged from 6.0% to 9.5% in 2001 and 8.5% to 9.5% in 2000. Interest expense on the
note payable totaled $16,687,000 in 2001 and $20,171,000 in 2000, and is included in
Other Expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Member's Undistributed
Earnings.
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Iy 07 8, the company closod the focility nt West Chicago, lllinois, that processed thorium
o Mistoneal ppothtions had resulled in tow-level radioactive contamination at the
far iy nnd i o surrounding areas. In 1979, the company filed a plan with the Nuclear

Fegoamtory Geommugsion (NRC) to decommission the facility.  In 1990, the NRC
Jransteried joisdiction over the fociity to the State of lllinois (the State). Following is the
Curient status of vanous matters associated with the closed facility.

Cloned Facllity - In 1994, the company, the City of West Chicago (the City), and the
Stnte ruachied agreement on the initial phase of the decommissioning plan for the closed
Waout Chicago facility, and the company began shipping material from the site to a
itonsed permanent disposal facility.

In February 1997, the company executed an agreement with the City covering the terms
and conditions for completing the final phase of decommissioning work. The State has
indicated approval of this agreement and has issued license amendments authorizing
much of the work. The company expects most of the work to be completed within the
next two years, leaving principally only groundwater remediation and/or monitoring for
subsequent years.

in 1992, the State enacted legislation imposing an annual storage fee equal to $2 per
cubic foot of byproduct material located at the closed facility, which cannot exceed $26
million per year. Initially, all storage fee payments were reimbursed to the company as
decommissioning costs were incurred. The company was fully reimbursed for all storage
fees paid pursuant to this legislation. In June 1997, the legislation was amended to
provide that future storage fee obligations are to be pffset against decommissioning costs
incurred but not yet reimbursed.

Vicinity Areas - The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has listed four areas in
the vicinity of the closed West Chicago facility on the National Priority List promulgated by
EPA under authority of the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and
Liability Act of 1980 (CERCLA) and has designated the company as a potentially
responsible party in these four areas. The EPA issued unilateral administrative orders for
two of the areas (known as the residential areas and Reed-Keppler Park), which require
the company to conduct removal actions to excavate contaminated soils and ship the
soils elsewhere for disposal. Without waiving any of its rights or defenses, the company
is conducting the work required by the two orders. The company has completed the
required excavation and restoration work at the park site, and will be monitoring the site
pending final EPA approval. Work at the residential sites is expected to be completed in
2002.

The other two areas (known as the Sewage Treatment Plant and Kress Creek) currently
are being studied to determine the extent of contamination, and the company is in
discussions with the relevant authorities regarding cleanup requirements. The company
has indicated a willingness to undertake a cleanup of the final two sites subject to various
conditions, including the continued reimbursement of the government'’s share of costs for
cleaning up the West Chicago sites. If these conditions are met, the costs of cleanup for
these two sites is not expected to exceed the additional federal funding, as more fully
discussed below.

Government Reimbursement - Pursuant to Title X of the Energy Policy Act of 1992
(Title X), the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) is obligated to reimburse the company for
certain decommissioning and cleanup costs in recognition of the fact that much of the
facility’s production was dedicated to U.S. government contracts. Title X was amended in
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1998 to increase the amount authorized for reimbursement to $140 million plus inflation
adjustments.  Through December 31, 2001, the company has been reimbursed
approximately $146 million under Title X. These reimbursements are provided by
congressional appropriations.

Historically, congressional authorizations under Title X have lagged the company’s
cleanup expenditures. At December 31, 2001, the government’s share of costs already
incurred by the company but not yet reimbursed by DOE totaled approximately $95
million. In 2001, the United States House of Representatives passed a bill that would
bring the congressional authorizations current as well as authorize reimbursement for the
government's share of future costs. That bill currently is pending in the United States
Senate.

Other Matters

The company and/or its subsidiaries are parties to a number of legal and administrative
proceedings involving environmental and/or other matters pending in various courts or
agencies. These include proceedings associated with facilities currently or previously
owned, operated or used by the company, its subsidiaries and/or its predecessors, and
include claims for personal injuries and property damages. The company’s current and
former operations also involve management of regulated materials and are subject to
various environmental laws and regulations. These laws and regulations will obligate the
company and/or its subsidiaries to clean up various sites at which chemicals, low-level
radioactive substances and/or other materials have been disposed of or released. Some
of these sites have been designated Superfund sites by EPA pursuant to CERCLA.

The company provides for costs related to contingencies when a loss is probable and the
amount is reasonably estimable. It is not possible for the company to reliably estimate the
amount and timing of all future expenditures related to environmental and legal matters
and other contingencies because:

. some sites are in the early stages of investigation, and other sites may be
identified in the future;

e cleanup requirements are difficult to predict at sites where remedial investigations
have not been completed or final decisions have not been made regarding
cleanup requirements, technologies or other factors that bear on cleanup costs;

. environmental laws frequently impose joint and several liability on all potentially
responsible parties, and it can be difficult to determine the number and financial
condition of other potentially responsible parties and their share of responsibility

for cleanup costs;

. environmental laws and regulations are continually changing, and court
proceedings are inherently uncertain; and

o some legal matters are in the early stages of investigation or proceeding or their
outcomes otherwise may be difficult to predict, and other legal matters may be

identified in the future.

Although management believes that it has established adequate reserves for cleanup
costs and legal matters, due to these uncertainties the company could be required to

record additional reserves in the future.

As of December 31, 2001, the reasonably estimable costs for addressing the West
Chicago sites is believed to be $49 million. The parent and an affiliate have established
reserves based on these estimates. Management believes, after consultation with
general counsel, that currently the company has reserved adequately for the reasonably
estimable costs of contingencies. However, additions to the reserves may be required as
additional information is obtained that enables the company to better estimate its
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12.

liabilities, including liability at sites now under review, though the company cannot now
reliably estimate the amount of future additions to the reserves.

INCOME TAXES

The provision (benefit) for income taxes on income for 2001 and 2000 is summarized
below (thousands of dollars):

—2001 2000
U.S. Federal -
Current $(22,200) $(5,063)
Deferred 6,275 7.389
(15,925) 2,326
State 1 -
Total $(15,924) $ 2326

The net deferred tax liability, classified as Deferred Credits and Reserves - Income taxes
in the Consolidated Balance Sheet, represents the net deferred taxes for the company's
U.S. operations. The net deferred tax asset, classified as Investments and Other Assets -
Other in the Consolidated Balance Sheet, represents the net deferred taxes in certain
foreign jurisdictions. Deferred tax liabilities and assets are composed of the following at
December 31, 2001 and 2000 (thousands of dollars):

2001 2000
Net deferred tax liabilities -
Accelerated depreciation $48,720 $49,891
Postretirement benefits (3,043) (3,043)
AMT credit carryforward (12,000) (12,000)
Dismantlement, remediation, restoration
and other reserves (3,478) (3.672)
Other 4,617 3,613
34,816 34,789
Net deferred tax assets -
Foreign operating loss carryforward (2,163) -
Valuation allowance 2,163 -
Total $34.816 $34,789

At December 31, 2001, the company had foreign operating loss carryforwards totaling
$6,179,000 that expire in 2008. Realization of these operating loss carryforwards is
dependent on generating sufficient taxable income. Such realization was not considered
certain due to the start-up nature of the related operations and a valuation allowance has
been recognized for the entire related deferred tax asset.

DEFERRED CREDITS AND RESERVES - OTHER
Other deferred credits and reserves are composed primarily of reserves established for

remediation and restoration of active and inactive sites where it is probable that future
costs will be incurred and the liability is estimable.
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14.

15.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The company holds or issues financial instruments for other than trading purposcs Al
December 31, 2001 and 2000, the carrying amount and estimated fair value of such
financial instruments for which fair value can be determined are as follows (thousands of
dollars):

2001 2000
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value
Cash $ 10,095 §$ 10,095 $ 5,713 § 5713
Advances to suppliers 3,599 2,917 4,548 3.644
Advances from parent and affiliates 68,161 68,161 66,277 66,277
Note payable to affiliate 221,000 221,000 221,000 221,000

The carrying amount of cash is equal to the fair value as the company held no cash
equivalents at December 31, 2001 or 2000. The fair value of advances to suppliers is
based on discounted cash flows. The carrying amount of the company's advances from
parent and affiliates and note payable to affiliate approximates fair value based on the
current rates offered to the company for debt with the same remaining maturity.

It was not practicable to estimate the fair value of the Investment in Kerr-McGee
investment Corporation and the investment in Avestor Limited Partnership, as both are
untraded, closely held entities with no readily determinable fair value. These investments
are carried in Investments and Other Assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet (see Note

7).
OTHER EXPENSE

Other expense was as follows during the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000
(thousands of dollars):

2001 2000
Interest expense, net $(19,542) $(23,916)
income (loss) from unconsolidated affiliates (4,806) 6,698
Gain (loss) on sale of assets (3,842) 10,730
Other (175) (13)
Total $(28,365) $(6.501)

POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

The parent sponsors contributory plans to provide certain health care and life insurance
benefits for retired employees. Substantially all the company’s employees may become
eligible for these benefits if they reach retirement age while working for the company;
however, benefits available and costs to individual employees vary depending on the
employee's date of retirement and date of employment with the company.

The expense allocated to the company and recognized for postretirement heailth care and
life insurance benefits was $10,732,000 and $9,669,000 for 2001 and 2000, respectively.
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16.

17.

18.

RETIREMENT PLANS

Most employees of the company are covered under the parent's noncontributory detined
benefit retirement plan. The benefits of this plan are based primarily on years of service
and employees' remuneration near retirement. The parent's policy is to fund the minimum
amounts as permitted by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. The
parent makes all contributions to the retirement plan trust. The parent also sponsors
supplemental retirement plans to provide employees with benefits provided for by the
plans, but in excess of the limits under the Federal tax law. The company recognized ne:|
pension credits of $23,271,000 for 2001 and $20,093,000 in 2000 related to these plans

In addition to the parent's noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan, a subsidiary,
which was acquired in 2000 (Note 8), sponsored a retirement plan for its employees.
Effective January 1, 2001, this retirement plan with a benefit obligation of $29,959 was
merged into the parent’s plan.

ASSETS IN THE UNITED STATES

The company's assets at December 31, 2001 and 2000, are all related to U.S. operations
with the exception of an investment in an equity affiliate and an investment in KMIC. KMIC
is the parent of various foreign affiliates. As discussed in Note 7, the company purchased
the investment in the Avestor Limited Partnership in 2001, transferred the investment in
KMIC to the parent in 2001, and sold the investment in the National Titanium Dioxide
Company Limited in 2000. The company’s U.S. and foreign assets at December 31,
2001 and 2000, are as follows (thousands of dollars}):

2001 —2000

U.S. assets $1,011,516 $_969.052
Foreign assets

Investment in Avestor Limited Parternship 43,543 -

Investment in KMIC - 134,508

Total 43,543 134,508

Total Assets $1.055.059 $1,103.560

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

in June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (FAS) No. 141, "Business Combinations,” and FAS 142, "Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets." FAS 141 requires all business combinations initiated after
June 30, 2001, to be accounted for under the purchase method. The company will be
required to adopt FAS 142 at the beginning of 2002 for all other intangible assets
recognized in the company's statement of financial position as of January 1, 2002. This
statement changes the accounting for goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite
useful lives from an amortization method to an impairment approach. The company does
not believe that the adoption of these statements will have a material effect on its financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued FAS 143, "Accounting for
Asset Retirement Obligations.” FAS 143 requires asset retirement costs to be capitalized
as part of the cost of the related tangible long-lived asset and subsequently allocated to
expense using a systematic and rational method over the useful life of the asset. The
company will adopt the statement effective no later than January 1, 2003, as required.
The transition adjustment resulting from the adoption of FAS 143 will be reported as a
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cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle. At this time, the company cannot
reasonably estimate the effect of the adoption of this statement on its financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.

In August 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued FAS 144, "Accounting
for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” FAS 144 supersedes FAS 121,
"Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be
Disposed Of," and the portion of the Accounting Principle Board Opinion No. 30 that deals
with disposal of a business segment. The new standard resolves significant
implementation issues related to FAS 121, establishes a single accounting mode! for
long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale and is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2001. The company does not believe that the adoption of this statement
will have a material effect on its financial position, results of operations or cash flow.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Member
Tronox LLC

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Tronox LLC as of
December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
comprehensive income (loss) and member's equity and cash flows for the years then ended.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. OQur
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were
not engaged to perform an audit of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Our
audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Tronox LLC at December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States.
é/vmt ¥ MLLP

Oklahoma City, Oklahoma
March 31, 2006

A Member Practice of Ernst & Young Global




TRONOX LLC, A WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF TRONOX INCORPORATED
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

DECEMBER 31, 2005 AND 2004
(Thousands of Dollars)

ASSETS 2005 2004
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 32,601 $ 9,826
Accounts receivable, net of allowance
for doubtful accounts of $772 in 2005 and $650 in 2004 170,947 147,739
Accounts receivable from affliates 34,314 18,805
Notes receivable from afiliates 6,296 109,747
Invenfories 221,971 190,457
Prepaid and other assets 17,246 16,919
Derivatives - 2,646
Advances due from afiliates - 129,690
Assets held for sale - 3,350
Total Current Assets 483,375 629,179
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Plantand equipment 1,371,657 1,362,676
Land 58,995 49,027
Buildings 115,334 113,381
Other 61,644 37,926
1,607,630 1,563,010
Less - Reserves for depreciation and amortization 1,046,324 991,474
Total Property, Plantand Equipment ' 561,306 571,536
OTHER ASSETS 53,974 41,456
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 28,192 28,224
Total Assets $ 1,126,847 $ 1,270,395
LIABILITIES AND MEMBER'S EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 90,167 $ 75,426
Accrued liabilites 121,499 99,086
Total Current Liabilifes 211,666 174,512
NOTE PAYABLE TO AFFILIATE 267,659 221,000
PAYABLE TO AFFILIATE 1,706 62,814
DEFERRED CREDITS AND RESERVES
Deferred income taxes 55,572 52,963
Environmental remediation and / or resboration and other 152,631 120,629
Tofal Deferred Credits and Reserves 208,203 173,592
MEMBER'S EQUITY
Member's investment 493,882 493,882
Accurmulated other comprehensive income (1,031) 1,312
Undistributed earnings 143,587 143,283
Due from Tronox and its affiates (198,825) -
Total Member's Equity 437,613 638,477
Total Liabilifles and Member's Equity $ 1,126,847 $ 1,270,395

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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TRONOX LLC, AWHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF TRONOX INCORPORATED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005 AND 2004

(Thousands of Dollars)

Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross margin

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Restructuring charges

Provision for environmental remediation and restoration

Other expenses
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes
Income tax (provision) benefit
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes
Net income (loss)

2005

$ 910,711

722,315
188,396

71,801

16,900

99,695

(8.723)
90,972

(44.476)
46,49
34177

$ 12,319

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

2004

$ 863,271
749,932
113,339

65,383
112,949

2473

(67,966)

16473

(84,439)

46,285

(38,194)

(25,369)

§ (63529



TRONOX LLC, AWHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF TRONOX INCORPORATED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) AND MEMBER’S EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005 AND 2004
(Thousands of Dollars)

Accumulated Other Due From
Member's Undistributed Comprehensive Tronox and Its Total Member's
Investment Earnings Income (Loss) Affiliates Equity
Balance at December 31, 2003 $ 493,882 $ 215,980 $ 9,923 $ - $ 719,785
Comprehensive loss:
Unrealized gain on cash flow hedges,
net of taxes of ($1,066) - - 2,082 - 2,082
Reclassification of realized gain on cash flow
hedges to eamings, net of taxes of $4,668 . - (10,693) - (10,693)
Net loss - (63,523) - - (63,523)
Total comprehensive loss (72,134)
Distribution to Kerr-McGee for:
Govemment reimbursements - (44,450) - - (44,450)
Capital contribution from Kerr-McGee - 35,276 - - 35,276
Balance at December 31, 2004 493,882 143,283 1,312 - 638,477
Comprehensive loss:
Unrealized gain on cash flow hedges,
net of taxes of ($1,750) - - 3,246 - 3,246
Reclassification of realized gain on cash flow
hedges to eamings, net of taxes of $2,985 - - (5,589) - (5,589)
Net Income - 12,319 - - 12,319
Total comprehensive income 9,976
Distribution to Ken-McGee for:
Govemment reimbursements - (65,652) - - (65,652)
Capital contribution from Kerr-McGee - 53,637 - . 53,637
Due from Tronox and its affiliates - - - (198,825) (198,825)
Balance at December 31, 2005 $ 493,882 $ 143,587 $ (1,031) $  (198,825) $ 437,613

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements




TRONOX LLC, AWHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF TRONOX INCORPORATED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005 AND 2004
(Thousands of Dollars)

2005 2004
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income (loss) $ 12,319 $ (63,523)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities-
Depreciation and amortization 71,099 165,129
Asset impairment - 7,449
Deferred income taxes 6,231 (27,062)
Loss on sale of assets 218 3,616
Other noncash items affecting net income (loss) -
Provision for environmental remediation and restoration 28,515 23,746
Other 30,207 21,292
Changes in assets and liabilities and other-
(Increase) decrease in accounts and notes receivable (4.475) 30,760
Decrease in receivables for income taxes 11,604 5,862
(Increase) decrease in inventory (31,514) 60,509
(Increase) decrease in deposits and prepaid expenses (405) 987
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,887 (25,044)
{Decrease) in environmental remediation and restoration, and other (11,102) (23,361)
Net cash provided by operating activities 114,584 180,360

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES .
Capital expenditures (46,040) (52,254)

Proceeds from sale of assets 3,047 312
Collections of notes receivable from affiliates 213,340 162,100
Issuance of notes receivable to affiliates (109,889) (210,547)
Collections of repurchased receivables 70,347 -
Other 3,627 (2,172)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 134,432 (112,561)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Distribution to Kerr-McGee for government reimbursements (65,652) (44,450)
Increase in advances to affiliates (135,589) (24,900)
Payments on note payable to affiliates (25,000) -
Net cash used in financing activities (226,241) (69,350)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 22,775 (1,551)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 9,826 11,377
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR $ 32,601 $ 9,826

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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TRONOX LLC, AWHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARY OF TRONOX INCORPORATED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Tronox LLC
(the company, formerly known as “Kerr-McGee Chemical LLC"), a Delaware single
member limited liability company that is wholly owned by Tronox Worldwide LLC (formerly
known as “Kerr-McGee Chemical Worldwide LLC" herein referred to as parent), and its
wholly-owned subsidiaries, Tronox Holdings, Inc. (THI, formerly known as “Kerr-McGee
Holdings, Inc.”), a Delaware Corporation, Tronox Western Australia PTY LTD. (TWA,
formerly known as "KMCC Western Australia PTY LTD.”) and where the company owns an
undivided interest, the company recognizes its pro rata share of assets and its
proportionate share of liabilities.

Tronox Incorporated ("Tronox") was formed on May 17, 2005, in Delaware, in preparation
for the contribution and transfer by Kerr-McGee Corporation ("Kerr-McGee™) of certain
entities, including those comprising substantially all of its chemical business (the
"Contribution”) to Tronox. The Contribution was completed in the fourth quarter of 2005
along with the recapitalization and initial public offering (the "IPO") of Tronox. Accordingly,
effective upon the Contribution, Tronox became the parent of Tronox Worldwide LLC.
Kerr-McGee retained an interest in Tronox by holding 56.7% of the total outstanding stock
of Tronox, with the remaining 43.3% held by the general public. On March 8, 2006, Kerr-
McGee's Board of Directors declared a dividend of Tronox's Class B common stock owned
by Kerr-McGee to its stockholders (the “Distribution”). The Distribution was completed on
March 30, 2006. Following the Distribution, Kerr-McGee has no ownership or voting interest
in Tronox.

As discussed in Notes 3, 4, 9, 10, 11, 14 and 15 the company has material transactions
with related parties.

The company produces and markets inorganic industrial chemicals and heavy minerals.
The primary product is titanium dioxide, a white pigment used in a wide range of products.
The operations are in the United States and Australia.

Discontinued operations in the consolidated financial statements represent the company's
former forest products operations as well as adjustments to amounts previously reported
related to the company’s former thorium compounds manufacturing (see Note 2).

The company'’s investments in affiliated companies that are 20% to 50% owned are carried
as a component of other assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at cost adjusted for
equity in undistributed earnings. Except for dividends, changes in equity in undistributed
earnings are included in other expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. All
intercompany transactions have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting

principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
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at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ materially from those
estimates as additional information becomes known.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year
presentation utilized by Tronox. In connection with the change in the organization structure
discussed above, we have also reclassified environmental remediation and restoration
costs associated with our former thorium compounds manufacturing as discontinued
operations (Note 2) to be consistent with the financial reporting of Tronox.

Foreign Currencies

The U.S. dollar is considered the functional currency for TWA. Foreign currency
transaction gains or losses are recognized in the period incurred and are included in other
expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The company recorded net
foreign currency transaction gain of $2.5 million and a loss of $4.3 million in 2005 and 2004,

respectively.

Cash Equivalents

The company considers all investments with original maturities of three months or less to be
cash equivalents. Cash equivalents totaling $21.5 million in 2005 and nil in 2004 were
comprised of time deposits.

Accounts Receivable and Receivable Sales

Accounts receivable are reflected at their net realizable value, reduced by an allowance for
doubtful accounts to allow for expected credit losses. The allowance is estimated by
management, based on factors such as age of the related receivables and historical
experience, giving consideration to customer profiles. The company does not generally
charge interest on accounts receivable, nor require collateral; however, certain operating
agreements have provisions for interest and penalties that may be invoked, if deemed
necessary. Accounts receivable are aged in accordance with contract terms and are
written off when deemed uncollectible. Any subsequent recoveries of amounts written off
are credited to the allowance for doubtful accounts.

Under an accounts receivable monetization program maintained by the company through
April 2005, selected pigment customers’ accounts receivable were sold to a special-purpose
entity (“SPE”). The company did not own any of the common stock of the SPE. When the
receivables were sold, the company retained an interest in excess receivables that served as
over-collateralization for the program and retained interests for servicing and in preference
stock of the SPE. The interest in the preference stock was essentially a deposit to provide
further credit enhancement to the securitization program, if needed, but otherwise was
recoverable by the company at the end of the program. Management believes the servicing
fee represented adequate compensation and was equal to what would otherwise be charged
by an outside servicing agent. The loss associated with the receivable sales was determined
as the difference in the book value of receivables sold and the total of cash and fair value of
the deposit retained by the SPE. The losses were recorded in other expenses. The estimate
of fair value of the retained interests was based on the present value of future cash flows
discounted at rates estimated by management to be commensurate with the risks. As
discussed more fully in Note 5, this program was terminated in April 2005.



Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. The cost of finished goods inventories
is determined by the first-in, first-out ("FIFO") method. Carrying values include material
costs, labor and associated indirect manufacturing expenses. Costs for materials and
supplies, excluding ore, are determined by average cost to acquire or standard cost, which
approximates actual cost. Raw materials (ore) are carried at actual cost.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
amortization. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred, except that costs of
replacements or renewals that improve or extend the lives of existing properties are
capitalized.

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated over its estimated useful life by the straight-
line method. Useful lives for property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Vessel linings, general mechanical and process equipment 3 -10 years
Electrical equipment, process piping and waste treatment ponds 10 — 15 years
Support structures and process tanks 20 years
Electrical distribution systems, mining equipment and other infrastructure

assets 25 years
Buildings 10 — 40 years

The cost and related accumulated depreciation and amortization are removed from the

respective accounts upon retirement or sale of property, plant and equipment. Any resulting
gain or loss is included in costs of goods sold in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The company capitalizes interest costs on major projecté that require an extended period of
time to complete. Interest capitalized in 2005 and 2004 was $0.8 million and $1.7 million,
respectively.

Asset Impairments

The company evaluates impairments by asset group for which the lowest level of
independent cash flows can be identified. If the sum of these estimated future cash flows
(undiscounted and without interest charges) is less than the carrying amount of the asset,
an impairment loss is recognized for the excess of the carrying amount of the asset over its
estimated fair value.

Gain or Loss on Assets Held for Sale

Assets are classified as held for sale when the company commits to a plan to sell the assets,
completion of the sale is probable and is expected to be completed within one year. Upon
classification as held-for-sale, long-lived assets are no longer depreciated and a loss is
recognized, if any, based on the excess of carrying value over fair value less costs to sell.
Previous losses may be reversed up to the original carrying value as estimates are revised:
however, gains are only recognized upon disposition.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of titanium dioxide proprietary chloride process technologies and
patents. Certain indefinite-lived intangibles are not amortized but are reviewed annually for
impairment, or more frequently if impairment indicators arise. The annual impairment
assessment for the indefinite-lived intangible assets is completed at June 30 each year.
Based upon the most recent assessment, no impairment was indicated.



Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

From time to time, the company enters into foreign currency forward contracts to hedge a
portion of its foreign currency risk associated with operating costs. The company also uses
natural gas swaps to hedge a portion of its commodity price risk arising from natural gas
consumption. All derivative instruments are accounted for in accordance with the Financial
Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Statement No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities” ("FAS No. 133"), as amended. Derivative instruments
are recorded in prepaid and other assets or accrued liabilities in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets, measured at fair value. When available, quoted market prices are used in
determining fair value; however, if quoted market prices are not available, the company
estimates fair value using either quoted market prices of financial instruments with similar
characteristics or other valuation techniques. For contracts that qualify and are designated
as cash flow hedges of forecasted transactions under the provisions of FAS No. 133,
unrealized gains and losses are initially reflected in accumulated other comprehensive
income and recognized in earnings in the periods during which the hedged forecasted
transactions affect earnings (i.e., when the hedged forecasted operating costs are
incurred). The ineffective portion of the change in fair value of such hedges, if any, is
included in current earnings. For derivatives not designated for hedge accounting, gains
and losses are recognized in earnings in the periods incurred. Cash flows associated with
derivative instruments are included in the same category in the Consolidated Statements
of Cash Flows as the cash flows from the item being hedged.

Environmental Remediation and QOther Contingencies

As sites of environmental concern are identified, the company assesses the existing
conditions, claims and assertions, and records an estimated undiscounted liability when
environmental assessments and/or remedial efforts are probable and the associated costs
can be reasonably estimated. Estimates of environmental liabilities, which include the cost
of investigation and remediation, are based on a variety of matters, including, but not
limited to, the stage of investigation, the stage of the remedial design, evaluation of
existing remediation technologies, and presently enacted laws and regulations. In future
periods, a number of factors could significantly change the company's estimate of
environmental remediation costs, such as changes in laws and regulations, or changes in
their interpretation or administration, revisions to the remedial design, unanticipated
construction problems, identification of additional areas or volumes of contaminated soils
and groundwater, and changes in costs of labor, equipment and technology.

To the extent costs of investigation and remediation have been incurred and are
recoverable from the U.S. government or from Kerr-McGee (as discussed in Note 10) and
have been incurred or are recoverable under certain insurance policies or from other
parties and such recoveries are deemed probable, the company records a receivable for
the estimated amounts recoverable (undiscounted). Receivables are reflected in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets as either accounts receivable or as a component of other
assets, depending on estimated timing of collection.

Asset Retirement Obligations

In June 2001, the FASB issued FAS No. 143 which requires that an asset retirement
obligation ("ARQ") associated with the retirement of a tangible long-lived asset be recognized
as a liability in the period in which it is incurred or becomes determinable (as defined by the
standard), with an associated increase in the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset.
The cost of the tangible asset, including the asset retirement cost, is depreciated over the
useful life of the asset. The company adopted the standard on January 1, 2003.

In March 2005, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 47, "Accounting for Conditional Asset
Retirement Obligations — An Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 143" ("FIN No. 47") to
clarify that an entity must recognize a liability for the fair value of a conditional ARO when
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incurred, if the liability’s fair value can be reasonably estimated. Conditional AROs under this
pronouncement are legal obligations to perform asset retirement activihe:. when the timing
and/or method of settlement are conditional on a future event or mity not be within the control
of the entity. FIN No. 47 also provides additional guidance for evaluahng whether sufficient
information to reasonably estimate the fair value of an ARO s available The company
adopted FIN No. 47 as of December 31, 2005 with no material effect to the company’s
financial position or results of operations and no effect on reported cash flows

The ARO is recorded at its estimated fair value and accretion expens is tecogmized over time
as the discounted liability is accreted to its expected settlement value. Fan value is measured
using expected future cash outflows discounted at Tronox’s credit-adjustect nsk-free interest
rate.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of a sales arranguemuoent exists, delivery
has occurred, sales price is fixed or determinable and collectibility is reasonably assured.
All amounts billed to a customer in a sales transaction related to shipping and handling
represent revenues earned and are reported as net sales. Costs incurred by the company
for shipping and handling are reported as cost of goods sold.

Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold include the costs of manufacturing and distributing products, including
raw materials, energy, labor, depreciation and other production costs. Receiving,
distribution, freight and warehousing costs are also included in cost of goods sold

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses include'costs related to marketing, sales,
research and development, legal and administrative functions such as accounting, treasury
and finance, as well as costs for salaries and benefits, travel and entertainment,
promotional materials and professional fees.

Income Taxes

The company is an entity disregarded as separate from its owner for all federal income tax
purposes and, therefore, is treated as a division in Tronox’s consolidated income tax return
(and prior to the IPO was treated as a division in Kerr-McGee's consolidated return).
However, the company has recognized the amount of current income tax allocated to the
company's nontaxable stand-alone operations from Tronox as income taxes in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The company's subsidiaries, TH! and TWA, are separate taxable entities and the amount of
income taxes attributable to their operations are recorded by the company in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations. Deferred U.S. income taxes
related to THI and deferred Australian income taxes related to TWA are provided to reflect
the future tax consequences of differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities
and their reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements. The distribution and
tax amounts for each of these entities are recorded as directed by Tronox, but are generally
calculated as though each entity filed a separate tax return. Certain deductions or benefits
generated by each entity's operations may be considered in the calculation that might not
otherwise be available if each entity was not part of a consolidated income tax return.



New/Revised Accounting Standards

in November 2004, the FASB issued FAS No. 151, “Inventory Costs — an Amendment of ARB
No. 43, Chapter 4” (“FAS No. 151"), which requires that abnormal amounts of idle facilities
cost, freight, handiing costs and spoilage be expensed as incurred and not capitalized as
inventory. FAS No. 151 is effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning
after June 15, 2005. The company will adopt the standard effective January 1, 2006. The
effect of adoption is not expected to have a material effect on the company’s financial position
or results of operations.

in May 2005, the FASB issued FAS No. 154, "Accounting Changes and Error Corrections”
("FAS No. 154”"), which will require that, unless it is impracticable to do so, a change in an
accounting principle be applied retrospectively to prior periods’ financial statements for all
voluntary changes in accounting principles and upon adoption of a new accounting standard if
the standard does not include specific transition provisions. FAS No. 154 supersedes APB
No. 20, “Accounting Changes,” which previously required that most voluntary changes in
accounting principles be recognized by including in the current period’s net income (loss) the
cumulative effect of changing to the new accounting principle. FAS No. 154 also provides that
if an entity changes its method of depreciation, amortization, or depletion for long-lived,
nonfinancial assets, the change must be accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.
Under APB No. 20, such a change would have been reported as a change in an accounting
principle. FAS No. 154 will be applicable to accounting changes and error corrections made by
the company effective January 1, 2006. The effect of applying this new standard on the
company will depend on whether material voluntary changes in accounting principles,
changes in estimates or error corrections occur, and transition and other provisions included
in new accounting standards.

in March 2005, the Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") reached a consensus on EITF
04-6 regarding the accounting for post-production stripping costs. The consensus reached
was that "stripping costs incurred during the production phase of a mine are variable
production costs that should be included in the costs of the inventory produced (extracted)
during the period that the stripping costs are incurred.” This represents a change from the
company's current accounting for production-related stripping costs, as the company has
historically included production-related stripping costs as a component of surface mining
inventory and allocated the costs incurred over the estimated total reserves of the mine.
EITF 04-6 is effective for the first reporting period beginning after December 15, 2005. The
company will adopt EITF 04-6 on January 1, 2006. The effect of adoption is not expected to
have a material effect on the company’s financial position or results of operations.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS, RESTRUCTURING AND EXIT ACTIVITIES

in 2004, the company shut down sulfate and curtailed gypsum production at the Savannah,
Georgia facility, wrote down assets that were no longer in service and recognized a pretax
charge of $123.0 million. Of the total charge in 2004, $86.6 million represented a write-down
of plant assets (of which $12.7 million related to an asset retirement obligation recognized
during the third quarter of 2004), $15.6 million for inventory revaluation, $7.4 million for
impairment of intangible assets, $6.7 million for severance and benefit plan curtailment costs,
and $6.7 million for contract termination costs. The company's 2004 Consolidated Statements
of Operations includes $15.6 million in cost of goods sold and $107.4 million in restructuring
charges, for total pretax charges of $123.0 million associated with the Savannah facility. (See
Note 17 for additional discussion regarding the asset retirement obligation.). Severance of
$1.2 million and $2.1 million was paid during 2005 and 2004, respectively, while the remainder
of $0.9 million, representing an excess of estimated provisions over actual costs, was
reversed in 2005. The shutdown resuited in the elimination of approximately 100 positions.
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During 2003, the company provided for the closure of its synthetic rutile plant in Mobile,
Alabama. In 2004, an additional $6.8 million was provided by the company for additional costs
associated with the plant closure, of which $5.6 million was accelerated depreciation of
additional asset retirement cost and is included in restructuring charges. See Note 17 for a
discussion of the related asset retirement obligation. The reserve balance related to this plant
closure was $0.9 million and $2.0 million at the end of 2005 and 2004, respectively.
Approximately 127 employees will ultimately be terminated in connection with this plant
closure, of which 112 had been terminated as of December 31, 2005. Payments are expected
to continue through the end of 2007.

During 2002, the company approved a plan to exit its forest products business. This decision
was made as part of the company's strategic plan to focus on its core business. At the time of
this decision, five plants were in operation. Four of these plants were closed and abandoned
during 2003. The fifth plant, a leased facility, was operated throughout 2004 until the lease
expired and the fixed assets at the facility were sold in January 2005. Criteria for classification
of these assets as held for sale were met in 2004, at which time the results of forest products
operations met the requirements for reporting as discontinued operations in the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Operations. Therefore, the provisions for plant closures
discussed below are included in loss from discontinued operations. The assets held for sale at
December 31, 2004 were stated in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at estimated sales price
less costs to sell of $3.4 million. A loss of approximately $0.8 million was recognized upon the
disposition of these assets in 2005. Environmental liabilities associated with the wood-treating
sites were retained by the company and are included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets in
accrued liabilities and environmental remediation and/or restoration and other liabilities.

The company provided nil and $1.9 miilion for costs associated with exiting its forest
products business in 2005 and 2004, respectively. Since the announced exit, $17.0 million
has been provided for dismantlement and closure costs and $6.6 million for severance
costs. Through December 31, 2005, $20.7 million was paid, with $2.9 million remaining in the
reserve at year-end. Payments related to the plant closures are expected to continue for
several years in connection with dismantiement and cleanup efforts; however, all of the
severance costs were paid by the end of 2005. In connection with the plant closures, 233
employees were terminated as of year-end 2005. In addition to the provisions for severance,
dismantiement and closure, the company recognized $8.1 million in 2004 for other costs
associated with the shutdown, representing operating costs during the shutdown period.

The following table represents a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of
reserves for exit and restructuring activities for 2005 and 2004.

205 2004

Personnel  Dismantiement and Confract Personnel  Dismantiement and Confract
(Milions of Dolars) Total Costs [2) Closure [1](2 Temination Tolal Costs 2] Closwre [1][2] Temmination
BegnningBalance  § 172 § 38 3 81 § 3 8§ 0§ 125 § 5 %
Provisions § - . - N Y 42 28 6.7
Payments 68 (18) (39) 33§ @7 19 (64) 24)
Adjustments [ER) (1) (29) § 02 (1) 12
Ending Balance $§ 60 § 09 ¢ 41 10§ 1w Y. 91 43

[1] Table excludes Asset Retirement Obligations (ARO) and pension reserves.
[2] Table includes obligations of the discontinued forest products operations that have been retained by the
company.
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Notes receivable from affiliates — At year-end 2005, the company had notes receivable
from Tronox Pigments International GmbH (TPI, formerly "Kerr-McGee Pigments
International GmbH") and Tronox Luxembourg S.a.rl. - Zurich Branch (formerly "Kerr-
McGee Luxembourg S.a.r.l. - Zurich Branch) for $2.1 million and $4.2 million, respectively.
The receivable from TPI consists of a note, dated January 6, 2005 in the amount of $2.0
million. The TPI note was due December 31, 2005, and has been refinanced in March
2006. The new note in the amount of $2.1 million, matures on December 31, 2006. Interest
was accrued on the note based on the three month LIBOR rate plus 0.55% margin for a
range of 3.11%-6.30% throughout the year. The Tronox Luxembourg S.a.r.l. - Zurich
Branch note dated December 21, 2005 in the amount of $4.2 million, was due March 31,
2006, and subsequently has been refinanced into a new note due June 30, 2006, for $4.3
million. Interest is being accrued on the note based on the three month LIBOR rate plus the
margin of 1.75% for a total of 6.28%. Interest income recorded on these notes totaled $0.1
million and $1.1 million in 2005 and 2004, respectively, and is included in other expenses in
the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Payable to affiliate — The company has a payable to an affiliate that totaled $1.7 million and
$62.8 million, at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, for outstanding interest

accrued on notes payable.

Tronox, and prior to the IPO, Kerr-McGee, provides certain corporate services to its
subsidiaries and allocates the costs of these services to each subsidiary generally based
on estimated usage. The total amount of such billings to the company, which is included in
selling, general and administrative expenses in the accompanying Consolidated
Statements of Operations, were approximately $23.5 million in 2005 and $25.1 million in
2004. These amounts are not necessarily the same as it might cost the company to obtain
these services from outside parties.

In addition, there are certain instances, generally related to non-operating sites, where the
parent is also a named party and has assumed financial responsibility for legal, remediation
and/or restoration costs. Accordingly, such provisions and related liabilities, to the extent
the company is not the primary obligor, have been excluded from the company's
consolidated financial statements. See Note 10 for a description of these matters.

The company has entered into a borrowing agreement with an affiliated company. See
Note 9 for a discussion of this borrowing agreement.

Concurrent with the IPO, our parent entered into a $450 million senior secured credit
facility. This facility is unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by Tronox and our
parent's direct and indirect material domestic subsidiaries, including the company. The
facility is secured by a first priority security interest in certain domestic assets, including
certain property and equipment, inventory and receivables, of the parent and the guarantors
of the senior secured credit facility. The facility is also secured by pledges of the equity
interest in the parent and its direct and indirect domestic subsidiaries and up to 65% of the
voting and 100% of the non-voting equity interests in the parent's direct foreign subsidiaries
and the direct foreign subsidiaries of the guarantors of the senior secured credit facility.

The company also has significant income tax transactions with Tronox, its parent and with
Kerr-McGee prior to the IPO. See Note 11 for a discussion of these transactions.

CASH FLOW INFORMATION

During 2005 and 2004, the company paid interest of $26.3 million and $14.7 million to Kerr-
McGee or affiliates, respectively, of which $0.8 million and $1.7 million was capitalized as
part of construction in process. Additionally, during the same periods, the company was
allocated current income tax expense (benefits) associated with its nontaxable stand-alone
operations from Kerr-McGee of $49.6 million and 2.1 million, respectively.
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During 2005 and 2004, non-cash activities included the recognition of receivables from the
Department of Energy and insurers of $34.4 million and $14.2 million, respectively, and
provisions for legal and environmental liabilities of $70.1 million and $37.9 million,
respectively (including amounts related to discontinued forest products operations and
thorium compounds manufacturing for environmental liabilities). See Note 10 for
discussion of these matters. These activities also resulted in non-cash capital contributions
of $34.8 million and $35.3 million in 2005 and 2004, respectively, due to the direct payment
of environmental remediation and/or restoration costs by the parent. In addition, the
company's parent made a capital contribution of property, plant and equipment totaling
$18.8 million in 2005 to the company.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Summarized below are accounts receivable, net of the related allowance for doubfful
accounts, at December 31, 2005 and 2004 (thousands of dollars):

2005 2004

Accounts receivable
Department of Energy (Note 10) [1] $ 13,000 $ 66,000
Receivable frominsurers [1] 7,710 6,000
Accounts receivable - frade 151,009 76,389
171,719 148,389
Allowance for doubtful accounts (772) (650)
Total $ 170947 $ 147,739

[1] Amounts receivable for U.S. Department of Energy and from insurers not expected o be collected
within one year from the balance sheetdate are reflected in Other Assets

Through April 2005, the company and its affiliates had an accounts receivable monetization
program with a maximum availability of $165.0 million. Under the terms of the program,
selected qualifying customer accounts receivable were sold monthly to a special-purpose
entity ("SPE"), which in turn sold an undivided ownership interest in the receivables to a
third-party multi-seller commercial paper conduit sponsored by an independent financial
institution. As the receivables were sold, such amounts were reflected as cash flows from
operating activities within the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. The company sold,
and retained an interest in, excess receivables to the SPE as over-collateralization for the
program. The retained interest in sold receivables was subordinate to, and provided credit
enhancement for, the conduit's ownership interest in the SPE’s receivables, and was available
to the conduit to pay certain fees or expenses due to the conduit, and to absorb credit losses
incurred on any of the SPE's receivables in the event of program termination. No recourse
obligations were recorded since the company had no obligations for any recourse actions on
the sold receivables. At December 31, 2004, the outstanding balance of receivables sold (and
excluded from the company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets as of that date) was $70.1 million,
which was net of the company’s retained interest in receivables serving as over-
collateralization of $28.4 mitlion.

The accounts receivable monetization program included ratings downgrade triggers based on
Kerr-McGee's corporate senior unsecured debt rating that provided for certain program
modifications, including a program termination event, upon which the program would
effectively liquidate over time and the third-party multi-seller commercial paper conduit would
be repaid with the collections on accounts receivable. In April 2005, Kerr-McGee's senior
unsecured debt was downgraded, triggering program termination. As opposed to liquidating
the program over time in accordance with its terms, Kerr-McGee entered into an agreement to
terminate the program by repurchasing the then outstanding balance of receivables sold of
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$165.0 million. The repurchased receivables were then contributed to the company and its
affiliates in a non-cash financing transaction. The balances of repurchased receivables have
subsequently been collected by the company. Such collections are included in cash flows
from investing activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. .

While the program was in effect in 2005 and during 2004, the company sold $186.2 million
and $520.1 million, respectively, of its pigment receivables and had pretax losses of nil and
$3.6 million in each of those periods.

INVENTORIES

The major categories of inventories at December 31, 2005 and 2004, are as follows
(thousands of dollars):

2005 2004
Raw materials § 60019 $ 53822
Work- in- progress 10,872 8,284
Finished goods 98,033 81,331
Materials and supplies 53,047 47,020
Total § 2191 $ 190,457

OTHER ASSETS

Other assets consist of the following at December 31, 2005 and 2004 (thousands of
dollars):

2005 2004
Receivable from Department of Energy (Note 10) $ 12,455 $ 12,792
Investments in equity method investees 17,582 16,750
Receivables from insurers 23,470 9,000
Other 467 2,914
Total $ 53,974 $ 41,456

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The carrying amount of indefinite-lived intangible assets that are not subject to amortization
was $28.0 million at both December 31, 2005 and 2004.

The net carrying amount of intangible assets subject to amortization at both December 31,
2005 and 2004 was $0.2 million.

NOTE PAYABLE TO AFFILIATE

Long-term debt outstanding at December 31, 2005, consisted of a note payable to the
company's parent, Tronox Worldwide LLC, for $267.7 million, payable in full on December
31, 2008. The interest rate on the note payable was 6.75% and was based on the prime
rate as established by JP Morgan Chase Bank, NA. Interest expense on the note totaled
$1.7 million in 2005 and is included in other expense in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations.

Long-term debt outstanding at December 31, 2004 consisted of a note payable to an

affiliate of Kerr-McGee, for $221.0 million that was payable in full on December 31, 2005.
The interest rate on the note payable was 4.0% to 4.75% in 2004 and was based on the
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prime rate as established by Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York. Interest
expense on the note totaled $9.4 million in 2004, and is included in other expense in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations. In March 2005, the note was refinanced with a
maturity date of December 31, 2006, an interest rate of 5.75% to 6.75% based on the prime
rate as established by JP Morgan Chase Bank and could be prepaid at any time. The note
was also increased to $286.4 million at that time, which included accrued but unpaid
interest through March 31, 2005. In September 2005, the company made a partial payment
on the note in the amount of $25.0 million. The remaining balance of the note was
contributed by Kerr-McGee to Tronox at IPO and then contributed to parent. Parent then
entered into a new note for $267.7 million with the company. Interest expense on this note
totaled $14.4 million in 2005 and is included in other expense in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations.

CONTINGENCIES

The following discussion relates to legal and environmental matters involving sites currently
or previously owned or operated by the company and/or its predecessors. Generally, the
parent has assumed financial responsibility for the company’s legal and environmental
matters, including those discussed below (with the exception of Henderson, Nevada),
although in certain situations, the company remains the primary obligor. Whenever the
legal and financial responsibility is joint and several with the parent, the parent has
recognized the provision and liability; thus, it has not been reflected in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements. When the company is the primary obligor, the provision
and liability has been reflected in the company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations as
Provision for environmental remediation and restoration and in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets as accrued liabilities or deferred credits and reserves — environmental remediation
and/or restoration and other. When the parent pays amounts related to these matters, the
payments have been reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss and
Member's Equity as capital contribution from parent. When the company is the named
recipient of reimbursements and such amounts are probable of receipt, they are reflected in
the Consolidated Balance Sheets as accounts receivable or other assets depending on
estimated timing of collection.

For the year ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, the parent recognized provisions (which
are not reflected herein) of $1.1 million and $2.6 million, respectively, for environmental
matters related to sites currently and/or previously owned by the company for which the
parent and the company have joint and several liability. Related to these sites, the parent
also recognized provisions (which are not reflected herein) for legal matters in the amount
of nil and $0.2 million in 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Henderson, Nevada

In 1998, the company decided to exit the ammonium perchlorate business. At that time, the
company curtailed operations and began preparation for the shutdown of the associated
production facilities in Henderson, Nevada, that produced ammonium perchlorate and other
related products. Manufacture of perchlorate compounds began at Henderson in 1945 in
facilities owned by the U.S. government. The U.S. Navy expanded production significantly in
1953 when it completed construction of a plant for the manufacture of ammonium perchlorate.
The U.S. Navy continued to own the ammonium perchlorate plant, as well as other associated
production equipment at Henderson, unti 1962, when the plant was purchased by a
predecessor of the company. The ammonium perchlorate produced at the Henderson facility
was used primarily in federal government defense and space programs. Perchlorate that may
have originated, at least in part, from the Henderson facility has been detected in nearby Lake
Mead and the Colorado River, which contribute to municipal water supplies in Arizona,
Southern California and Southern Nevada.
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The company began decommissioning the facility and remediating associated perchlorate
contamination, including surface impoundments and groundwater, when it decided to exit the
business in 1998. In 1999 and 2001, the company entered into consent orders with the
Nevada Division of Environmental Protection (“NDEP”) that require it to implement both
interim and long-term remedial measures to capture and remove perchlorate from
groundwater. In April 2005, the company entered into an amended consent order with NDEP
that requires, in addition to the capture and treatment of groundwater, the closure of a certain
impoundment related to the past production of ammonium perchlorate, including treatment
and disposal of solution and sediment contained in the impoundment. The agreement with the
NDEP also requires the company to test for various potential contaminants at the site, which is

ongoing.

In 1999, the company initiated the interim measures required by the consent orders. A long-
term remediation system is operating in compliance with the consent orders. Initially, the
remediation system was projected to operate through 2007. However, studies of the decline of
perchlorate levels in the groundwater indicate that the company may need to operate the
system through 2011. The scope, duration and cost of groundwater remediation ultimately will
be driven in the long term by drinking water standards regarding perchlorate, which to date
have not been formally established by applicable state or federal regulatory authorities. The
Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") and other federal and state agencies continue to
evaluate the health and environmental risks associated with perchlorate as part of the process
for ultimately setting drinking water standards. One state agency, the California Environmental
Protection Agency ("CalEPA"), has set a public health goal for perchlorate, and the federal
EPA has established a reference dose for perchlorate, which are preliminary steps to setting
drinking water standards. The establishment of drinking water standards could materially
affect the scope, duration and cost of the long-term groundwater remediation that the
company is required to perform.

Financial Reserves - As of December 31, 2005, reserves for environmental remediation at
Henderson totaled $36.7 million. This includes $32.3 million added to the reserve in 2005
because of increased costs for removing and treating ammonium perchlorate solids contained
in a lined pond, purchasing additional equipment to perform clean-up and extending the
projected operating period of the groundwater remediating system through 2011. As noted
above, the long-term scope, duration and cost of groundwater remediation and impoundment
closure are uncertain and, therefore, additional costs beyond those accrued may be incurred
in the future. However, the amount of any additional costs cannot be reasonably estimated at

this time.

Litigation - In 2000, the company initiated litigation against the United States seeking
contribution for its Henderson response costs. The suit was based on the fact that the
govemment owned the plant in the early years of its operation, exercised significant control
over production at the plant and the sale of products produced at the plant, even while not the
owner, and was the largest consumer of products produced at the plant. Before trial, the
parties agreed to a seftlement of the claims against the United States. The settlement was
memorialized in a consent decree approved by the court on January 13, 2006. Under the
consent decree, the United States will pay the company $20.5 million in contribution for past
costs and, commencing January 1, 2011, the United States will be obligated to pay 21% of the
company’s remaining response costs at Henderson, if any, related to perchlorate. In the first
quarter of 2006, the company recognized a receivable for environmental cost reimbursement
of $20.5 million pursuant to the consent decree provisions. The receivable was collected in
February 2006.

Insurance - In 2001, the company purchased a 10-year, $100 million environmental cost cap
insurance policy for groundwater and other remediation at Henderson. The insurance policy
provides coverage only after the company exhausts a self-insured retention of approximately
$61.3 million and covers only those costs incurred to achieve a cleanup level specified in the
policy. As noted above, federal and state agencies have not established a drinking water
standard and, therefore, it is possible that the company may be required to achieve a cleanup
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level more stringent than that covered by the policy. If so, the amount recoverable under the
policy may be less than the ultimate cleanup cost.

At December 31, 2005, the company had received $5.8 million of cost reimbursement under
the insurance policy, and expects additional estimated aggregate cleanup cost of $92.5 million
less the $61.3 million self-insured retention to be covered by the policy (for a net amount of
$31.2 million in additional reimbursement, including $22.0 million accrued in 2005). The
company believes that additional reimbursement of approximately $31.2 million is probable,
and, accordingly, the company has recorded a receivable in the financial statements for that
amount.

West Chicago, lllinois

In 1973, the company closed a facility in West Chicago, lllinois, that processed thorium ores
for the federal government and for certain commercial purposes. Historical operations had
resulted in low-level radioactive contamination at the facility and in surrounding areas. The
original processing facility is regulated by the State of lllinois (the "State"), and four vicinity
areas are designated as Superfund sites on the National Priorities List ("NPL").

Closed Facility - Pursuant to agreements reached in 1994 and 1997 among the company,
the City of West Chicago and the State regarding the decommissioning of the closed West
Chicago facility, the company has substantially completed the excavation of contaminated
soils and has shipped those soils to a licensed disposal facility. Surface restoration was
completed in 2004, except for areas designated for use in connection with the Kress Creek
and Sewage Treatment Plant remediation discussed below. Groundwater monitoring and
remediation is expected to continue for approximately ten years.

Vicinity Areas - EPA has listed four areas in the vicinity of the closed West Chicago facility
on the NPL and has designated the company as a Potentially Responsible Party ("PRP") in
these four areas. The company has substantially completed remedial work for two of the
areas (known as the Residential Areas and Reed-Keppler Park). The other two NPL sites,
known as Kress Creek and the Sewage Treatment Plant, are contiguous and involve low
levels of insoluble thorium residues, principally in streambanks and streambed sediments,
virtually all within a floodway. The company has reached an agreement with the appropriate
federal and state agencies and local communities regarding the characterization and cleanup
of the sites, past and future government response costs, and the waiver of natural resource
damages claims. The agreement is incorporated in consent decrees, which were approved
and entered by the federal court in August 2005. The cleanup work, which began in the third
quarter of 2005, is expected to take about four to five years to complete, will require
excavation of contaminated soils and stream sediments, shipment of excavated materials to a
licensed disposal facility and restoration of affected areas.

Financial Reserves - As of December 31, 2005, the company had reserves of $86.6 million
for costs related to the West Chicago facility and vicinity properties. This includes $9.9 million
added to the reserve in 2005 as a result of additional volumes of contaminated materials
being identified at the Kress Creek site and the agreement described above requiring the
company to reimburse local communities for certain cleanup costs. Although actual costs may
differ from current estimates, the. amount of any revisions in remediation costs cannot be
reasonably estimated at this time. The amount of the reserve is not reduced by
reimbursements expected from the federal government under Title X of the Energy Policy Act
of 1992 ("Title X") (discussed below).

Government Reimbursement - Pursuant to Title X, the U.S. Department of Energy (“DOE")
is obligated to reimburse the company for certain decommissioning and cleanup costs
incurred in connection with the West Chicago sites in recognition of the fact that about 55% of
the facility's production was dedicated to U.S. government contracts. The amount authorized
for reimbursement under Title X is $365 million plus inflation adjustments. That amount is
expected to cover the government's full share of West Chicago cleanup costs. Through
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December 31, 2005, the company had been reimbursed approximately $280.6 million under
Title X.

Reimbursements under Title X are provided by congressional appropriations. Historically,
congressional appropriations have lagged the company's cleanup expenditures. As of
December 31, 2005, the government's share of costs incurred by the company but not yet
reimbursed by the DOE totaled approximately $25.5 million, which includes $12.3 million
accrued in 2005. The company believes receipt of the $25.5 million government share in due
course following additional congressional appropriations is probable and has reflected that
amount as a receivable in the financial statements. The company will recognize recovery of
the government’s share of future remediation costs for the West Chicago sites as it incurs the
cash expenditures.

Soda Springs, Idaho

From 1963 to 2000, the company owned and operated a vanadium processing facility near
Soda Springs, Idaho. In 1989, EPA designated this site as a Superfund site under CERCLA,
listed the site on the NPL and named the company as a PRP. In 2000, EPA amended a
Record of Decision (“ROD") previously issued by it, requiring the company to address the
presence of caicine tailings, a byproduct of vanadium processing. The amended ROD
required the capping of the calcine tailings in place, the closure of certain impoundments and
groundwater monitoring.

Since 2000, the vanadium processing facility plant and a fertilizer piant on the site have been
closed, dismantled and removed from the site. All former impoundments included in the
amended ROD have been closed. A ten-acre pond not covered by the ROD is scheduled for
closure within the next two years. The company anticipates constructing a landfill onsite as
part of the closure. The duration of groundwater monitoring is not known.

Financial Reserves - As of December 31, 2005, the company had reserves of $2.7 million
for the costs of the remediation required by the ROD as well as closure of the above
mentioned ten-acre pond. Although actual costs may differ from current estimates, the
amount of any revisions in remediation costs cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.

Milwaukee, Wisconsin

in 1976, the company closed a wood-treatment facility it had operated in Milwaukee,
Wisconsin. Operations at the facility prior to its closure had resulted in the contamination of
soil and groundwater at and around the site with creosote and other substances used in wood
treating. In 1984, EPA designated the Milwaukee wood-treatment facility as a Superfund site
under CERCLA, listed the site on the NPL and named the company as a PRP. The company
executed a consent decree in 1991 that required it to perform soil and groundwater
remediation at and below the former wood-treatment area and to address a tributary creek of
the Menominee River that had become contaminated as a result of the wood-treatment
operations. Actual remedial activities were deferred until after the decree was finally entered in
1996 by a federal court in Milwaukee.

Groundwater treatment was initiated in 1996 to remediate groundwater contamination below
and in the vicinity of the former wood-treatment area. It is not possible to reliably predict how
groundwater conditions will be affected by soil removal in the vicinity of the former wood-
treatment area, which has been completed, and by ongoing groundwater treatment. It is
unknown, therefore, how long groundwater treatment will continue. Soil cleanup of the former
wood-treatment area began in 2000 and was completed in 2002. Also in 2002, remedial
designs for the upper portion of the tributary creek were agreed to with EPA, after which the
company began the implementation of a remedy to reroute the creek and to remediate
associated sediment and stream bank soils. Remediation of the upper portion of the creek is
expected to take about three more years. The company has not yet agreed with relevant
regulatory authorities regarding remedial designs for the lower portion of the tributary creek.
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Financial Reserves - As of December 31, 2005, the company had rescrves of $4 4 mulion 1o
the costs of the remediation work described above. Although actual costs may difter from
current estimates, the amount of any revisions in remediation costs cannot be reasonuhly
estimated at this time. The costs associated with remediation, if any, of the lower portion ot the:
tributary creek are not reasonably estimable at this time and, thus, no reserve his boeen
recorded.

New Jersey Wood-Treatment Site

The company was named in 1999 as a PRP under CERCLA at a former wood-treatment site
in New Jersey at which EPA is conducting a cleanup. On April 15, 2005, the company and the
parent received a letter from EPA asserting they are liable under CERCLA as a former owner
or operator of the site and demanding reimbursement of costs expended by EPA at the site.
The letter made demand for payment of past costs in the amount of approximately
$179 million, plus interest, though EPA has informed the company that it expects final project
costs will be approximately $236 million, plus possible other costs and interest. The company
did not operate the site, which had been sold to a third party before the company succeeded
to the interests of a predecessor owner in the 1960s. The predecessor also did not operate
the site, which had been closed down before it was acquired by the predecessor. Based on
historical records, there are substantial uncertainties about whether or under what terms the
predecessor assumed liabilities for the site. In addition, although it appears there may be other
PRPs, the company does not know whether the other PRPs have received similar letters from
EPA, whether there are any defenses to liability available to the other PRPs or whether the
other PRPs have the financial resources necessary to meet their obligations. The company
intends to vigorously defend against EPA's demand, though the company expects to have
discussions with EPA that could lead to a settlement or resolution of EPA's demand. No
reserve for reimbursement of cleanup costs at the site has been recorded because it is not
possible to reliably estimate the liability, if any, the company may have for the site because of
the aforementioned defenses and uncertainties.

Sauget, lliinois

From 1927 to 1969, the company operated a wood-treatment plant on a 60-acre site in the
Village of Sauget (formerly known as Monsanto) in St. Clair County, lllinois. Operations on the
property resulted in the contamination of soil, surface water, and groundwater at the site with
creosote and other substances used in wood treating. In 1988, the company entered into a
court-approved consent order with the lllinois Attorney General and lllinois Environmental
Protection Agency. The consent order requires the company to perform an environmental
investigation and remediation feasibility study, and this work is ongoing. Soil remediation and
groundwater monitoring are being conducted, and further remediation options to address
sediment and surface water are being evaluated. Duration of remedial activities currently
cannot be estimated.

Financial Reserves - As of December 31, 2005, the company had reserves of approximately
$8.5 million for the remediation activities, including those currently under evaluation, described
above. This includes $4.9 million added to the reserve in 2005 because additional soil
volumes requiring excavation and disposal had been identified. Although actual costs may
differ from current estimates, the amount of any revisions in remediation costs cannot be
reasonably estimated at this time.

Hattiesburg, Mississippi

In January 2003, the company entered into a consent order with the Mississippi Department
of Environmental Quality to implement a remedy pursuant to an approved remediation work
plan for a wood-treatment site in Hattiesburg, Mississippi. Components of the work plan
included excavation of certain materials from the former processing areas and off-site
sediments and containment of other on-site and off-site materials. Remediation of the former
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processing and certain off-site areas was completed in 2003. Some off-site remediation
required by the work plan has not been completed where access by current leaseholders has
been denied. Efforts to obtain necessary access are ongoing, and remedial activities are
expected to take about one to two more years once access is obtained.

Financial Reserves - As of December 31, 2005, the company had reserves of approximately
$2.7 million for the remediation activities described above. Although actual costs may differ
from current estimates, the amount of any revisions in remediation costs cannot be
reasonably estimated at this time.

Jacksonville, Florida

In 1970, the company purchased a facility in Jacksonville, Florida that manufactured and
processed fertilizers, pesticides and herbicides. The company closed the facility in 1978. In
1988, all structures were removed and the company began site characterization studies. In
2000, the company entered into a consent order with EPA to conduct a remedial
investigation and a feasibility study. The remedial investigation was completed and
submitted to EPA in August 2005. It is anticipated that the feasibility study will be submitted
to EPA in early 2006 and that it will recommend soil remediation and excavation at the site
as well as site capping.

Financial Reserves - As of December 31, 2005, the company had reserves of $5.5 million
to complete the feasibility study and to conduct the cleanup and remediation activities the
company expects to recommend to EPA, $5.6 million of which was added in 2005. Although
actual costs may differ from the current estimates, the amount of any revisions in
remediation costs cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.

Other Sites

In addition to the sites described above, the company is responsible for environmental
costs related to certain other sites. These sites relate primarily to wood -treating and
chemical production. As of December 31, 2005, the company had reserves of $17.1 million
for the environmental costs in connection with these other sites. Although actual costs may
differ from current estimates, the amount of any revisions in remediation costs cannot be
reasonably estimated at this time.

Litigation and Claims

Western Fertilizer Contract

In 1995, the company executed an exclusive agreement with Western Fertilizer, Inc.
("Western Fertilizer") for the storage and distribution of fertilizer produced by the company. In
May 2000, the company terminated the agreement because the owner, operator and the key
person of Western Fertilizer, had been sentenced to serve 17 years in prison for federal
crimes involving activities unrelated to the company, thus rendering Western Fertilizer unable
to perform its duties under the agreement. In June 2000, Western Fertilizer filed for
bankruptcy, and its trustee alleged that the company did not have the right to terminate the
agreement. In May 2003, Western Fertilizer's bankruptcy claim against the company was
transferred to a litigation trust, and, in October 2004, the litigation trust filed an amended
complaint in a pending federal lawsuit in the U.S. District Court in Idaho, seeking monetary
damages of approximately $13 million for alleged breaches of contract. Discovery in the
litigation was completed in February 2006. On March 1, 2006, both parties filed motions for
summary judgment. A trial date will be set after the court rules on the motions for summary
judgment. The company believes that the claims made in the complaint are without substantial
merit and is vigorously defending against them and, thus, no reserve has been recorded. The
company currently believes that damages, if any, related to the claims are not likely to have a
material adverse effect on the company.
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Forest Products Litigation

Between December 31, 2002, and May 2, 2005, approximately 250 lawsuits (filed on hehall
of approximately 5,100 claimants) were filed against the company in connection with the:
former wood-treatment plant in Columbus, Mississippi. Substantially all of these law:unt:.
are pending in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Mississippi and have: becen
consolidated for pretrial and discovery purposes. In addition, a suit filed by the Maranathin
Faith Center against the company and the parent on February 18, 2000, relates to the
former wood-treatment plant in Columbus and is pending in the Circuit Court of Lownde:.
County, Mississippi. Between December 31, 2002, and June 25, 2004, three lawsuits (file:d
on behalf of approximately 3,300 claimants) were filed against the company in connection
with a former wood-treatment plant located in Hattiesburg, Mississippi. These lawsuits were
removed to the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Mississippi. Between
September 9, 2004, and December 28, 2005, four lawsuits (filed on behaif of 69 claimants)
were filed against the company in connection with a former wood-treatment plant located in
Texarkana, Texas. Two of the Texarkana lawsuits that were filed in Oklahoma (on behalf of
30 claimants) have been dismissed on jurisdictional grounds. Between January 3, 2005,
and July 26, 2005, 35 lawsuits (filed on behalf of approximately 4,600 claimants) were filed
against the company and the parent in connection with the former wood-treatment plant in
Avoca, Pennsylvania. All of these lawsuits seek recovery under a variety of common law
and statutory legal theories for personal injuries and/or property damages allegedly caused
by exposure to and/or release of creosote, a chemical used in the wood-treatment process.

In 2003, the company entered into a settlement agreement that resolved approximately
1,490 of the Hattiesburg claims, which resulted in aggregate payments by the company of
approximately $0.6 million. In December 2005, the company entered into settlement
agreements to resolve up to 1,335 of the remaining Hattiesburg claims and up to 879 of the
Columbus claims. The December 2005 settlement agreements require the company to pay
up to $2.5 million, of which $1.8 million was paid in December 2005. In addition, all of the
remaining Hattiesburg claims have been dismissed without prejudice on the bases of failure
to pay filing fees and failure to disclose information in compliance with court orders. The
company currently believes that the unresolved claims relating to the Columbus,
Hattiesburg, Texarkana and Avoca plants are without substantial merit and is vigorously
defending against them.

Financial Reserves - As of December 31, 2005, the company had reserves of $7.3 million
related to forest products litigation. This reflects an increase of $2.5 million as a resuit of the
December 2005 settlement noted above and information developed with respect to pending
claims during negotiation of the December settlement. Although actual costs may differ
from the current reserves, the amount of any revisions in litigation costs cannot be
reasonably estimated at this time. The company currently believes that the ultimate
resolution of the forest products litigation is not likely to have a material adverse effect on
the company.

Kemira

In 2000, the company acquired its titanium dioxide production facility in Savannah, Georgia,
from Kemira Pigments Oy, a Finnish company, and its parent, Kemira Oyj (together, "the
Sellers”). After acquiring the facility, the company discovered that certain matters associated
with environmental conditions and plant infrastructure were not consistent with representations
made by the Sellers. The company sought recovery for breach of representations and
warranties in a proceeding before the London Court of International Arbitration (“LCIA"). On
May 9, 2005, the company received notice from the LCIA that the LCIA had found in favor of
the company as to liability with respect to certain of the claims. The LCIA still must determine
the amount of damages, a hearing with respect to which has been scheduled for late May
2006. The company currently cannot reasonably estimate the amount of damages that will be
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awarded. The company will recognize a receivable, if and when damages are awarded and all
contingencies associated with any recovery are resolved .

Other Matters

The company is party to a number of legal and administrative proceedings involving
environmental and/or other matters pending in various courts or agencies. These
proceedings, individually and in the aggregate, are not expected to have a material adverse
effect on the company. These proceedings are also associated with facilities currently or
previously owned, operated or used by the company and/or its predecessors, some of which
include claims for personal injuries, property damages, cleanup costs and other environmental
matters. Current and former operations of the company also involve management of regulated
materials and are subject to various environmental laws and regulations. These laws and
regulations will obligate the company to clean up various sites at which petroleum and other
hydrocarbons, chemicals, low-level radioactive substances and/or other materials have been
contained, disposed of or released. Some of these sites have been designated Superfund
sites by EPA pursuant to CERCLA or state equivalents. Similar environmental laws and
regulations and other requirements exist in foreign countries in which the company operates.

Pursuant to the Master Separation Agreement ("MSA”) entered into by and among Kerr-
McGee Corporation, Kerr-McGee Worldwide Corporation and Tronox, effective November
28, 2005, Kerr-McGee Worldwide Corporation will reimburse Tronox and its subsidiaries,
including the company, for a portion of the environmental remediation costs it incurs and
pays (net of any cost reimbursements it recovers or expects to recover from insurers,
governmental authorities or other parties). The reimbursement obligation extends to costs
incurred at any site associated with any of the company’s former businesses or operations.

With respect to any site for which the company has established a reserve as of the effective
date of the MSA, 50% of the remediation costs the company incurs in excess of the reserve
amount (after meeting a $200,000 minimum threshold amount) will be reimbursable by
Kerr-McGee, net of any amounts recovered or, in the company's reasonable and good faith
estimate, that will be recovered from third parties. With respect to any site for which the
company has not established a reserve as of the effective date of the MSA, 50% of the
amount of the remediation costs the company incurs and pays (after meeting a $200,000
minimum threshold amount) will be reimbursable by Kerr-McGee, net of any amounts
recovered or, in the company's reasonable and good faith estimate, that will be recovered
from third parties.

Kerr-McGee's aggregate reimbursement obligation to Tronox and its subsidiaries, including
the company, cannot exceed $100 million and is subject to various other limitations and
restrictions. For example, Kerr-McGee is not obligated to reimburse the company for
amounts it pays to third parties in connection with tort claims or personal injury lawsuits, or
for administrative fines or civil penalties that the company is required to pay. Kerr-McGee's
reimbursement obligation also is limited to costs that the company actually incurs and pays
within seven years following the completion of the IPO.

The company provides for costs related to contingencies when a loss is probable and the
amount is reasonably estimable. It is not possible for the company to reliably estimate the
amount and timing of all future expenditures related to environmental and legal matters and
other contingencies because, among other reasons:

¢ Some sites are in the early stages of investigation, and other sites may be identified in the
future.

¢ Remediation activities vary significantly in duration, scope and cost from site to site
depending on the mix of unique site characteristics, applicable technologies and
regulatory agencies involved.
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Remediation requirements are difficult to predict at sites where remedial mvestigahorse.
have not been completed or final decisions have not been made regarding remedishon
requirements, technologies or other factors that bear on remediation costs

Environmental laws frequently impose joint and several liability on all potentially
responsible parties, and it can be difficult to determine the number and financial condition
of other potentially responsible parties and their respective shares of responsibility for

cleanup costs.

Environmental laws and regulations, as well as enforcement policies, are continually
changing, and the outcome of court proceedings and discussions with regulatory
agencies are inherently uncertain.

Unanticipated construction problems and weather conditions can hinder the completion
of environmental remediation.

Some legal matters are in the early stages of investigation or proceeding or their
outcomes otherwise may be difficult to predict, and other legal matters may be identified
in the future.

The inability to implement a planried engineering design or use planned technologies and
excavation methods may require revisions to the design of remediation measures, which
delay remediation and increase costs.

The identification of additional areas or volumes of contamination and changes in costs of
labor, equipment and technology generate corresponding changes in environmental
remediation costs.

Summary

At year-end 2005 and 2004, the company had reserves totaling $164.2 million and $143.1
million for cleaning up and remediating environmental sites, reflecting the reasonably
estimable costs for addressing these sites. These reserves were reflected in the company's
Consolidated Balance Sheets as accrued liabilities or deferred credits and reserves at
December 31, 2005 and 2004 as follows (thousands of dollars):

2005 2004
Accrued liabilities $§ 54588 $ 51942
Deferred credits and reserves -
Environmental remediation and/or restoration and other 109,626 91,130
Total § 164214 $ 143072

In addition to the reserves noted above, the parent also has reserves totaling $6.4 million
and $7.7 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, for sites which it assumed
the primary obligation from the company in matters involving joint and several liability.
Additionally, as of December 31, 2005, the company and/or the parent had litigation
reserves totaling approximately $7.4 miliion for the reasonably estimable losses associated
with litigation of which $1.9 million has been reflected as an obligation of the parent.
Management believes, after consuitation with general counsel that currently the company
and the parent have reserved adequately for the reasonably estimable costs of
environmental matters and other contingencies. However, additions to the reserves may
be required as additional information is obtained that enables the company to better
estimate its liabilities, inciuding liabilities at sites now under review, though the company
cannot now reliably estimate the amount of future additions to the reserves.
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INCOME TAXES

The provision (benefit) for income taxes for 2005 and 2004 15 sunmunzed below
(thousands of dollars):
2005 2004
Taxable Entities
U.S. Federal:
Current $ (9,258) $ (37.81h)
Deferred 4714 (24.259)
(4.544) (62,074)
International:
Current 6,419 12,349
Deferred 1,517 (2,803)
7,936 9,546
Total Taxable Entities 3,392 (52,528)
Nontaxable (disregarded) entity income tax
expense (benefit) allocation from Kerr-McGee 49,624 2,074
Total Income Tax Provision (Benefit)[1]] $ 53,016 $ (50,454

[1] For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, the company provided a
provision (benefit) of $8.5 million and $(4.2) million attributable to discontinued operations.

TWA had undistributed earnings and profits of approximately $9.6 million at December 31,
2005. No provision for deferred U.S. income taxes has been made for these earrnings
because they are considered to be indefinitely invested outside the U.S. The distribution of
these earnings in the form of dividends or otherwise, may subject the company to U S
income taxes. However, because of the complexities of U.S. taxation of foreign earnings it
is not practicable to estimate the amount of additional tax that might be payable on the:
eventual remittance of these earnings.

On October 22, 2004, the President of the United States signed into law the Amaoncan
Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the “Act”). A provision of the Act includes a one-time dividends
received deduction of 85% of certain foreign earnings that are repatriated, as defmead in the
Act. On April 11, 2005, Kerr-McGee’s management completed its analysis of the impact of
the Act on its plans for repatriation. Based on this analysis, the company repatnated
$131.0 million in extraordinary dividends, as defined in the Act, during 2005. Accordingly,
income tax expense, net of available tax credits, of $4.7 million has been recognized in the
company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations. Cash requirements tor the dvidends
were met with cash on hand at the time each of the distributions was made.

The net deferred tax liability, classified as deferred credits and reserves - deferred income
taxes in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, represents the net deferred taxe:n relatod solely
to the taxable operations of THI and TWA. Deferred tax assets or liabilities are composed
of the following at December 31, 2005 and 2004 (thousands of dollars).
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205 e

Defered tax assets § 12083 § 1
Deferred tax liabilities
Accelerated depreciation 45,224 KR
Intangible assets 9,056 11,661,
Derivatives . 1h
Other 13,375 19,080
67,655 64,231
Deferred income taxes, net $ 55572 $ 52963

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND DERIVATIVE ACTIVITIES
Financial Instruments

The company holds or issues financial instruments for other than trading purpoue:.,
including the foliowing at December 31, 2005 and 2004: cash, accounts and noto:.
receivable, accounts and notes receivable from affiliates, accounts payable, accried
liabilities, foreign currency and natural gas derivatives and note payable to affiliate [ xcep!
for long term receivables from the Department of Energy and from insurers (see Note 7), ut
December 31, 2005 and 2004, the carrying amounts of all other financial instruments, a-.
refiected in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets, approximates their estiunated
fair values. The carrying amount of the company’s accounts and notes receivable from
affiliates and note payable to affiliate approximates fair value based on the current rates o
similar termed instruments. The carrying amounts of all other financial instrumaent:.
approximate a fair value due to the nature or short maturities of such items.

The carrying value and estimated fair value of long term receivables from the Departimen
of Energy and from insurers is summarized below (in thousands of dollars):

2005 2004
Long-term receivables - camrying value $ 35,925 $ 21792
Long-term receivables - estimated fair value 30,510 19,540

The estimated fair value of long term receivables is based on discounted cash flows
Derivative Instruments

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the net fair value of foreign currency and commodity
hedging contracts included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets was a liability of $1 6 midlion
and an asset of $2.0 million, respectively, and the related balance of deferrcd aftor-tox
gains (losses) in accumulated other comprehensive income was ($1.0) million and $1.3
million, respectively. All contracts outstanding at December 31, 2005 are expected to setiie
in 2006. In 2005 and 2004, pre-tax gains on cash flow hedges of $8.6 million and $156.4
million, respectively, were reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income to
earnings. Substantially all of such gains are reflected as a component of cost of goods sold
in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. No hedges were discontinued and no
ineffectiveness was recognized in the periods presented.
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14.

15.

OTHER EXPENSES

Other expenses were as follows during the year ended December 31, 2005 and 2004
(thousands of dollars):

2005 2004

Interest expense, net $ 11,146 $ 9,001
Loss (Gain) on foreign currency exchange (2,519) 4,312
Equity in net earnings

of equity method investeess (2,011) (2,423)
Loss on sale of assets 19 3,616
Legal and other 2,088 1,967

Total $ 8,723 $ 16,473

POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

Kerr-McGee sponsors contributory plans to provide certain health care and life insurance
benefits for retired employees. Substantially all the company’s employees may become
eligible for these benefits if they reach retirement age while working for the company,
however, benefits available and costs to individual employees vary depending on the
employee's date of retirement and date of employment with the company.

The expense allocated to the company and recognized for postretirement health care and
life insurance benefits was $6.9 ‘million for 2005 and $10.2 million for 2004. Since the
company is not a sponsor of these plans, no liability is reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

At the Distribution, Tronox will establish a similar postretirement health and welfare plan
that will provide comparable benefits to the company's current and former employees.

RETIREMENT PLANS

Most employees of the company are covered under Kerr-McGee's noncontributory defined
benefit retirement plan. The benefits of this plan are based primarily on years of service
and employees' remuneration near retirement. Kerr-McGee's policy is to fund the minimum
amounts as permitted by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. Kerr-
McGee makes all contributions to the retirement plan trust. Also, Kerr-McGee sponsors
supplemental retirement plans to provide employees with benefits provided for by the plans,
but in excess of the limits under the Federal tax law. Related to these plans, the company
recognized net pension credits of $0.6 million for 2005 compared to a net pension credit of
$6.2 million for 2004 offset by $3.9 million of charges for curtailment and special
termination benefits related to the closure of Savannah sulfate and settlements associated
with normal retirements and retirements resulting from the 2003 work force reduction
program. Since the company is not a sponsor of this plan, no liability is reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.

At the Distribution, Tronox will establish a similar defined benefit retirement plan that will
provide comparable benefits to the company's current and former employees.

Most employees of the company are covered under Kerr-McGee's Employee Stock
Ownership Plan ("ESOP"). Kerr-McGee's matching contributions for the employees'’
contributions to the Kerr-McGee Corporation Savings Investment Plan ("SIP") are paid into
the ESOP, as well as matching contributions for the Kerr-McGee Pigments (Savannah)
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17.

Inc., Employees’ Savings Plan, a savings plan for the bargaining-unit employees at the
company’s Savannah, Georgia, pigment plant ("Savannah Plan”). Although the ESOP, SIP
and Savannah Plan are separate plans, matching contributions to the ESOP are contingent
upon participants’ contributions to the SIP or Savannah Plan. Effective December 31, 2004,
the ESOP and Savannah Plan were merged into the SIP. The company recognized
compensation expense related to the ESOP plan of $3.2 million and $3.4 million in 2005

and 2004, respectively.

COMMITMENTS

The company has various commitments under noncancelable operating lease agreements,
principally for railcars and production equipment. Total rental expense was $14.8 million in
2005 and $13.2 million in 2004, including month-to-month rentals. Aggregate minimum
annual rentals under all operating leases at December 31, 2005, totaled $42 .4 million, of
which $6.2 million is due in 2006, $6.3 million in 2007, $5.1 million in 2008, $4.7 million in
2009, $4.1 million in 2010, and $16.0 million thereafter.

in the normal course of business, the company enters into contractual agreements to
purchase raw materials and utilities. Aggregate future payments under these contracts total
$569.4 million, of which $141.8 million is expected to be paid in 2006, $127.7 million in
2007, $120.1 million in 2008, $66.6 million in 2009, $37.6 million in 2010, and $75.6 million
thereafter.

ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

A summary of the changes in the abandonment liability during 2005 and 2004 is included in
the table below (thousands of dollars).

2005 2004
Balance, January 1 $ 3089 $ 17,600
Adoption of FIN No. 47 and obligations incurred 4,399 12,696
Accretion expense 937 200
Changes in estimates, including timing 1,035 3,600
Abandonment expenditures (2,363) (3,208)
Balance, December 31 34,898 30,890
Less: current asset retirement obligation (1) 7,200 6,589
Noncurrent asset retirement obligation (2) $ 27,698 $ 24301

(1) Included in Accrued Liabilities
(2) Included in Environmental remediation and/or restoration and other

As discussed in Note 1, in March 2005, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 47, "Accounting
for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations — An Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 143"
("FIN No. 47") to clarify that an entity must recognize a liability for the fair value of a conditional
ARO when incurred, if the liability's fair value can be reasonably estimated. Conditional AROs
under this pronouncement are legal obligations to perform asset retirement activities when the
timing and/or method of settlement are conditional on a future event or may not be within the
control of the entity. FIN No. 47 also provides additional guidance for evaluating whether
sufficient information to reasonably estimate the fair value of an ARO is available. The
company adopted FIN No. 47 as of December 31, 2005 with no material effect to the
company’s financial position or results of operations and no effect on reported cash flows.

As discussed in Note 2, the company closed its synthetic rutile plant in Mobile, Alabama, in
2003. In September 2004, the company shut down suifate and gypsum production at its
Savannah, Georgia, plant. Until the decisions to shut down these facilities had been made,
it was undeterminable when the asset retirement liability associated with these facilities
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would be settled. Upon deciding to shut down the facilities, the timing of settlement and
method of abandonment became known and estimable and the related asset retirement
obligation was recorded at the estimated fair value. For the synthetic rutile plant in Mobile,
Alabama, a $17.6 million liability was recognized at the beginning of 2003. For the sulfate
production facility at the company's Savannah, Georgia, plant, an abandonment liability of
$12.7 million was recognized in September 2004. ®

Operations at the Mobile, Alabama, facility included production of feedstock for titanium
dioxide pigment plants of the company's titanium dioxide plants. The facility ceased
feedstock production in June 2003 though it is currently being used on a temporary basis to
dry ore for titanium dioxide production. Feedstock operations prior to closure had resulted in
minor contamination of groundwater adjacent to surface impoundments. A groundwater
recovery system was installed prior to closure and continues in operation, as required under
the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit. Remediation work,
including groundwater recovery, closure of the impoundments and other minor work, is
expected to be substantially completed in about five years after the facility is no longer being
used to dry ore.

In 2004, an abandonment reserve related to the titanium dioxide pigment sulfate production
at Savannah, Georgia, was established to address probable remediation activities, including
environmental assessment, closure of certain impoundments, groundwater monitoring,
asbestos abatement, and other work, which are expected to take over 25 years.

In 2005 in connection with the adoption of FIN No. 47, the company recognized an obligation
for its 50% share of the cost to close and rehabilitate the mine site in Western Australia,
operated by the joint venture partners. As of December 31, 2005, the accreted reserve
represented management's estimate of the total costs to restore the area that has been
disturbed, as required under the mining lease.
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COVER: Kerr-McGee's people apply their expertise and
the best available technology to the company’s businesses.
b Project highlights in 2001 include (clockwise. from right):

The world's first truss spar is ready for upending at the deep-
water Nansen field in the Gulf of Mexico. The truss design
improves performance while reducing size and cost of this
production system.

E ! The Leadon field subsea bundle is pulled into the North Sea.

] One of the largest ever built. this state-of-the-art bundle con-
tains the pipelines, manifolds and controls for the field. all fully
E tested onshore and deployed as one 2.6-mile assembly.

Leadon’s floating production, storage and offloading vessel
maintains heading into the prevailing weather, minimizing
vessel motion in the harsh North Sea. Use of the latest
turret swivel system technology allows the ship complete
freedom to rotate around the moored turret.
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2001 Operating Profit®

$1,076 million

"Excluding special items.

Operating profit declined 35% in 2001 from the
previous year, primarily due to lower prices for
oil and titanium dioxide pigment.

Other
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Assets at Year-End 2001
$11 billion

Kerr-McGee's assets increased 43% during 2001
as the result of the acquisition of HS Resources
and investment in major field development
projects. The HS acquisition added domestic
natural gas properties, balancing the company's
oil and gas portfolio.

Financial Highlights

@ KERR-MCGEE CORPORATION

Millions of dollars, except per-share amouns 2001 000 (Do
Sales $3,638  $4,121 (12)
Operating profit" 1,076 1,655 (35)
Net income 486 842 (42)
Capital expenditures 1,792 842 113
Dividends declared 176 170 4
Total assets 10,961 7,666 43
Total debt 4,574 2,425 89
Stockholders’ equity $3,174 $2,633 21
Common shares outstanding

at year-end (thousands) 100,185 94,485 6
Per common share
Net income $ 4.74 $ 837 (43)
Stockholders’ equity 28.83 25.01 15
Dividends declared 1.80 1.80 -
Market prices —
High 74.10 71.19 4
Low 46.94 39.88 18
Year-end 54.80 66.94 (18)
" Excluding special items.
Operating Highlights o Increne
2001 2000 (Decrease)
Net production of crude oil and condensate
(thousands of barrels per day) 198 207 4)
Average price of crude oil sold (per barrel) $22.58 $27.64 (18)
Natural gas sales (millions of cubic feet per day) 596 531 12
Average price of natural gas sold
(per thousand cubic feet) $ 3.83 $ 3.87 (1)
Gross worldwide titanium dioxide pigment
production (thousands of tonnes) 483 480 1
Number of employees at year-end 4,638 4,426 5



TECHNOLOGY

vantage

Throughout 2001, our operations remained on the leading
,‘é7 edge of technology to profitably grow Kerr-McGee’s core busi-

: nesses — oil and gas exploration and production and titanium
dioxide pigment production. We faced the same economic cli-
mate as our peers and competitors, and we continued to focus
on the flawless execution of our long-term strategy. The difficult
market conditions in 2001 strengthened our resolve to ensure
we are adding value for our shareholders and customers. We
continue to leverage our advantages in cost, quality and technol-
ogy in our two core businesses to enhance our position in the
global marketplace.

Our attention to using and improving the latest technologies
is paying off. We achieved greater success than ever before with
the drill bit and set a new standard for cost-efficient development
of deepwater oil and gas fields. In the titanium dioxide industry,
our new product offerings strengthen our competitive advantage
among global producers of this inorganic white pigment.

We added a record 529 million barrels of oil equivalent
(BOE) o our oil and gas reserves during the year — equal to
49% of our year-end 2000 reserves. The drill bit accounted for
additions of 314 million BOE, or nearly three times our 2001
production of 108 million BOE. In August, we completed the

ATYEAREND
(Millions of BOE) %%gg‘

KerrMcGee added proved reserves
of 529 million BOE and produced

108 million BOE during 2001,
increasing reserves to 1.5 billion
BOE at yearend.
2000
1,088
1999 |
Luke R. Corbett, KerrMcGee chairman and chlef executive officer, displays 920 &
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strategic acquisition of HS Resources, adding a net 215 million
BOE of primarily U.S. natural gas reserves thar provide balance
and longevity to our oil and gas portfolio. In rotal, we replaced
490% of production and accomplished this at a finding, devel-
opment and acquisition cost of $5.73 per BOE. Total proved
reserves now exceed 1.5 billion BOE, increasing 190% since
1997 to0 15.1 BOE for each common share.

Development of new fields continues to help us maintain
a leadership position among the independent producers.
Production began in November 2001 from our second floating
production, storage and offloading (FPSO) system in the
North Sea at our 100%-owned Leadon field. Installation of the
worlds first truss spar at the company-operated Nansen field in
the deepwater Gulf of Mexico is enabling us to bring reserves into
production more quickly, more safely and more cost-effectively.
Kerr-McGee is replicating this innovative facility for the develop-
ment of its Boomvang and Gunnison fields, also in the deepwater
gulf. This technology remains a competitive advantage in
deepwater basins.

In the chemical unit, technology is helping us stay ahead as
well. Our focus on research and development has resulted in
value-enhancing new pigment grades for our customers. The
introduction of CR-840 in 2001 was well received and accepted
by the plastics market and will serve us well in the future. We
also increased our total gross annual production capacity to
nearly 600,000 tonnes per year.

In addition to these operating successes, Kerr-McGee
generated net income of $486 million, or $4.74 per share, the
second-highest in our company’s 73-year history. Cash flow
from operations, excluding working capital changes, reached
$1.5 billion or $15.87 per share.

Our success is made possible by Kerr-McGee employees
around the world. Iam proud of their dedication and commit-
ment to our ongoing mission of creating value for shareholders.
Our technology advantages, our emphasis on core operating areas
and our people were behind our 2001 performance and will help
us leverage all opportunities to compete effectively in 2002.

Despite the achievements during the past year, depressed
world economies and declining oil prices contributed to an 18%
decrease in our stock price. We are disappointed with this
performance an are working even harder to have the full value
of Kerr-McGee recognized. We must build on our successes
and concentrate on enhancing the profitable growth of our
core operations.

As we look ahead, we are completely focused on capitalizing
on every advantage across our businesses while reducing debt
as a percentage of total capitalization. We are prepared for the
challenges ahead and believe we are well positioned to increase
shareholder value.

In our oil and gas operations, we have consistently generated
prospects with potential for a meaningful impact on our com-
pany. We have an enviable acreage position in high-potential
basins around the world that offers us the opportunity to further
grow Kerr-McGee's reserves and to identify new fields for devel-
opment. Our exploratory drilling program is designed to increase
production and grow our reserve base. We have a pipeline of
projects under development and new discoveries being appraised.
These certainly offer opportunities for further production
growth. With the added production from new fields such as
Leadon and Skene in the North Sea and Nansen and Boomvang
in the Gulf of Mexico, our volumes are expected to grow ata
double-digit rate in 2002.

Kerr-McGee’s extensive experience with subsea technology
is enabling the rapid and cost-effective development of recent
discoveries in the North Sea and the Gulf of Mexico through
existing infrastructure. Key for our future production growth is
the development of our Gunnison field in the deepwater gulf
with our third truss spar platform. This development is under
way and will provide another hub facility, allowing for value-
enhancing exploitation of our surrounding acreage.

In chemicals, we continue to enhance our production
processes and to improve our operating efficiencies. These
improvements will serve us well as world economies recover.

We pursue our business objectives in ways that ensure the
safety of people and the protection of the natural environment.
The Minerals Management Service of the U.S. Department of
the Interior again recognized Kerr-McGee in 2001 as the safest
environmental steward among highly active operators in the
Gulf of Mexico. For the third time in five years, our employees
won the National Offshore Safety Award For Excellence. We
apply the same high safety and environmental standards
throughout our worldwide operations.

Kerr-McGee employees also have a long tradition of
responding to community needs. I am especially proud of the
generous donations by the active and retired members of our
Kerr-McGee family to national funds for the victims of the
Sept. 11 attacks.

Our committed employees, our technology and our world-
wide assets provide a strong, balanced foundation to manage
the price volatility and economic cycles that impact our two
industries. Kerr-McGee will capitalize on these resources for
continued growth.

Obe ¥ Grs—

Luke R. Corbett
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

March 2002

Kerr-McGee Corporation 2001 Annual Reporc 3




Valsabile egntise ! i pf e

I('lenln,‘\ dove the sniee ol ko
McCGuees explotation aml ;»m(lm 1)
apetation:. \!u'n,-llu(mn;' s pradinnon ¢
oflshare snovatm, tha vonipans 1
('!l’.lll('lllr_ 1Es A HVEs il ;Ilf‘l(.l‘tl”rl;
deeper waters i the Gl of Mot wnd
other hugli-porential lasne. Ken-Me G
now ranks as one of the premier deepwarar
operators amony: independent explisranon
and production companics.

In 2001, the efficient developmen
of the Nansen and Boomivang fields in the
decpwater gulf with the world’s first truss
spars set a new standard for the industry.
In the North Sea, a state-of-the-art floating
production vessel started producing oil
from Kerr-McGee's Leadon field less than
a year after project approval. As Kerr-
McGee’s exploration program expands into
other areas around the world, experience in
the engineering and operation of such pro-
duction systems represents an important
competitive advantage.

Drilling success during 2001 resulted
in discoveries of new oil and gas fields and
in reserve additions that replaced nearly
three times the year’s production of 108
million barrels of oil equivalent (BOE).
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Proved reserves increased for the
fourth straight year. Kerr-McGee replaced
490% of 2001 production at a finding,
development and acquisition cost of

$5.73 per BOE. The drill bit gencrated
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Exploration and Production

(Millions of dollars, except per-unit amounts) 2001 2000
Sales $2,511  $2,860
Operating profit " 1,007 1,470
Net operating profit ) $ 634 5 939
Net production of crude oil and condensate

(thousands of barrels per day) 198 207
Average price of crude oil sold (per barrel) $22.58  $27.64
Natural gas sales (millions of cubic feet per day) 596 531
Average price of natural gas sold (per thousand cubic feet) $38 5387

" Excluding special items.
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mane than half of the reserve additions.
FHic halance was added by the acquisition
of HS Resonrees, Inc., a natural gas pro-
ducer operaring primarily in Colorado’s
Denver Juleshurg basin,

Eacluding the acquisition, the 2001
finding, and development cost was $6.15
per BOL, resulting in a three-year average
of $5.51 per BOL. Exploratory and
appraisal drilling added 314 million BOE
t the reserve base, mostly in the deepwater
Gulf of Mexico, the United Kingdom sector
of the North Sca and China’s Bohai Bay.

Proved reserves increased 39% to
1.5 billion BOE after 2001 production,
with net reserve additions totaling 529 mil-
lion BOL.

Kerr-McGec's reserves are balanced
at 56% oil and 44% natural gas. Geo-
graphically, more than 85% of the reserves
are located in the United States and the

North Sea.

TECHNOLOGY ‘FIRST’

The truss spar for Kerr-McGee's Nansen field

Is upended In 3,675 feet of water, bringing new
production technology to the deepwater Gulf of
Mexico. Only 9 miles away, the Boomvang field
Is being developed with an almost Identical
truss spar.
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2002 Budgzot to Fund Fleld
Dovalopmonts, Exploration Wells

The 200 Copmal |-uu|,'u| af $ K0 nul
ben sl i balie complenon of the
Leadon, Shenes Nawsen and Boonivang,
deselopinente as well as several new proj
corn hese indide Cannison and Navajo
e the Canl of Mexico and “Tullich and
Machne i the Nonth Sea.

The company also has budgeted
$170 million o drill 20 to 30 exploratory
wellv Of these, 1010 15 are planned in
the deepwater gull. where Kerr-McGee
is the largest leascholder and producer
smong mdependent exploration and
prochiction companics.

Truss Spar Efficient New
Technology for Deepwater Fields

The truss spar technology, first used
a1 the Nansen and Boomvang fields, rep-
resents the latest addition to Kerr-McGee's
advanced production systems.

‘The company began building valu-
able infrastructure in the deepwater Gulf
of Mexico in the early *90s. Technological
inmovations include Neptune, the first
production spar, in 1996; Baldpate, the
first articulated compliant tower, in 1998;
and Conger, a field developed in 2000
witlt high-pressure multiwell subsea trees.

"Fhe truss spar design is a new version
of the original production spar at Kerr-
McGee's Neprune field in 1,930 feet of
water. Neptune proved that a large float-
ing cylinder, moored in vertical position,
is exceptionally stable and can be used in
much deeper water than conventional
fixed-lop, facilities.

Data from Neptune helped the fabri-
cator develop a spar with an open truss
stmcnnre, enhancing performance while

KERR-McGEE
GLOBAL PRODUCER V

Ol and gas tron the Nansen fleld started flowing
in January 2002 to tho first truss spar platform,
the Kem-McGoo Global Producer V. This innovative
facliity can process up to 40,000 barrels of oll and
200 million cubic foet of gns per day.

6 Kert-Mctiee Corpatauon 2000 Annual Repon

reducing size and cost. An nmpaontan
aclvantage of the spar over other svstems v
that it can be pulled aside Taer, withom
interrupting production, w make roon
for a drilling rig. This allows staged fickd
developrent. Years later, at the end of a
ficld’s productive life, a spar platform can
be moved to a new field development.
Kerr-McGee’s experienced deepwater
team st a fast and cost-efficient pace
for the simultaneous development of the
Nansen and Boomvang fields. Early
planning made it possible to use all of
the carefully positioned explorarory and
appraisal wells as part of eventual ficld
development, saving, the time and cost
of drilling new production wells. At

512 million or more per well, these savings
addded v 1o a significant positive impact
on fickd cconomics. Development with
almost idenical facilities reduced engineer-
ing and Tabrication costs and also will
teduee ongoing operating costs.

"The two truss spar platforms were
designed with excess capacity to serve as
processing hubs for oil and gas production
trom satellite ficlds, reducing the time
and cost of future developments in this
core arca.

Options for ficld development in
the deepwater Gulf of Mexico increased
recently. The U.S. government has
announced thar applications will be
accepted for use of floating production,
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storage and offloading (FPSO) vessels.
These cost-efficient facilities offload oil
into shurtle tankers, eliminating the need
for oil pipelines. Kerr-McGee’s experi-
ence with FPSO technology in the North
Sea could be a competitive advantage in
the gulf and future field developments in

international areas.

Nansen, Boomvang Projects
Prove Success of Core Area
Strategy in Gulf of Mexico

The Nansen and Boomvang
projects are proving the effectiveness of
Kerr-McGee's focus on core operating
areas. By year-end, development drilling
at Nansen (KM 50%) on East Breaks
blocks 602 and 646 had increased esti-
mated reserves to a range of 140 million
to 180 million BOE.

Nansen began production in January
2002, less than two years after the company
sanctioned development. Daily rates are
expected to peak at about 40,000 barrels
of oil and 80 million cubic feet of gas
during the fourth quarter of 2002. Addi-
tional volumes will flow from Navajo on
East Breaks block 690 (KM 50%), a satel-
lite field scheduled to begin production in

Gasd-ccilmpres?lon R

and oll-pumpin

platgormp g\ T
363

Gas pipeline to
Markham, Texas  Qil pipeline to
\ Texas City, Texas

2%

sojjw 0Tt

L

1000’

Navajo
4200'
The truss spar platforms in the
EaStArBerga ks deepwater Nansen and Boomvang flelds
form the hubs of a new core operating
area. Navajo Is the first Nansen satellite
field under development.

mid-2002 as a tieback to the Nansen spar.

Boomvang (KM 30%), on East Breaks
blocks 642, 643 and 688, is expected to
start up in the second quarter and peak at
32,000 barrels of oil and 165 million cubic
feet of gas per day. Reserves are estimated
at 70 million to 100 million BOE.

Exploratory and appraisal drilling
will continue during 2002 in the Nansen-
Boomvang area, where Kerr-McGee
operates 20 of its 21 blocks with interests
averaging 43%.

Fabrication of a third truss spar
is under way for the Gunnison area (KM
50%) in about 3,100 feet of water on
Garden Banks blocks 667, 668 and 669.
Kerr-McGee will develop reserves esti-
mated at 120 million BOE at Gunnison
and Durango, a satellite field. Initial pro-
duction is expected in early 2004.

The Gunnison spar platform will
become the hub of a new operating area in
deep water. At year-end, the company held
more than 40 blocks in the Gunnison area,
with interests averaging about 66%.

Development options are being evalu-
ated for another deepwater discovery, Red
Hawk on Garden Banks block 877, oper-

ated by Kerr-McGee with 50% interest.
Reserves are estimated at 300 billion to 500
billion cubic feet of gas equivalent. Appraisal
drilling continues in this area, where the
company holds interests in 20 blocks.

Deepwater fields contributed 39,500
barrels of oil and 124 million cubic feet
of gas per day in 2001, about 60% of
Kerr-McGee's net production in the Gulf
of Mexico.

Deep Water Offers Best Worldwide
Exploration Opportunities

A key element of Kerr-McGee's
exploration strategy is to maintain a five-
year inventory of high-quality prospects
that support drilling of more than 20
exploratory wells per year. The goal is to
increase reserves and production at a com-
petitive finding and development cost.

Kerr-McGee has achieved remarkable
deepwater success by identifying and
acquiring a large number of prospects and
drilling the best of the best. Worldwide
gross exploratory acreage increased about
50% in 2001 to 81 million acres. Of
these, 63 million acres lie in high-potential
deepwater basins around the globe.

Five years ago, Kerr-McGee identified
deep water as the exploration target that
offers the best balance of risk and reward to
profitably grow the company and increase
value for stockholders. Kerr-McGee's oil
and gas professionals know how to identify
promising prospects based on the experi-
ence gained from drilling more than 150
deepwater wells, and they know how to effi-
ciently deploy innovative production tech-
nology in this challenging environment.

The Gulf of Mexico continues to
offer the best near-term potential for deep-
water activities. Better rig availability
and expanding infrastructure allow timely
development, increasing the value of
discoveries. Kerr-McGee acquired 58
deepwater blocks in 2001, clustered in
core areas of the gulf where existing infra-
structure or multiple prospects enhance
the probability and economics of future
developments.

Kerr-McGee Corporation 2001 Annual Reporc 7



(oo Worldwide

U.S. Onshore

1.6 million acres

Ol and preas dactivities e
conductced m Colorad,
Lowstina, New Meaico,
Oklahomg and Tewr.

Ken-McGee drills a natural
gas prospect in Oklahoma.

Gulf of Mexico
2.3 million acres
The guif is the company’s

The truss spar for the deep-
water Nansen field arrives
In the Gulf of Mexico on a
heavy-lift transport vessel.

The Discoverer 534 drills
for Kerr-McGee In the
deopwater Guif of Mexico.
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the new Leadon Beld in the North Sea. :

Kazakhstan i

1.5 miilion acres \ ;
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i :
North Sea

1.9 milllon acres

mescolntemational il &
o gae activities, ]

Yemen
7.9 mI[IIon acres

\\ j

j-" J,*’ 2.5 million acres \
/ Kerr-McGee plans to \
; / start exploratory \
f,»" drilling in late 2002
/ on a block that
/ covers Benin’s entire
Morocco / deepwater area. The
30.2 million acres ' company is operator  aDON
Additional 3-D seismic data with 100% interest 5.6 million acres
will be acquired in 2002 on the ' Kerr-McGee holds three
3 million-acre Cap Draa Haute deepwater blocks with
Mer block (KM 25%), where interests of 14% to 25%.
initial drilling is planned in
2003. The company also has
acquired a 100% reconnais-
sance permit for the 27.2
million-acre Boujdour block. KerrMcGee's undeveloped gross
acreage as of Jan. 1, 2002

. Production



Bohai Bay, China
1.3 million acres
Kerr-McGee is working toward a development
plan that will include four discoveries in China’s
Bohai Bay, where the company operates three
__.blocks. Appraisal of the discoveries on blocks
04/36 and 05/36 (KM 82% and 50% foreign
£ contractor’s interest) is under way.

P T

i
' Thaiténd
4.9 million acres Australia
(expires in 2002) .5 million acres

err-McGee has interests of 33% to
50% in six deepwater blocks offshore
Western Australia. A seismic survey
was completed in 2001 on the
company-operated block WA 295 in
preparation for drilling in late 2002.

Timor Sea

346,000 acres
Development of the Bayu-
Undan gas condensate field
(KM 11.2%) is under way.
The project is expected to

. Start up in 2004.

Indonesia

.; North Sea
2001 PRODUCTION i,
108 million BOE 41 million BOE

Gulf of Mexico
36 million BOE

The United States
and the North Sea
accounted for 94%
of KerrMcGee's
2001 oil and gas
production.

4
U.S. Onshore
T 24 million BOE

celiiog A it s e

Other International
7 million BOE

Vb o, A0

Majo

(Kerr-McGee interest and
gross 2001 production)

@ Gulf of Mexico
Baldpate (50%)

Garden Banks 260 area
48,500 b/d, 145 MMcf/d

Conger (25%)
Garden Banks 215
24,500 b/d, 91 MMcf/d

Garden Banks 65 (60%)
61 MMcf/d

Neptune (50%)
Viosca Knoll 826 area
13,800 b/d, 28 MMcfid

Pompano (25%)
Viosca Knoll 989 area
30,600 b/d, 51 MMcf/d

Northwestern (25%)
Garden Banks 200
83 MMcfid

& U.S. Onshore
Wattenberg field (94%)
Weld and Adams
counties, Colorado

204 MMcfld

Acquired August 2001

Doubie A (40%)
Polk County, Texas
4,900 b/d, 76 MMcf/d

Indian Basin (55%)
Eddy County, New Mexico
50 MMcf/d

¢ North Sea
Andrew (6.6%)

Block 16/27a

42,600 b/d, 41 MMcf/d

Brae area (8%-10%)
Blocks 16/2a, 16/3a,
16/3b, 16/7a

52,400 b/d, 562 MMcf/d

Buckland (33.3%)
Block 9/182
23,600 b/d, 27 MMcf/d

Gryphon (61.5%)
Block 9/18b
17,900 b/d

Harding (25%)
Block 9/23b
59,200 b/d

Janice (50.9%)
Block 30/17a
21,400 b/d

Leadon (100%)
Blocks 9/14a, 9/14b
Began production
November 2001

Murchison (68.7%)
Block 211/19a
11,100 b/d

Ninian (44.9%)
Blocks 3/3, 3/8
35,200 b/d

Scott (5.2%)
Blocks 15/21a, 15/22
45,800 b/d, 23 MMcf/d

Skene (33.3%)
Block 9/19

Began production
December 2001

Wytch Farm (7.4%)
Licenses PL089, PL259;
blocks 98/6, 98/7
60,600 b/d

Many of the deepwater blocks were
acquired with large working interests
that allow trading a portion of the interest
for risk-free drilling dollars as part of
exploratory joint ventures. This extensive
acreage and a record of success make
Kerr-McGee a partner of choice in the
deepwater gulf.

A large inventory of high-potential
deepwater prospects along the Adantic
margin and in other international basins
balances the asset portfolio with longer-
term opportunities. Exploration activities
are under way in these areas.

Acaquisition of U.S. Onshore
Natural Gas Properties
Balances Asset Portfolio

Onshore operations in the United
States are located primarily in Colorado,
Louisiana, New Mexico, Oklahoma and
Texas. Production averaged 24,100 bar-
rels of oil and 259 million cubic feet of
gas per day in 2001.

The Rocky Mountain operations
in Colorado became part of Kerr-McGee
in August 2001 with the acquisition of
HS Resources. The transaction added
proved reserves of 1.3 trillion cubic feet
of natural gas equivalent in the giant
Wiartenberg field near Denver, one of the
nation’s fastest-growing energy markets.

The acquisition of these highly
efficient operations balanced Kerr-McGee's
portfolio with long-lived natural gas assets
that offer significant low-risk exploitation
opportunities. Thousands of projects —
such as drilling of new wells, hydraulic
refracturings and well recompletions ~
have been identified and engineered.
These projects could add another 800 bil-
lion cubsic feet of gas equivalent from prob-
able and possible reserves.

Quadrant 9 a Hub of Activity
For North Sea Exploration and
Production Operations

Kerr-McGee continues to strengthen
its position in the United Kingdom sector
of the North Sea, where it is the largest
U.S.-based independent oil producer. The
company has the expertise and the prospect
inventory to continue growing in this
region through exploration of mid-size
targets, exploitation of existing fields and
additional strategic acquisitions.

Kerr-McGee Corporation 2001 Annual Report 9



Kerr-McGee has five producing fields
atd is preparing for development of four
new fields in quadrant 9, its core operat-
ing, area in the North Sea. Use of existing
infrastracinie will allow quick and eco-
nomicil developments at a projected cost
ol abort $4 per BOE,

Fhe company's oil production from
Notih Sea fields averaged 101,900 barrels
per day in 2001, more than half of total
ol prondncuon lor e vear. Production
reespected 1o icrease in 2002 with new
vednaes fram eadon, Skene, Tullich
aned NMachin

10 0 PR I LT O N TP

The Leadon development on blocks
9/14a and 9/14b, owned 100% by Kerr-
McGee, came on stream in November
2001. Production is expected to peak at
abour 40,000 barrels of oil per day in the
second quarter of 2002.

Production from Skene, a subsea
development on block 9/19 (KM 33.3%),
began in December 2001 and is projected
at 165 million cubic feet of gas and 13,000
barrels of liquids per day in 2002.

Tullich, a 2001 discovery on block
9/23a (KM 100%) with reserves of 42 mil-
lion BOE, will be developed as a tieback
to Kerr-McGee’s Gryphon facility on the

TECHNOLOGICAL GIANT

The Kerr-McGee Global Producer Ill, a 712-foot
floating production, storage and offloading
vessel, operates with state-of-the-art equipment
and can store up to 500,000 barrels of oil for
offloading to shuttle tankers.

adjoining block 9/18b. First
production is expected in late 2002.

Another field being developed as a
Gryphon tieback is Maclure on block 9/19
(KM 33.3%). Production is expected to
start in the third quarter of 2002 from
reserves estimated at 24 million BOE.

The Blue Sky and Blue Sky 2 satellite
fields discovered in 2001 on block 9/23a
(KM 100%) could be developed as subsea
tiebacks to existing infrastructure.

Blue Sky
100%

Blue Sky 2

00 \‘

-




State-of-the-Art Facility Adds
Value in Core North Sea Area
Kerr-McGee’s Leadon development
in the North Sea began production in
November 2001 from reserves estimated
i 120 million to 170 million BOE. The
project team relied on the experience
aained from 25 years of exploring and
operating in the North Sea to bring this
ficld on stream less than two years after
liscovery of commercial reserves and less
han a year after government approval.
Fhis development is the largest net invest-
ment in the company’s history and one of
he largest North Sea investments by any
ompany in 2001.

The Leadon area is being developed
vith up to 12 horizontal production wells
onnected to the FPSO in 370 feet of water.

Eight years earlier, just 15 miles south

vt Leadon, Kerr-McGee had set several
Jorth Sea records at its Gryphon field,
here production began only 10 months
Iter government approval of the develop-
rent plan. Gryphon was developed
vith the first FPSO purposely built for a
orth Sea project, and the first developed
here entirely with horizontal wells,

SCOTLAND
Quadrant 9

NORWAY

Gryphon
sisx |

ﬁ' 9/18!)
Maclure

' 9/23" Tullich aclu

100% .
: oth -
) \\\%d *

Hardmg \.3\\\\86
et

9/23b

j<-

Buckland
33.3%

Additional drilling on prospects
around Leadon is planned in the years

ahead to further enhance the value of

assets in this core North Sea area.

Kerr-McGee Recognized as Gulf’s
Safest Environmental Steward

For the third time in five years, Kerr-
McGee was recognized as the safest envi-
ronmental steward among highly active
oil and gas operators in the Gulf of Mexico.
The company received the National
Offshore Safety Award For Excellence in
2001 for its performance the previous
year. The award is presented by the Min-
erals Management Service of the U.S.
Department of the Interior. Kerr-McGee
also won this prestigious award in 1997
and 1998 and placed among the finalists
in 1999 and 2000.

One measure of the company’s
commitment to safety is the perfect 2001
record of oil and gas employees world-
wide, who completed the year with no
lost-time injuries.

Kerr-McGee has moved beyond com-
pliance to a proactive approach in working
with government agencies and other organi-
zations to continuously improve safety and
enhance pollution-prevention programs.

The Flower Garden Banks National

Marine Sanctuary, some 115 miles from

Beryl

the Texas coast, holds special significance
for Kerr-McGee, the most active operator
near this living coral reef. Here and in
other areas, the company supports environ-
mental education and marine conservation
projects of federal agencies and organiza-
tions such as the National Oceanic and
Atmospheric Administration, National
Geographic Society and Texas State
Aquarium.

The Texas General Land Office,
responsible for spill response and protection
of state waters, recognized Kerr-McGee's
environmental efforts with the 2001 Oil
Spill Prevention and Response Act Award
for Excellence. The company’s deepwater
drilling group won the award for safe han-
dling of drilling fluids and fuel at its Texas
shore bases and in state waters.

Onshore, the company’s employees in
eastern Oklahoma were recognized by the
Environmental Federation of Oklahoma
for operating as responsible citizens, good
neighbors and environmental stewards.

Top performance in the protection
of people and the environment enhances
Kerr-McGee's reputation as a responsible
operator and opens the doors to new
opportunities around the world.

Glassel
100%

9/14a

-

Oil and gas activities are expanding In quad-
rant 9, Kerr-McGee's core operating area in the
North Sea. The blocks shown in darker yellow
are operated by the company, and the percent-
ages indicate working interest. (Not to scale.
For itlustration purposes, only Ker-McGee-
related fields are shown.)
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Focusing on the profitable growah
of its ritantum dioxide CHOLY opernions,
Kerr-McGee's chienncal urin has grown
into the worlds third Lirgest producer and
nuarketer of this inongnic whie pignent,
Phie carabst for the conpanys siceess s s
proprictary diloride process rechnology.

Today, Kerr-McGee offers high-
quatlity grades for virnally all titanium
dioxide pigment applications from produc-
tion facilitics on three continents. The
conypany is one of only a few producers
that own chloride technology. This process
produces a pigment with optical properties
preferred by most market segments, includ-
ing the coatings and plastics industries,
which are the two largest TiO2 markets.
Titanium dioxide whitens, brightens and
opacifies these and numerous other con-
sumer and industrial products.

After several years of growing demand,
ritanium dioxide producers faced the chal-
lenge of deteriorating global markets in
2001. Pigment consumption, which
closcly follows general economic trends,
began slowing in late 2000 and worsened
throngle 2001, The result was the most
wevere decline intitanium dioxide demand
nn nore than 20 years. In addidion, prices
canie mder pressure, especially during
the sevand half of the year. These condi-
twars tesnhied moa 639 decline in Kerr-
St operanng, profit from chemicals

TN 1 PPRTTETY I Y R 2001 2000
Sales igpment $ 931 $1.034
(il 196 227
“Foual $1,127  $1,261
Operating profit''— Pigment $ 656 $ 168
Other 13 t7
Total $ 69 § 185
Net operating profit!’—  Pigment $ 37 5§ 106
Other 9 11
Tortal $ 46 § 117

Gross worldwide titanium dioxide pigment
production (thousands of tonnes) 483 480

2 Excloding special tenes.
f

compared with 2000. Titanium dioxide
contributed 81% of the chemical unit’s
operating profit for 2001, with the balance
coming from the electrochemicals and
forest products groups.

Kerr-McGee rationalized overall
titanium dioxide capacity by closing its
smallest, highest-cost pigment plant in
Antwerp, Belgium, at year-end 2001 and
by reducing production volumes at other
locations. The company also stepped up
ongoing cost-control efforts and delayed
expansion projects. The 2002 capial
budget was reduced by 41% from 2001
capital expenditures to about $90 million.
The budget will primarily fund replace-
ment and environmental projects. With
these prudent measures, Kerr-McGee is
well positioned to capitalize on market
improvements projected for the second
halt of 2002.

New Grades Position Kerr-McGee
As TiO, Industry Market Leader

A strong product portfolio, efficient
production technology and experienced
people are among the most important
assets in the titanium dioxide pigment
industry. Kerr-McGee has all three.

The introduction of three new pig-
ment grades during the past three years has
enhanced the company’s position as a
market leader in the industry. CR-840, a
chloride grade introduced in 2001 for use
in plastics, offers many performance advan-
tages over competing products and holds
exciting potential. The company also has

Dr. Kelly A. Green, vice president of global
technical sales and service, presents TRONOX®
CR-840, a high-performance pigment grade for
plastics. It is the newest grade In a strong
portfolio of titanium dioxide pigments that whiten
and brighten coatings, plastics and a wide range
of other products.







strengthened research of sulfate grades.
which will lead to new and improved
product offerings in the future.

The company’s pigment is marketed

under the TRONOX" label. Kerr-McGiee

uses its proprictary chloride technology
to produce about 70% of annual owpurn;
about 30% is produced hy the sulfue
process.
Global Pigment Operations
Prepared for Market Recovery

The strong, produce porttolio and
expericnead professionls, ombined with
p‘;llll and It'(hnnh-;',\ niuprovennTnts,
enable Kete MoGec o capitabize onily

anticipared nathet recovay Pradncnon

and marketing, operations serve hoth
regional and mubiiiond customers,
particubady i the Anreticas, Tinope
and e Ast/Paciti teptolt,
Modilicmons mider way ar the
| Lenlion |rl.n|| m Nissisiprp L mited
States, will iprose the Chlonede pracess
Y lllu-lu:,‘_\ and ('\'Lllhl il RIANENIAY
froe PSSO onmmes teomone than
200000 reaines

|Il|||||||.l| ' .lllll.ll (‘).lh'lltllllll( \illlll.ll llllllh

Iy vear cnd 2000 wuh

freanons can e nade an the compams
othar duee Chliade plants as prgmens

o |n.|||-| pmes | he |l|.|l||-. Al lu n .nnl
at Savanmah (8 wolya), Ulineed Seaness
wotlel, Netherlandes and Rwatnana

(W estern Anstaleo, Avsieale,

Nert McGee abo operates sulfate-
process taniv dioxide plants at Savannah
and ar Uerdingen, Germany.

Stnce 1997, plant expansions and
acpisttions have increased total gross
production capacity almost threefold to
neatly 600,000 nnes per year. The recent
advances in chloride technology position
the contpany for additional low-cost
expansions as market conditions warrant.

While the chemical unit expects a
sttony recovery of world markets by the
second half of 2002, it also is prepared to
apetare more ellicientdy under challenging
cconomic conditions. The projected
tecovery would incrcase global pigment
consumption by an estimated 2% to 3%
for the year, lollowed by a 5% increase
in 2003.

% Botliek F £ u
\ Uerdingen Wi
i g
o F
p ad# Zurich '
N
Oktahoma City Savannah e ;
Atianta
¢ Titanium dioxide plant Dallas
Technical sales and service Hamiliton €
@ Sales office Singapore

Kerr-McGee operates pigment 3 ¢

plants and technical sales . ; €

and service laboratories on Perth—

three continents. /

Kwinana

KERR-McGEE’S PIGMENT PLANTS
{Annual capacity as of March 1, 2002)
CHLORIDE PROCESS SULFATE PROCESS
Hamiiton, United States Uerdingen, Germany Y0
188.000 tonnes 105,000 tonnes
Savannah, United States | Savannah, United States
91.000 tonnes 54,000 tonnes
Botlek, Netherlands
62,000 tonnes
Kwinana, Australia
95,000 tonnes
(KM 50% interest)
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Joint Venture Develops New Business
Avestor Corporation, a 50%-50%
joint venture with Montreal-based Hydro-
Québec, was formed in 2001 to develop,
produce and market a proprietary lithium-
metal-polymer battery for use in tele-
communications, utility peak shaving and
electric vehicles. Production is expected
to begin in late 2002 from a new plant
being constructed in Boucherville

(Quebec), Canada.
Other Operations

Kerr-McGee's chemical unit operates
wood-preserving and electrochemical
plants in the United States. The forest
products division provides wood-treating
services to the U.S. railroad industry at
six plants strategically located in the states
of Illinois, Indiana, Mississippi, Missour,
Oregon and Texas.

The primary electrochemical prod-
ucts are manganese dioxide, 2 major com-
ponent of alkaline barteries, and sodium

chlorate, used in pulp bleaching by the
pulp and paper industry. The company is
investigating options for divesting the
electrochemical operations.

Safety and Environmental
Performance Continue to Improve

The chemical unit continued to make
significant progress in 2001 toward its goal
of zero accidents and zero environmental
incidents. Excellent safety practices are
symbolized by the Star Worksite banner
flying over 11 company facilities in the
United States. Star is the highest recogni-
tion under the voluntary protection
programs of the Occupational Safety and
Health Administration of the U.S. Depart-
ment of Labor.

For the year, the chemical unit’s rate of
recordable incidents was 69% better than
the latest available industry averages, and
the rate for its contractors was 61% better.

All of the company's pigment facil-
ities have achieved certification under the
international ISO 9000 quality standard,
and eight facilities have been certified to
the ISO 14000 environmental standard.

These include the forest products plants
and the pigment and electrolytic plants at
Hamilton, Mississippi. Work is in progress
to obtain ISO 14000 certification at other
chemical operations.

The ISO 9000 and 14000 standards
promote consistency in the management
of quality and environmental processes.
Third-party registrars verify compliance.

The chemical operations participate
in other voluntary programs, including
the Responsible Care® program of the
American Chemistry Council and the
Coatings Care” initiative of the National
Paint and Coatings Association. Both
programs promote continuous improve-
ment in safety, health and environmental
performance. Pracrices are in place at
Kerr-McGee for all the management
codes of the Responsible Care program.

Employees also are involved in their
local communities. In 2001, recognition

of such efforts included the Southern
Nevada Distinguished Business of the Year
Award presented to the electrolytic plant
at Henderson by the state government.
Safety, environmental stewardship
and community service represent an
important part of Kerr-McGee’s commit-
ment to continuous improvement in all
aspects of its chemical operations.

sif Goatings, Located near the Rhine
‘Riveg, the pléint serves customers in
~—-#fope and around the world.
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Terms

Acreage: Land or offshore area leased or licensed for oil and gas
exploration and production.

Appraisal drilling: Drilling carried out after the discovery ofa
new field to obtain more information on the physical exient,
amount of reserves and likely production rate.

Articulated compliant tower: A frecstanding, flexible production
facility that moves or “complics” with wave forces. Kerr-McGees
Baldpate facility in the CGulf of Mexico features i articulaion point
that further enhances flexibiliny and represents anindusny “first.”

b/d: Barrel per day (42 ULS, gallons).

BOE: Burrels of oil equivalent, One barrel o il equals 6,000
cubic feer of watural gas.

Chloride process: Onc of two processes used to produce titanium
dioxide pigment. This process accounts for about 70% of Kerr-
McGee's worldwide pigment production capacity.

Condensate: Hydrocarbon liquids that exist in gaseous form in
the reservoir but condense to liquids as the gas flows to the surface.

Deep water: More than 1,000 feet deep.

Development: Dirilling of wells following an ol or gas discovery,
and bringing a field into production.

Discovery well: An exploratory well that finds a new petroleum
deposit or opens a new formation in an established field.

Exploitation: Additional drilling or application of new technology
to further extend production and reserves of an existing field.

Exploratory well: A well drilled to test the presence of oil or gas
in an undeveloped area.

Floating production, storage and offloading (FPSO) system:
A moored ship-shaped facility capable of producing oil from
athsca wells and storing and offloading the oil into shuctle tankers.
Kerr-McGee's Gryphon and Leadon fields in the North Sea use
FPSOks.

Gross acres or gross production: The total number of acres or
the tonal production vohime in which a company owns an interest.

independent: An oil and gas exploration and production company
not engaged i petroleum refining and marketing or “downstream”
operations. Kerr-McGee becanie an independent after selling

its refining business in 1995,

MMef/d: Million cubic feet of naral gas per day.
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Prospect: A specified location or an area targeted for leasing
and drilling.

Proved reserves: Estimated quantities of oil and natural gas
thar geological and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable
certainty to be recoverable in future years from known Teservoirs
under existing economic and operating conditions.

Reservoir: A porous, permeable sedimentary rock formation
containing oil and/or natural gas, enclosed or surrounded by layers
of less permeable or impervious rock.

Seismic survey: ‘Technique for determining the structure of
underground rock formations by sending energy waves or sound
waves into the earth and recording the wave reflections. Three-
dimensional scismic surveys provide enhanced dara for determin-
ing well locations.

Spar: A deep-floating cylindrical hull. Kerr-McGee operates
the industry’s first production spar, installed in 1996 at the
Neptune field in the Gulf of Mexico. This spar platform began
production in 1997.

Subsea tieback: An offshore field developed with one or more
wells completed on the seafloor, using subsea trees. The wells arc
connected by flowlines and umbilicals — the pathways for electrical
and hydraulic signals — to a production facility in another area.

Subsea tree: Seafloor installation of the assembly of valves
through which a well is produced.

Sulfate process: One of two processes used to produce titanium
dioxide pigment.

Ti02: Molecular formula for titanium dioxide pigment.

Titanium dioxide pigment: The world’s preferred whitener,
brightener and opacifier for paint, coatings, plastics, paper and
many other products. This inorganic white pigment is Kerr-
McGee's major chemical product.

Tonne: Metric ton (1,000 kilograms or 2,204.62 pounds).

Truss spar: A new version of the “classic” spar. A truss structure
replaces the lower portion of the cylindrical hull, improving
performance while reducing size and cost. The world’s first truss
spar was installed in 2001 at Kerr-McGee's Nansen field in the
deepwater Gulf of Mexico. -

Working interest: A cost-bearing interest in a well expressed
as a percentage of the whole.



Directors

William E. Bradford, 67 -
Became a director in 1999,
Retired; Chairman of
Halliburton Company, a
provider of energy and
cenergy services, from 1998
to 2000; Chairman and
Chief Execurtive Officer of
Dresser Industrics, Inc., now
merged with Hallibureon
Company, from 1996 to
1998. Director, Valero
Energy Corporation.

Y \
Luke R. Corbett, 55 -
Director since 1995. Chair-
man and Chief Executive
Officer of the company
since 1999 and from 1997
0 1999; Chief Executive |
Officer from February to
May 1999: President and
Chief Operating Officer
from 1995 t0 1997. Dircc-
tor, OGE Energy Corp.,
BOK Financial Corpora-
tion and Noble Drilling
Corporation. ‘

March 2002

Sylvia A. Earle, 66 -
Became a director in 1999.
Chair of Deep Ocean
Exploration and Rescarch,
Inc., since 1992 and
Explorer-in-Residence for
the National Geographic
Society since 1998,

David C. Genever-
Watling. 56 — Became a
director in 1999. President
of GW Enterprises LLC,
an investment and manage-
ment firm, since 1998;
Manuging Director, SMG
Management L.1.C., an
mvestment finm, from 1997
t0 2000. Previously Presi-
dent and Chief Execurive
Ofticer of General Electric
Industrial and Power
Systems.

Martin C. Jischke, 60 -
Director since 1993, Presi-
dent of Purdue University
since 2000; President of lowa
State University from 1991
t0 2000. Director, Wabash
National Corporation.

| since 1988, Chairman of the |

| Dircctorsince 1990. Retireds

World Wide, Inc., since
2000; Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of Capitol
Coating Technologies, Inc.,
from 1999 to 2000; Presi-
dent of Intrepid World

0 1999: Vice President and
General Counsel for Auto-
motive Legal Affairs, Chrysler
Corporation, 1990 to 1997.
Director, Infinii, Inc.,

and the companies in the
Seligman family of invest-
ment companies, with the
exception of Seligman Cash
Management Fund, Inc.

William C. Morris. 63 -
Director since 1977. Chair-
man of ). & W. Seligman

& Co. Incorporated; Chair-
man of Tri-Continenta
Corporation and Chairman
of the Boards of the compa-
nies in the Seligman family
of investment companies, all |

Board of Carbo Ceramics,
Inc., since 1987.

Matthew R. Simmons,

58 — Director since 1999,
President of Simmons &
Company International, a
specialized investment
banking firm that serves the
worldwide energy services
industry, since founding
the company in 1974,

John J. Murphy, 70 -

Managing Director of SMG |
Management L.L.C., an
investment hirm, from
1997 to0 2000: Chairman
of Dresser Industries, Ine.,
from 1983 to 1996.
Director, Carbo Ceramics,
Inc., PepsiCo Inc., W. R.
Grace & Co. and Shaw
Industries, Lid. He will
retire from the Kerr-McGee
board as of May 14, 2002,
the date of the annual
meeting of shareholders.

Nicholas J. Sutton, 57 —
Director since January
2002. Founder, Chairman
and Chief Executive Offi-
cer of HS Resources, Inc.,
an independent energy
company. from 1978 to
August 2001, when the
company was acquired by
Kerr-McGee.

Leroy C. Richie, 60 —
Director since 1998. Chair-
man and Chief Execurive

Officer of Q Standards

Communications from 1998 |

Farah M. Walters, 57 -
Director since 1993.
President and Chief Execu-
tive Officer of University
Hospitals Health System,

| Cleveland, Ohio, since

1992. Director. PolyOne
Corporation.

lan L. White-Thomson,
65 ~ Became a director in
1999. Execurive Director
of the Los Anggles Opera
from 2000 to September
2001; Chairman of U.S.
Borax, Inc.. a provider of
borax and borate products,
from 1996 to 1999; Presi-
dent and Chief Executive
Officer from 1988 to 1999;
Chief Executive Officer,
Rio Tinto Borax Lid., from

1995 to 1999.
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Excautive Otticer since
Ay 1999 and from 199
to bebmary 1999; Chiel
Lxeanive Olicer from
Fehrnary 1o Ny 1999,
President and Chiel
Operating, Oflicet from
1995 10 1997, Joined
Kerr-McGee in 1985,

Kenneth W. Crouch, 58,
Senior Vice President (oil
and gas exploration and
production) since 1998;
Senior Vice President
responsible for oil and gas
exploration from 1996 to
1998: Senior Vice President
of North American and
International Exploration,
Exploration and Production
Division, trom 1996 to
1997, Joined the company
in 1974,

Major Subsidiaries

Gregory F. Plicher. 1.

Serion Viee Prestdent,
Ceneral Connsel and
Cotporate Secietay sinee
Joly rou; Vice President,
General Counsel and
Corporate Secrerary rom
1999 10 2000: Depty
Ceeneral Counsel lor Bust
ness Transactions from
1998 10 1999: Assoctate/
Asststant General Counsel
for Lirigation and Civil
Proceedings from 1996 o
1998. Joined Kerr-McGee
in 1992.

Robert M. Wohleber, 51,
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
since 1999. Previously held
various positions at the
Freeport-McMoRan group
of companies, including
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

of Freeport-McMoRan Inc.
and President, Chief Exec-

utive Officer and Director
of Freeport McMoRan
Sulphur.
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| W. Peter Woodward, 53,
Senior Vice President
{chemicals) sinee 1997;
Senion Viee President of
Marketing for Kerr-MeGee
Chemieal fram 1996 10
1997; previomsly Business
Dhircator for Pignient. Joined

| Kerr-McGee tn 1972,

Carol A. Schumacher, 45,
Senior Vice President for
Corporate Affairs since
February 2002. Vice Presi-
dent of Public Relations,
The Home Depot* from
1998 to 2001; Executive
Vice President and General
Manager, Atlanta office of
Edelman Public Relations
Worldwide, from 1997 to
1998; previously Executive
Vice President of Cohn &
Wolfe, a division of Young
& Rubicam, Inc.

Theodore Bennett, 49,
joined the company in
March 2002 as Vice Presi-
dent of Human Resources.
Managing Partner, Bennett
and Associates, from April
2001 t February 2002;
Senior Vice President of
Human Resources, Comer-
ica, toe., from 1997 to
March 2001; previously
Vice President of External
Affairs, Human Resources
and Senior Legal Counsel,
The Coca-Coca Bottling
Company of New York, Inc.

George D. Christiansen,
57, Vice President (safety
and environmental affairs)
since 1998; Vice President
of Environmental Assess-
ment and Remediation from
1996 to 1998; previously

Vice President of Minerals
Exploration, Hydrology
and Real Estate. Joined
the company in 1968.

John M. Rauh, 52, Vice
President and Controller
since January 2002; Vice
President and Treasurer
from 1996 to 2002; Vice
President and Conrroller
from 1987 to 1996; Joined
the company in 1981.

John F. Relchenberger,
49, Vice President, Deputy
General Counsel and
Assistant Secretary since
July 2000; Assistant Secre-
tary and Deputy General
Counsel from 1999 to 2000;
Deputy General Counsel
from 1998 to 1999; previ-
ously Associate General
Counsel for Remediation
and Risk Management

| and Claims. Joined the

company in 1985.

. Jean B. Wallace, 48,

Vice President of General
Administration since 1996
Vice President, Human
Resources, from 1989 to
1996. Joined Kerr-McGe
in 1979.

March 2002
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Overview

Kerr-McGee Corporation is one of the largest independent exploration and production companies and
titanium dioxide pigment producers in the world. Since the end of 1998, the company’s assets have more
than tripled, proven oil and natural gas reserves have increased more than fivefold through drill bit success
and merger and acquisitions, and the company’s equity production capacity of titanium dioxide pigment
has increased 85% through acquisition of plants and expansion of existing facilities.

Operating Environment and Outlook

The volatility of crude oil and natural gas prices has a signifi-
cant influence on the profitability of Kerr-McGee's oil and gas
exploration and production business.

The U.S. and world economies slowed throughout the year,
lowering demand for both oil and natural gas. U.S. oil consump-
tion for 2001 marked the first decline in a decade. The decline,
which began in the third quarter, was due in large part to a com-
bination of sharply reduced air travel following the September 11
terrorist attacks, the continued lackluster economy, fuel switching
from residual fuel to natural gas, weak demand for petrochemical
feedstocks and warm winter temperatures.

The lower demand caused downward pressure on prices.
OPEC responded by reducing its market share in an effort to
support prices. However, ol prices declined 34% through 2001.
OPEC pressured several large non-OPEC producers to join them
in additional production cuts at year-end. Global consumption
was down or flat except in China and the Asia-Pacific areas. Oil
demand is expected to remain weak during the first half of 2002,
but as anticipated industrial production improves, increased
demand will be an important driver for higher crude oil prices.

Natural gas prices, already suffering from a slowing U.S.
economy, were further weakened by temporary disuptions in the
economy caused by the terrorist attacks. The closing of offices,
shutdown of factories and layoffs were a continuing part of the
2001 business landscape. Warmer-than-normal weather conditions,
which marked the start of the 2001-02 winter, created record-high
gas storage that has the potential to mitigate any recovery in gas
prices in the months ahead. Recovery of hydroelectric generation
from the devastating impact of last year's drought in the Pacific
Northwest reduced natural gas demand in the power generation
sector and added to an already increasing supply. A surge in deep-
water Gulf of Mexico new wellhead capacity is expected to con-
tinue. Production capacity in the northern Rockies is also sched-
uled to increase with the addition of major gathering systems and
accelerating coalbed methane recovery operations. Gas prices
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declined more than 70% from the extraordinary highs in January
2001 as a result of oversupply; mild weather in the U.S. and large
supply increases from Canada.

The company enters 2002 with OPEC having significantly
more excess capacity than last year, lower market share and less
anticipated revenue. Gas storage in both Canada and the U.S. is
at extremely high levels by historical measures.

Drilling activity responds to market signals. In the U.S,,
nearly 1,300 rotary rigs were working in mid-2001, but only 885
remained working at year-end. The reaction in gas drilling-related
activitics was even more dramatic. As the expected increase in
natural gas demand occurs, production capacity will again
demonstrate the delicate balance between supply and demand.

The company is the third-largest producer of titanium dioxide
(Ti0;) pigment and is one of five companies that own proprietary
chloride technology. The chloride process produces a pigment
with optical properties preferred by the paint and plastics indus-
tries. In early 2002, 70% of the company’s pigment production
capacity was derived from chloride technology, with the remainder
from sulfate technology, which produces pigment used in paper,
food products and cosmetics.

Titanium dioxide is a “quality-of-life” product, and its con-
sumption follows general economic trends. Throughout 2001,
recessionary pressures plagued the paint and plastics industries,
which represent more than 70% of the pigment market. In
response to rising inventory levels and falling prices, the company
continued its implementation of cost-reduction and operational
performance improvement initiatives as indicated by the com-
pany closing its sulfate-route TiO; pigment plant in Antwerp,
Belgium, at year-end 2001.

During recent months, there has been modest improvement
in the leading U.S. economic indicators and the Euro-zone gross
domestic product, and effective March 1,2002, the company,
announced an increase in titanium dioxide pigment prices. The
company expects to see general economic improvement in both
North America and Europe as well as renewed growth in the
Asian markets, and management is confident that actions taken in
2001 have positioned the company for growth.




Following arc sclling, general and administrative expenses
for 2001, 2000 and 1999:

(Milkions af dollrs) b 2001 2000 1999

Selling, general and administrative

expenses excluding special items $233  $193  $184

Special irems —
Pending/settled litigacion - 8 30
Transition costs associated wich
the Orvx merger and the purchase
of two pigment plants - 4 22
Severance payments 4 — —_

Total 4 12 52
Selling, general and administrative expenses  $237 $205  $236

The 2001 selling, general and administrative expenses exclud-
ing special items increased $40 million, or 21%, from 2000. This
increase resulted principally from the acquisition of HS Resources,
Inc. in mid-2001, completion of the integration of the two chemical
plants acquired in the second quarter of 2000, higher costs for infor-
mation technology projects, higher incentive compensation based
on 2000 performance and higher chemical warchousing costs due
to more product in inventory. Selling, general and administrative
expenses excluding special items for 2000 increased 5% compared
with 1999. The increase was primarily due to higher general and
administrative costs associated with the purchased pigment plants.

Shipping and handling expenses totaled $119 million in 2001,
$100 million in 2000 and $80 million in 1999. The increase in
2001 is primarily due to exploration and production’s higher natural
gas sales volumes and increased costs in the UK., Kazakhstan and
Indonesia. The 2000 increase was due principally to higher explo-
ration and production and chemical sales volumes.

Depreciation and depletion expenses for 2001, 2000 and 1999
were $723 million, $684 million and $607 million, respectively.
The 2001 amount includes $16 million of special items for discon-
tinued capital projects and write-off of certain assets no longer used
in pigment operations. Excluding these special irems, the $23 mil-
lion increase in 2001 was mainly the result of the HS Resources
acquisition, the oil and gas producrion mix in the other regions and
a full year of depreciation for the two chemical plants acquired in
the second quarter of 2000. The 2000 increase over 1999 was the
result of increased North Sea oil and gas production and the acqui-
sition of two chemical plants during the second quarter of 2000.

Asser impairments totaled $76 million in 2001 (see Note 22).
OF this amount, $47 million represented write-downs associated
with the shut-in of the North Sea Hutton field. Asset impairments
of $29 million were also recognized for certain chemical faciliies
in Belgium and the U.S. The impairments were recorded because
these assets were no longer expected to recover their net book
values through future cash flows.

Exploration costs for 2001, 2000 and 1999 were $211 mil-
lion, $170 million and $140 million, respectively. The $41 mil-
lion increase in 2001 was primarily the resul of higher planned
exploratory drilling in Brazil, Gabon, Australia and China, higher
geophysical costs, principally from the HS Resources acquisition,
and higher amortization of nonproducing leaseholds. The 2000
increase over 1999 was due to higher dry hole costs, principally
in the UK., Algeria, Thailand and Australia; higher geophysical
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costs, primarily in the Gulf of Mexico; and higher amortization
of nonproducing leascholds.

Taxes, other than income taxes, were $115 million in 2001,
$122 million in 2000 and $85 million in 1999. The 2001 and 2000
variances from the prior year were both due principally to production
caxes, a dircct result of the decreases or increases in oil and gas prices.

In connection with the company's second-quarter 2000
acquisition of the pigment plant in Savannah, Georgia, certain
incompletc research and development projects were identified and
valued as part of the purchase price. Since these projects had no
alternative future use to the company, $32 million was expensed
at the date of acquisition.

Merger costs totaling $163 million were recognized in 1999
and represent costs incurred in connection with the Oryx merger,
which had no future benefit to the combined operations. The
major items were severance and associated benefic plan adjustments;
lease cancellation costs; transfer fees for seismic data; investment
bankers, lawyers and accountants fees; and the write-off of dupli-
cate computer systems and fixtures (see Note 10).

Interest and debr expense totaled $192 million in 2001,
$208 million in 2000 and $190 million in 1999. The lower
expense in 2001 compared with 2000 is due to higher levels of
interest being capitalized on the major development projects in
the Gulf of Mexico and the Nortch Sea and lower interest rates,
pardally offsec by significanty higher borrowings resulting from
the HS Resources acquisition and higher capital spending. The
increase in 2000 expense compared with 1999 was the resul of
higher average borrowing levels during the first half of 2000 and
lower capitalized interest.

Other income was as follows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 2001

(Millions of dollirs) 2001 2000 1999
$ 52 $ 65 $39

Other income exchuding special trems
Special items —
Unrealized gain on Devon stock
reclassified to “trading” category

of investments 181 — -
Gain on sales of a refining terminal
and equity interest in a chemical
plant in 2001 and 2000, respectively 4 14 -
Costs of chemical facility closings
and product line discontinuations - 2n —
Other, net - — 1
Toral 185 7 1
Other income $237 $5¢ $40

The 2001 decrease of $13 million in other income exclud-
ing special items compared with 2000 was primarily the result of
losses from unconsolidated affiliates, compared with income in
2000 and lower foreign currency exchange gains. Partially offsei
ting these declines were gains on the revaluation of derivative
contracts in 2001 and the excess of the unrealized gain on the
options associated with the company’s DECS over the unrealizc
lss on the Devon stock (see Note 18). The higher 2000 other
income excluding special items compared with 1999 was due
primarily to increases in forcign currency gains, interest income
and income from unconsolidated affiliates.



Segment Operations

Operating profit from each of the company’s segments is
summarized in the following table:

(Millions of dollars) 2001 2000 1999

Operating profit excluding special items —
Exploration and production

$1,007 $1,470 $562

Chemicals —
Pigment 56 168 113
Other 13 17 15
Total Chemicals 69 185 128
Total 1,076 1,655 690
Special items (156) (41) 21)
Operating profit $ 920 $1,614 $669

Exploration and Production
Exploration and production sales, operating profit and certain
other statistics are shown in the following table:

{Millions of dollars, except per-unit amounts) 2001 2000 1999
Sales $2,511 $2,860 $1,784

Operating profit excluding special items ~ $1,007 $1,470 § 562
Special items (48) (3) (20)

$ 959 $1467 $ 542
$ 211 $ 170 $ 140

Operating profit

Exploration expensc
Net crude oil and condensate produced

{thousands of barrels per day) 198 207 197
Average price of crude oil sold

(per barrel) $22.58 $27.64 $17.26
Natural gas sold (MMcf per day) 596 531 580
Average price of natural gas sold

(per Mcf) $383 §$3.87 §238

Average production cost (per BOE) $445 $ 449 §$ 372

Special items in 2001 include a $47 million asset impairment
loss associated with the Hutton field in the North Sea. Special
items in 1999 were transition costs associated with the work nec-
essary to accomplish the Oryx merger.

The decrease in operating profit excluding special items
for 2001 was primarily due to the significant decline in average
oil sales prices and higher exploration expense resulting from the
company’s planned exploration program, partially offset by the
increase in natural gas sales volumes. The primary reasons for
higher 2000 operating profit excluding special items compared
with 1999 were significantly higher average sales prices for oil
and natural gas and increased oil sales volumes, partially offset by
higher production costs, higher exploration expense and lower
natural gas sales volumes.

Chemicals
Chemical sales, operating profit (loss) and pigment produc-
tion volumes are shown in the following table:

(Millions of dollars) 2001 2000 1999
Sales ~
Pigment $ 931 $1,034 $725
Other 196 227 234
Total $1,127 $1,261  $959

Operating profit excluding special items —
Pigment $ 56 § 168 $113
Other 13 17 15

69 185 128

Special items -
Pigment (78) (38) —
Other (30) — M
Operating profit (loss) $ (39) $ 147 $127

Gross worldwide pigment production
(thousands of tonnes) 483 480 320

Special items in 2001 were primarily due to $46 million
for asset impairment and other costs associated with closing the
pigment plant in Antwerp, Belgium, $25 million for the asset
impairment and termination of manganese metal production at
the Hamilton, Mississippi, electrolytic facility, $25 million for
the write-down of certain pigment fixed assets and inventories
and $8 million for severance costs. Special items in 2000 include
$32 million for the write-off of in-process research and develop-
ment projects with the purchase of the Savannah, Georgia, pigment
plant and $6 million for the transition costs incurred in connec-
tion with the purchase of the Savannah and Botlek, Netherlands,
pigment plants.

Pigment - Titanium dioxide pigment sales declined 10%
in 2001 compared with 2000 due to lower pigment sales prices
and sales volumes. The global economic downturn led to reduced
customer demand and lower pricing. Operating profit excluding
special items in 2001 declined $112 million compared with 2000
due principally to lower sales and higher per-unit production costs
for pigment. The 43% increase in titanium dioxide pigment sales
in 2000 compared with 1999 was primarily due to the additional
volumes sold from the two acquired plants and higher pigment
sales volumes at the other plants. Operating profit excluding spe-
cial items in 2000 increased $55 million over 1999 due princi-
pally to record pigment sales volumes, cost-reduction initiatives
and the favorable impact of euro exchange rates.

Other - Special items in 2001 were primarily due to asset
impairments and the discontinuation of manganese metal produc-
tion at Hamilton, Mississippi. Other chemical sales and operating
profit declined primarily due to the discontinued production of
manganese metal and lower results from forest products.
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Financial Condition

(Millions of dollars) 2001 2000 1999
Current ratio 12tol 10wl l4wl
Total debt $4,574 $2,425 $2,525
Total debt less cash 4483 2,281 2,258
Stockholders’ equity $3,174 $2,633 $1,492
Toral debr less cash to

total capitalization 59% 46% 60%
Floating-rate debr to total debt 28% 3% 38%

Kerr-McGee operates with the philosophy that over a five-
year plan period the company’s capital expenditures and dividends
will be paid from cash generated by operations. During 2001,
major development projects utilized more cash than was gener-
ated from operations. On a cumulative basis, the cash generaced
from operations for the past three years has exceeded the com-
pany’s capital expenditures and dividend payments. Debrand
equity transactions are utilized for acquisition opportunities and
short-term needs due to timing of cash flow. The company’s net
debr to capiralization was 59% at the end of 2001, compared with
46% and 60% at the end of 2000 and 1999, respectively. The
increase in 2001 resulted from the debrt issued and assumed in the
acquisition of HS Resources and for the major development proj-
ects in the Gulf of Mexico and the North Sea. The lower percent-
age in 2000 versus 1999 was the result of the impact of the equity
increase from 2000 net income and the sale of stock, as well as
lower debt levels.

Cash Flow

Operating activities provided net cash of $1.1 billion in 2001,
compared with $1.8 billion in 2000. The decrease was due pri-
marily to the $356 million decline in net income, along with the
use of funds reflected in the changes in various working capital
items. Year-end cash was $91 million, a reduction of $53 million
from $144 million at December 31, 2000.

The company invested $1.9 billion in its 2001 capital pro-
gram, which included $72 million of unsuccessful cxploratory
drilling costs. Capital expenditures were $950 million higher than
in 2000. These investments were mainly for major field develop-
ments in the North Sea and the Gulf of Mexico and nonproduc-
ing leaschold acquisitions in the Gulf of Mexico. Additionally,
$978 million of cash was used for the acquisition of HS Resources
and the acquisition of the remaining 209 minority interest in
the chemical plants in Germany and Belgium. Other investing
activities inchude a $44 million investment by chemical in Avestor,
a new stored-power joint venture in Canada, and an additional
$40 million investment for the company's share of construction
costs for the Caspian pipcline by exploration and production.
Other investing activities provided $29 million of net cash.

In connection with the acquisition ol T1S Resources, the
company issued 5,057,273 shares of common stock valued ar
$355 million, assumed debt totaling $506 million and paid cash
of $955 million totaling $1.816 billion. The cash payment and
payoff of the assumed debt were financed by the issuance of three
series of long-term notes totaling $1.5 billion. In addition to
these long-term notes, the company borrowed $200 million with
a private placement of its floating rate notes due June 2004 and
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had additional net borrowings of $143 million, primarily com-
mercial paper and revolving credit borrowings. Cash flow was used
to pay the company’s dividends of $173 million in 2001.
Liquidity

The company believes that it has the ability to provide for its
operational needs and its long- and short-term capital programs
through its operating cash flows, borrowing capacity and ability
to raise capital. The company’s primary source of funds has been
from operating cash flows, which would be adversely affected by
declines in oil, natural gas and pigment prices, all of which can
be volatile as discussed in the preceding Outlook section. Should
operating cash flows decline, the company may reduce its capital
expenditures program, borrow under its commercial paper pro-
gram and/or consider selective long-term borrowings or cquity
issuances. Kerr-McGee's commercial paper programs are backed by
the revolving credi facilities currently in place. Should the com-
pany’s commercial paper or debr rating be downgraded, borrow-
ing costs may increase, and the company may experience loss of
investor interest in its debt as evidenced by a reduction in the
number of investors and/or amounts they are willing to invest.

At December 31, 2001, the company had unused lines of
credit and committed amounts under revolving credit agreements
totaling $1.258 billion. Two revolving credit agreements consist-
ing of a five-year $650 million facilicy and a 364-day $650 million
facility were signed January 12, 2001. Of the two agreements,
$810 million and $490 million can be used to support commercial
paper borrowings in the U.S. and Europe, respectively, by certain
wholly owned subsidiaries and are guaranteed by the parent
company. The borrowings can be made in U.S. dollars, British
pound sterling, euros or local European currencies. The company
renewed the 364-day $650 million facility on January 11, 2002,
with a similar 364-day $700 million facilicy. The company also
has a $100 million revolving credit agreement available to its
Chinese subsidiary through March 3, 2003. In addition, it had
unused, uncommitted lines of credit of $40 million at December
31, 2001, Interest for cach of the revolving credit facilities and
lines of credit is payable at varying rates.

At December 31, 2001, the company classified $1.066 billion
of its short-term obligations as long-term debt. Final settlement of
these commercial paper and revolving credit obligations is not
expected to oceur in 2002. The company has the intent and the
ability, as evidenced by committed credit agreements, to refinance
this debt on a long-term basis. The company’s practice has been to
continually refinance its commercial paper or draw on its backup
facilities, while maintaining levels believed to be appropriate.

The company also has available, to issue and sell, a total of
$2 billion of debt sceurities, common or preferred stock, or war-
rants under its shelf registration with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, which was last updated in February 2002.

During 2001 and 2000, the company identified certain
financing needs that were best handled by off-balance sheet arrange-
ments with unconsolidated, special purpose entities. Three leas-
ing arrangements have been entered into for financing the com-
pany’s working interest obligations for the production platforms
and related equipment on three company-operated fields in the



Gulf of Mexico. Also, the company has entered into an accounts
receivable monetization program to sell its receivables from certain
pigment customers. Each of these transactions has provided spe-
cific financing for the company’s current business needs and/or
projects and does not expose the company to significant additional
risks or commitments. The leases provide a tax-efficient method
of financing a portion of these major development projects, and
the sale of the pigment receivables results in lowering the company’s
financing costs due to a lower discount rate than the company’s
short-term borrowing rate.

During 2001, the company entered into a leasing arrange-
ment for its interest in the production platform and related
equipment for the Gunnison field in the Garden Banks area of
the Gulf of Mexico, which is similar to two arrangements entered
into in 2000 for the Nansen and Boomvang fields in the East
Breaks area of the Gulf of Mexico. In each of these three arrange-
ments, the company has entered into 5-year lease commitments
with separate business trusts that have been created to construct
independent spar production platforms for each field development.
The company’s share of construction costs for the platforms is being
financed by synthetic lease credit faciliies between the trust and
groups of financial institutions for $157 million, $137 million and
$78 million for Gunnison, Nansen and Boomvang, respectively,
with the company making lease payments sufficient to pay interest
at varying rates on the financings. After completion of the construc-
tion phase, different trusts will become the lessor/owner of the
platforms and related equipment. The company and these trusts
are committed to enter into operating leases for the use of the spar
platforms and related equipment during the life of the fields. In
January 2002, the Nansen synthetic lease was converted to an oper-
ating lease arrangement at the completion of the construction of the
Nansen production platform, as planned. Estimated future mini-
muim annual rentals under these leases are shown in the table below.

A pigment accounts receivable monetization program began
in December 2000. Under the terms of the credit-insurance-
backed asset securitization, up to $180 million of selected pig-
ment customers’ accounts receivables are sold monthly to a spe-
cial-purpose entity (SPE). The SPE borrows the purchase price
of the receivables at a lower interest rate than Kerr-McGee’s com-
mercial paper rate and shares a portion of the savings with the
company. The company records a loss on the receivable sales
equal to the difference in the cash received plus the fair value of
the retained interests and the carrying value of the receivables
sold. The fair value of the retained interests (servicing fees and
preference stock of the SPE, which is essentially a deposit to pro-
vide credit enhancement, if needed, but otherwise recoverable by
the company) is based on the discounted present value of future
cash flows. At year-end 2001, the outstanding balance on receiv-
ables sold under the program totaled $96 million. In the event
the program is terminated, Kerr-McGee will continue to act as
collection agent until all its obligations under the agreement are
retired. Any costs resulting from a termination would be covered
by the value of the preference stock.

Obligations and Commitments

In the normal course of business, the company enters into
contracts, leases and borrowing arrangements. The company has
no material debt guarantees for unrelated parties. As part of the
company's project-oriented exploration and production business,
Kerr-McGee routinely enters into contracts for certain aspects
of the project (i.e., engineering, drilling, subsea work, etc.). These
contracts are generally not unconditional obligations; thus, the
company accrues for the value of work done at any point in time,
a portion of which is billed to partners. Kerr-McGee's commit-
ments and obligations as of December 31, 2001, are summarized
in the following table:

(Millions of dollars) Year Due

‘Type of Obligation Toral 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 Thereafter
Long-term debt $4,566 $26 $1,172 $664 $151 $325 $2,228
Operating leases for Nansen,

Boomvang and Gunnison 643 7 12 22 27 27 548
All other operating leases 139 24 19 14 12 12 58
Leveraged leases 2 1 1 — —_ —_ —
Drilling rig commitments 85 33 31 21 — — —_—
Guarantee of platform residual values 38 — — — — — 38

$5,473 $91 $1,235 $721 $190 $364 $2,872

Capital Spending

Capital expenditures are summarized as follows:

{Millions of dollars) Est. 2002 2001 2000 1999

Exploration and production ~ $780  $1,624  $718  $432
Chemicals 90 153 118 90
Other 20 15 6 6

$890 $1,792 $842 $528

Capital spending, excluding acquisitions, totaled $3.2 billion
in the three-year period ended December 31, 2001, and dividends

paid totaled $477 million in the same three-year period, which
compares with $3.7 billion of net cash provided by operating activi-
ties during the same period. This reflects the company’s philosophy
of providing for its capital programs and dividends through inter-
nally generated funds. During the three-year period, the company
made three major acquisitions, which further expanded its global
presence — the 2001 acquisition of HS Resources for $955 million
cash plus common stock and assumed debt and the 2000 acquisi-
tions of Repsol S.A.’s North Sea oil and gas operations and the
U.S. and Dutch pigment plants for $975 million.
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Kerr-McGee has budgeted $890 miillion for its capital pro-
gram in 2002. This represents a 50% decrease from the 2001
level. Most of this decrease results from the completion of four
major development projects in late 2001 and 2002.

Management anticipates that the 2002 capital program and
selected acquisitions that support the company’s global growth
strategy can continue to be provided through internally generated
funds and selective borrowings appropriatc in the circumstances.

Oil and Gas

The company’s exploration and production capital spending
continues to be focused on deepwater projects and global growth.
Successful exploration and appraisal drilling programs for the past
three years have resulted in four major development projects —

Market Risks

The company is exposed to a varicty of market risks, including
credit risks, the effects of movements in forcign currency exchange
rates, interest races and certain commodity prices. The company
addresses its risks through a controlled program of risk management
that includes the use of insurance and derivative financial instru-
ments. See Notes 1 and 18 for additional discussions of the com-
pany’s financial instruments, derivatives and hedging activities.

Foreign Currency Exchange

The U.S. dollar is the functional currency for the company’s
international operations, except for its European chemical opera-
tions. Periodically, the company enters into forward contracts
to buy and sell foreign currencies. Certain of these contracts
(purchases of Australian dollars and British pound sterling) have
been designated and have qualified as cash flow hedges of the
company’s operating and capital expenditure requirements. These
contracts gencrally have durations of less than three years. The
resulting changes in fair value of these contracts are recorded in

Nansen (509% working interest), Boomvang (30%) and Gunniw
(50%) in the Gulf of Mexico and the 100%-owned Leadon pre
ect in the Norch Sea. The company is also developing the Skui
field (33%) and the Maclure field (33%) in the North Sea, both «
which were acquired as part of the Repsol acquisition. These piny
ects plus the Tullich ficld (100%) in the North Sea comprise 43
of the capital budget for 2002. The company also expects to fund
its share of drilling 20 to 30 exploratory wells in 2002.

Chemicals

Capital expenditures for chemical operations are budgeted .
$90 million for 2002. These expenditures will be primarily for capi
al items needed to maintain the company’s pigment facilities and
for environmental projects.

accumulated other comprehensive income.

The company has entered into other forward contracts to
sell foreign currencies, which will be collected as a resule of pig-
ment sales denominated in foreign currencies, primarily in euros
These contracts have not been designated as hedges even though
they do protect the company from changes in foreign currency
rates. Almost all of the pigment receivables have been sold inan
asset securitization program at their equivalent U.S. dollar value
at the date the receivables were sold. However, the company
retains the risk of foreign currency rate changes berween the dawe
of the sale and collection of the receivables.

Following are the notional amounts at the contract exchang
rates, weighted-average contractual exchange rates and estimated
contract value for open contracts at year-end 2001 and 2000 to
purchase (sell) foreign currencies. Contracts values are based on
the estimated forward exchange rates in effect at year-end. All
amounts are U.S. dollar equivalents.

(Millions of dollurs, except average contract rates)

Open contracts at December 31, 2001 -
Maturing in 2002 -
British pound sterling
Australian dollar
Euro
New Zealand dollar
Maturing in 2003 -
Australian dollar

Open contracts at December 31, 2000 -
Maturing in 2001 -
British pound sterling
Australian dollar
Euro
Euro
German mark
British pound sterling
Japanese yen
New Zealand dollar
Maturing in 2002 -
Australian dollar
Maturing in 2003 -
Australian dollar

Notional Weighred-/\verage Estimated Contrita1
Amount Contract Rate Valu
$79 1.4159 $ 8o
G4 .5943 59
7 .8894 (1
W) 4073 (1
44 .5702 38
293 14595 30
60 .6168 54
21 .8525 23
6) 8740 (0
@ 4474 (2
)] 1.4508 (!
(1) .0090 (i
1 3993 (
42 6156 3N
18 .5935 !
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Interest Rates

The company’s exposure to changes in interest rates relates
primarily to long-term debt obligations. The table below pre-
sents principal amounts and related weighted-average interest

rates by maturity date for the company’s long-term debt
obligations outstanding at year-end 2001. All borrowings are
in U.S. dollars.

There- Eair Value
(Millions of dollars) 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 after Toral 12/31/01
Fixed-rate debt —
Principal amount $26 $ 106 $464 $151 $325 $2,228 $3,300 $3,384
Weighted-average
interest rate 9.43% 8.09% 6.46% 8.14% 5.88% 6.67% 6.69%
Variable-rate debt —
Principal amount — $1,066 $200 — — — $1,266 $1,266
Weighted-average
interest rate — 2.98% 2.65% — — — 2.93%

At December 31, 2000, long-term debt included fixed-
rate debrt of $2.348 billion (fair value — $2.558 billion) with a
weighted-average interest rate of 6.69% and $71 million of vari-
able-rate debt, which approximated fair value, with a weighted-
average interest rate of 7.29%.

Commodity Prices

The company has periodically used derivative instruments
to reduce the effect of the price volatility of crude oil and natural
gas. As discussed in Note 17, the company purchased 100% of
the outstanding shares of common stock of HS Resources effec-
tive August 1, 2001. At the time of the purchase, HS Resources
(now Kerr-McGee Rocky Mountain Corp.) and its trading sub-
sidiary (now Kerr-McGee Energy Services Corp.) had a number
of derivative contracts for purchases and sales of gas, basis differ-
ences and energy-related contracts. All of these contracts are
being treated by the company as speculative and are recorded at
their fair market value on the balance sheet and marked-to-mar-
ket through income each month.

HS Resources hedged a portion of its equity oil and gas
production with fixed-price and basis contracts. The company
has chosen to let the contracts run until maturity, unless closed
earlier. The net fair value of these commodity-related derivatives
was $6 million at year-end 2001. Of this amount, $6 million
was recorded in current assets, $5 million in investments — other
assets, $4 million in current liabilities and $1 million in deferred
credits. The net gain associated with these derivatives was $27 mil-
lion in 2001 and is included in Other Income in the Consolidated
Statement of Income.

The fair value of the outstanding derivative instruments
at December 31, 2001, was determined based on prices actively
quoted, generally NYMEX futures prices.

(Millions of dollars)

Contract Type Marurity Fair Value
Basis swaps 2002 $4
Basis swaps 2003 2
Basis swaps 2004 2
Fixed price swaps 2002 2)
$6

The trading subsidiary, Kerr-McGee Energy Services (KMES),
markets purchased gas (primarily equity gas) in the Denver area.
Existing contracts for the physical delivery of gas at fixed or index-
plus prices and associated transportation contracts are marked-to-
market each month in accordance with FAS 133. KMES has
entered into basis and price derivative contracts that offset its fixed-
price risk on physical contracts. These derivative contracts lock
in the margins associated with the physical sale. The company
believes that risk associated with these derivatives is minimal due to
the credit-worthiness of the counterparties.. The net fair market
value of the commodity-related derivatives, physical contracts and
transportation contracts was $21 million at year-end 2001. Of
this amount, $30'million was recorded in current assets, $11 mil-
lion in investments — other assets, $19 million in current liabilities
and $1 million in deferred credits. The net loss associated with
these derivatives and energy-related contracts was $24 million
and is included in Sales in the Consolidated Statement of Income.
The company did not enter into any commodity-related deriva-
tives during 2000 or 1999.

All of these contracts are with credit-worthy counterparties,
except for Enron, which has filed for bankruptcy. In its dealings
with Enron, Kerr-McGee had a net payable to Enron at year-end
2001 of $5 million, comprised of $1 million receivable from
Enron and $6 million payable to Enron.

The fair value of the outstanding derivative instruments
at December 31, 2001, was determined based on prices actively
quoted, generally NYMEX futures prices.

(Millions of dollars)

Contract Type Maturity Fair Vahie
Physical gas sales 2002 $19
Physical gas sales 2003 1
Physical gas transportation 2002 4
Physical gas transportation 2003 3
Physical gas transportation 2004 2
Physical gas transportation 2005 2
Basis swaps 2002 1
Basis swaps 2003 2
Fixed price swaps 2002 (12)
Fixed price swaps 2003 (1)
$21
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Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount
of assets, liabilitics, revenues and expenses, and the disclosure of
contingent asscts and liabilities. The more significant financial
reporting areas impacted by management’s judgments and estimates
are environmental remediation, site dismantlement, tax accruals,
litigation, sclf-insurance reserves, crude oil and natural gas reserve
estimation, and impairment of assets. Management’s judgments
and estimates in these areas are based on information available
from both internal and external sources, including legal counsel,
engineers, environmental studies and historical experience in sim-
ilar matters. Actual results could differ from those estimates as
additional information becomes known.

Of these judgments and estimates, management considers
the estimation of crude oil and natural gas reserves to be the most
significant. Changes in crude oil and natural gas reserve estimates
affect the company’s calculation of depreciation and depletion,
provision for abandonment, and assessment of the need for asset
impairments. The company’s geologists and engineers prepare

Environmental Matters

The company and its subsidiaries are subject to various envi-
ronmental laws and regulations. Under these laws, the company
and/or its subsidiaries are or may be required to remove or mitigate
the effects on the environment of the disposal or release of certain
chemical, petroleum, low-level radioactive or other substances at
various sites, including sites that have been designated Superfund
sites by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) pursuant
to the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation,
and Liability Act of 1980 (CERCLAY), as amended and, which are
included on the National Priority List (NPL). At December 31,
2001, the company and/or its subsidiaries have received notices that
they have been named potentially responsible parties (PRPs) with
respect to 13 existing EPA Superfund sites on the NPL that require
remediation. The company and/or its subsidiaries may share liabil-
ity at certain of these sites with numerous other PRPs. In addition,
the company and/or its subsidiaries have executed consent orders,
operate under licenses or have reached agreements to perform or
have performed remediation or remedial investigations and feasibil-
ity studies on sites not included as EPA Superfund NPL sites.

The company does not consider the number of sites for
which it has been named 2 PRP to be a relevant measure of liabil-
ity. The company and/or its subsidiaries are uncertain as to the
scope of their involvement in o responsibility for many of the
sites because of continually changing environmental laws and
regulations; the nature of the company’s businesses; the possibil-
ity of other PRPs; the present state of the law, which imposes
joint and several liability on all PRPs under CERCLA; and pend-
ing legal proceedings. Therefore, the company is unable to reliably
estimate the potential liability and the timing of future expendi-
tures that may arise from many of these environmental sites.
Reserves have been established for the remediation and restoration
of active and inactive sites where it is probable that future costs will
be incurred and the liability is estimable. In 2001, $108 million
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estimates of crude oil and natural gas reserves based on available
seismic data, reservoir pressure data, core analysis reports, well logs,
analogous reservoir performance history, production data, reservoir
simulation and other available sources of engineering, geological
and geophysical information. As required by the guidelines and
definitions established by the Securities and Exchange Commission,
these estimates are based on current crude oil and natural gas
pricing. As previously discussed, crude oil and natural gas prices
are volatile, are largely affected by worldwide consumption and
OPEC production, and are outside the control of management.
Projected future crude oil and natural gas pricing assumptions are
used by management to prepare estimates of crude oil and natural
gas reserves used in formulating management’s overall operating
decisions in the exploration and production segment.

Estimates for environmental reserves are discussed below
and additional information regarding management’s judgments
and estimates and the company’s critical accounting policies are
discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements.

was added to the reserve for active and inactive sites. At December
31, 2001, the company’s reserve for these sites totaled $182 mil-
lion. In addition, at year-end 2001, the company had a reserve of
$333 million for the future costs of the abandonment and removal
of offshore well and production facilities at the end of their pro-
ductive lives. In the Consolidated Balance Sheet, $447 million
of the total reserve is classified as a deferred credit, and the remain-
ing $68 million is included in current liabilities. Management
believes that currently the company has reserved adequately for
the reasonably estimable costs of known environmental contingen-
cies. However, additional reserves may be required in the future
due to the previously noted uncertainties (see Note 15).

Expenditures for the environmental protection and cleanup
of existing sites for each of the last three years and for the three-
year period ended December 31, 2001, are as follows:

(Millions of dollars) 2001 2000 1999 Total
Charges to environmental reserves $142  $116  $121  $379
Recurring expenses 87 23 17 97
Capital expenditures 2 28 5 54

Total $220 $167 $143  $530

The company has not recorded in the financial statements
potential reimbursements from governmental agencies or other
third parties, except for amounts due from the U.S. government
under Tide X of the Energy Policy Act of 1992 (see Notes 14 and
15). The following table reflects the company’s portion of the
known estimated costs of investigation and/or remediation that i+
probable and estimable. The table summarizes EPA Superfund
NPL sites where the company has been notified it is a PRP undet
CERCLA and other sites for which the company believes it had
some ongoing financial involvement in investigation and/or
remediation at year-end 2001.




Location of Site

Stage of Investigation/Remediation

Total Known Total
Estimated Expenditures
Cost Through 2001

(Millions of dollars)

EPA Superfund sites on National
Priorities List (NPL)
Milwaukee, Wis.

Executed consent decree to remediate the site of
a former wood-treating facility. Initiated groundwater

and soil treatment. $ 30 $19
West Chicago, IlL., four sites Began cleanup of first site in 1995. At second site, removal
outside the facility work and surface restoration are complete, and closeout report
has been submitted to EPA. Two sites are under study
(see Note 15). 109 106
8 other sites Various stages of investigation/remediation. 31 20
170 145
Sites under consent order,
license or agreement not on
EPA Superfund NPL
West Chicago, Il facilicy Decommissioning is in progress under State of Illinois
supervision (see Note 15). Began shipments to.a
permanent disposal facility in 1994. 407 361
Cleveland/Cushing, Okla. Began cleanup in 1996. 112 94
Henderson, Nev. Entered consent agreement in 1999. Recovery of
perchlorate has been initiated. 74 61
593 516
Other sites Various stages of investigation/remediation. 347 267
Total for all sites $1,110 $928

New Accounting Standards

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (FAS) No. 141,
“Business Combinations,” and FAS 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets.” FAS 141 requires all business combinations
initiated after June 30, 2001, to be accounted for under the pur-
chase method. The company adopted FAS 141 for its acquisition
of HS Resources. The company will be required to adopt FAS 142
at the beginning of 2002 for all goodwill and other intangible assets
recognized in the company’s statement of financial position as of
January 1, 2002. This statement changes the accounting for good-
will and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives from an
amortization method to an impairment approach. The nonamor-
tization provisions of this standard are immediately applicable for
any goodwill acquired after June 30, 2001. During 2002, the com-
pany will perform the first required impairment tests of goodwill
and indefinite lived intangible assets. The company does not
believe that the adoption of these statements will have a material
effect on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board

issued FAS 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.”
FAS 143 requires asset retirement costs to be capitalized as part of
the cost of the related tangible long-lived asset and subsequently
allocated to expense using a systematic and rational method over
the useful life of the asset. The company will adopt the statement
effective no later than January 1, 2003, as required. The transi-
tion adjustment resulting from the adoption of FAS 143 will be
reported as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting princi-
ple. At this time, the company cannot reasonably estimate the
effect of the adoption of this statement on its financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.

In August 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued FAS 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets.” FAS 144 supersedes FAS 121, “Accounting
for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived
Assets to be Disposed Of,” and the portion of the Accounting
Principle Board Opinion No. 30 that deals with disposal of a
business segment. The new standard resolves significant imple-
mentation issues related to FAS 121, establishes a single account-
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ing model for long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale and is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001. The
company does not believe that the adoption of this statement will

have a material effect on its financial position, results of opera-
tions or cash flows.

Cautionary Statement Concerning Forward-Looking Statements

Statements in this Financial Review regarding the company’s
or management’s intentions, beliefs or expectations, or that other-
wise speak to future events, are “forward-looking statements” within
the meaning of the Private Securiies Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
Future results and developments discussed in thesc statements may
be affected by numerous factors and risks, such as the accuracy of
the assumptions that underlie the statements, the success of the oil

and gas exploration and production program, drilling risks, the
marke value of Kerr-McGee's products, uncertainties in inter-
preting engineering data, demand for consumer products for which
Kerr-McGee's businesses supply raw materials, general economic
conditions, and other factors and risks discussed in the company’
SEC filings. Actual results and developments may differ materi-
ally from those expressed or implied in this Financial Review.

Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The company’s management is responsible for the integrity
and objectivity of the financial data contained in the financial
statements. These financial statements have been prepared in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles appro-
priate under the circumstances and, where necessary, reflect
informed judgments and estimates of the effects of certain events
and transactions based on currently available information at the
date the financial statements were prepared.

The company’s management depends on the company’s sys-
tem of internal accounting controls to assure itself of the reliabil-
ity of the financial statements. The internal control system is
designed to provide reasonable assurance, at appropriate cost,
that assets are safeguarded and transactions are executed in accor-
dance with management’s authorizations and are recorded prop-
erly to permit the preparation of financial statements in accor-

dance with generally accepted accounting principles. Periodic
reviews are made of internal controls by the company’s staff of
internal audirors, and corrective action is taken if needed.

The Board of Directors reviews and monitors financial state-
ments through its audit committee, which is composed solely of
directors who are not officers or employees of the company. The
audit committee meets regularly with the independent public
accountants, internal auditors and management to review inter-
nal accounting controls, auditing and financial reporting matters.

The independent public accountants are engaged to provide
an objective and independent review of the company’s financial
statements and to express an opinion thereon. Their audits are
conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing stand-
ards, and their report is included below.

Report of Independent Public Accountants

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
of Kerr-McGee Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance
sheet of Kerr-McGee Corporation (a Delaware corporation) and
subsidiary companies as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the
related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income
and stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2001. These financial state-
ments are the responsibility of the company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing stan-
dards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of mate-
rial misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,

Oklahoma City, Oklahoma,
February 22, 2002
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evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting prin-
ciples used and significant estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Kerr-
McGee Corporation and subsidiary companies as of December 31,
2001 and 2000, and the results of their operations and their cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2001, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States.

As explained in Note 1 to the financial statements, effective
January 1, 2001, the company adopted Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instru-
ments and Hedging Activities.”

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP




Consolidated Statement of Income

(Millions of dollars, except per-share amounts) 2001 2000 1999
Sales $3,638 $4,121 $2,743
Costs and Expenses
Costs and operating expenses 1,316 1,269 1,025
Selling, general and administrative cxpenses 237 205 236
Shipping and handling expenses 119 100 80
Depreciation and depletion 723 684 607
Asset impairment 76 — —
Exploration, including dry holes and amortization of undeveloped leases 211 170 140
Taxes, other than income taxes 115 122 85
Provision for environmental remediation and restoration of inactive sites,
net of reimbursements 82 90 —
Purchased in-process research and development —_ 32 —
Merger costs - — 163
Interest and debt expense 192 208 190
Tortal Costs and Expenses 3,071 2,880 2,526
567 1,241 217
Other income 237 58 40
Income before Income Taxes and Change in Accounting Principle 804 1,299 257
Taxes on Income (298) (457) (111)
Income before Change in Accounting Principle 506 842 146
Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle,
net of taxes of $11 in 2001 and $2 in 1999 (20) — (4)
Net Income $ 486 $ 842 $ 142
Net Income per Common Share
Basic —
Income before accounting change $ 522 $ 9.01 $ 1.69
Cumulative effect of accounting change (.21) — (.05)
Net income $ 5.01 $ 9.01 $ 1.64
Diluted -
Income before accounting change $ 493 $ 837 $ 1.69
Cumnulative effect of accounting change {.19) — (.09)
Net income $ 4.74 $ 8.37 $ 1.64

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statcement.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive income and Stockholders’ Equity

Accumulated

Capital in Other Deferred Total
Comprehensive Common Excess of Retained Comprehensive Treasury Compensation  Stockholders’
(Millions of dollars) Income (Loss) Seock Par Value Earnings Income (Loss) Stock and Other Equity
Balance December 31, 1998 $ 93 $1,282 $ 527 $(36) $(388) $(132) $1,346
Net income $142 — — 142 — — _— 142
Unrealized gains on securities,
net of $42 income tax 79 — — — 79 — — 79
Foreign currency translation
adjustment (23) — — — (23) — — (23)
Minimum pension liability '
adjustment 25 — — — 25 — — 25
Shares issued — — 2 — — — — 2
Dividends declared
($1.80 per share) — — — (156) — — — (156)
Effect of equity affiliate’s
merger — — — 063 — — — 063
Other — — — — — — 14 14
Total $ 223
E Balance December 31, 1999 93 1,284 576 45 (388) (118) 1,492
! Net income $ 842 — — 842 — — — 842
Lt Unrealized gains on securities,
! net of $32 income tax 60 — — — 60 — — 60
i Foreign currency translation
l adjustment 3 — — — 3 — — 3
! Minimum pension liability
i adjustment 5 — — — 5 — — 5
! Shares issued — 8 375 — — — — 383
i Dividends declared
! | ($1.80 per share) — — — (170) — — — (170)
! Other — — I (15) — 5 27 18
il Total §910
Ll Balance December 31, 2000 101 1,660 1,233 113 (383) (91) 2,633
f Net income $ 486 — — 486 — — — 486
Ul Unrealized losses on securities,
it net of $12 income tax (22) — — — (22) — — (22)
it Reclassification of unrealized
[l gains on securities to
| net income, net of $63

income tax (118) — — — (118) — —_ (118)
Record fair value of cash

flow hedges (3) — — — (3 — — (3)
Change in fair value of cash

flow hedges (15) — — — (15) — — (15)
Foreign currency translation

adjustment a7 — — — 17) — — 17
Minimum pension liability

adjustment (2) — — — ) — — 2)
Shares issued — 6 382 — — — — 388
Treasury stock cancelled — 7) (371) — — 378 — —
Dividends declared

($1.80 per share) — — — (176) — — — (176)
Other — — 5 — — 5 10 20

Total $ 309

Balance December 31, 2001 $100 $1,676 $1,543 $(64) $ — $ (81) $3,174

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

(Millions of dollars) 2001 2000
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash $ 9 $ 144
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful
accounts of $11 in both 2001 and 2000 482 - 667
Inventories 439 391
Deposits, prepaid expenses and other assets 355 113
Total Current Assets 1,367 1,315
Investments
Equity affiliates 101 41
Other assets 554 729
Property, Plant and Equipment - Net 8,322 5,383
Deferred Charges 261 198
Goodwill 356 —
Toral Assets $10,961 $7,666

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable $ 655 $ 638
Short-term borrowings ' 8 6
Long-term debt due within one year 26 175
Taxes on income 83 190
Taxes, other than income taxes ' 31 25
Accrued liabilities 3711 315
Total Current Liabilities 1,174 1,349
Long-Term Debt 4,540 2,244

Deferred Credits and Reserves _
Income taxes 1,275 704
Other 798 736
Total Deferred Credits and Reserves 2,073 1,440

Stockholders’ Equity
Common stock, par value $1.00 — 300,000,000 shares authorized,

100,186,350 shares issued in 2001 and 101,417,309 shares issued in 2000 100 101
Capital in excess of par value 1,676 1,660
Preferred stock purchase rights 1 1
Rerained earnings 1,543 1,233
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (64) 113
Common stock in treasury, at cost — 1,020 shares in 2001

and 6,932,790 shares in 2000 —_ (383)
Deferred compensation (82) (92)

Total Stockholders’ Equity 3,174 2,633
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $10,961 $7,666

‘The “successful efforts” method of accounting for oil and gas exploration and production activities has been followed in preparing this balance sheet.
“The accompanying notes are an integral part of this balance sheet.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

(Millions of dollars) 2001 2000

Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Net income $ 486 $ 842

Adjustments to reconcile to net cash provided by operating activities -
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 779 732
Deferred income taxes 205 18
Dry hole costs 72 54
Merger and transition costs - — |
Asset impairment 76 —
Provision for environmental remediation and restoration of inactive sites 82 90
Gains on asset retirements and sales (12) 6)
Purchased in-process research and development - 32
Noncash items affecting net income (147) 45

Changes in current assets and liabilities and other, net of effects
of operations acquired -

(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable 278 (55) '
Increase in inventorics (51) (46)
(Increase) decrease in deposits, prepaids and other assets (201) 3 1
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (131) 129 (1
Increase (decrease) in taxes payable (120) 137 a6
Other (173) (135) (1.
Net cash provided by operating activities 1,143 1,840 05
Cash Flow from Investing Activities
Capiral expenditures (1,792) (842) (5.
Dry hole costs (72) (54) (1%
Acquisitions (978) (1,018) ('8
Purchase of long-term investments (92) (56) (39
Proceeds from sale of long-term investments 18 35 2%
Proceeds from sale of other assets 19 42 i
Net cash used in investing activities (2,897) (1,893) (657
Cash Flow from Financing Activities
Issuance of long-term debt 2,513 677 1,084 =
Issuance of common stock 32 383 4 _
Decrease in short-term borrowings (9) (3) 27 ;
Repayment of long-term debt (661) (966) (782)
Dividends paid (173) (166) (138)
Lease buyout - — (41
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 1,702 (75) 100
Effects of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents (1) 5 (5)
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (53) (123) 146
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 144 267 121 d
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year $ 91 $ 144 $ 267
The accompanying nates are an integral part of this statemenc.
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Notes to Financial Statements

E The Company and Significant Accounting Policies

Kerr-McGee is an energy and chemical company with
worldwide operations. It explores for, develops, produces and
markets crude oil and natural gas, and its chemical operations
primarily produce and market titanium dioxide pigment. The
cxploration and production unit produces and explores for oil
and gas in the United States, the United Kingdom sector of the
North Sea, Indonesia, China, Kazakhstan and Ecuador. Explo-
ration efforts are also extended to Australia, Benin, Brazil, Gabon,
Morocco, Canada, Thailand, Yemen and the Danish sector of
the North Sea. The chemical unit has production facilities in the
United States, Australia, Germany and the Netherlands.

On August 1, 2001, the company completed the acquisition
of all the outstanding shares of common stock of HS Resources,
Inc., an independent oil and gas exploration and production com-
pany. To accomplish the acquisition, the company reorganized
and formed a new holding company, Kerr-McGee Holdco, which
later changed its name to Kerr-McGee Corporation. All the out-
standing shares of the former Kerr-McGee Corporation were can-
celed and the same number of shares was issued by the new hold-
ing company. The former Kerr-McGee Corporation was renamed
Kerr-McGee Operating Corporation and is now a wholly owned
subsidiary of the holding company, along with Kerr-McGee Rocky
Mountain Corporation (formerly HS Resources).

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts
of all subsidiary companies that are more than 50% owned and
the proportionate share of joint ventures in which the company
has an undivided interest. Investments in affiliated companies
that are 20% to 50% owned are carried as Investments - Equity
affiliates in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at cost adjusted for
equity in undistributed earnings. Except for dividends and
changes in ownership interest, changes in equity in undistributed
earnings are included in the Consolidated Statement of Income.
All marerial intercompany transactions have been eliminated.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and lia-
bilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates as additional
information becomes known.

Certain prior year amounts in the consolidated income and
cash flow statements have been reclassified to conform with the
current year presentation.

Foreign Currencies

The U.S. dollar is considered the functional currency for each
of the company’s international operations, except for its European
chemical operations. Foreign currency transaction gains or losses
are recognized in the period incurred and included in Other Income
in the Consolidated Statement of Income. The company recorded
net foreign currency transaction gains of $3 million, $30 million

and $11 million in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

The euro is the functional currency for the European chemical
operations. Translation adjustments resulting from translaring the
functional currency financial statements into U.S. dollar equiva-
lents are reported separately in Accumulated Other Comprehen-
sive Income in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income and Stockholders’ Equity.

Cash Equivalents

The company considers all investments with a maturity of
three months or less to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents
totaling $26 million in 2001 and $39 million in 2000 were com-
prised of time deposits, certificates of deposit and U.S. govern-
ment securities.

Receivable Sales

Under a credit-insurance-backed asset securitization pro-
gram, Kerr-McGee sells selected pigment customers’ accounts
receivable to a special-purpose entity (SPE). The company does
not own any of the common stock of the SPE. When the receiv-
ables are sold, Kerr-McGee retains interests in the securitized
receivables for servicing and in preference stock of the SPE. The
interest in the preference stock is essentially a deposit to provide
further credit enhancement to the securitization program, if
needed, but is otherwise recoverable by the company at the end
of the program. The recorded value of the preference stock is
adjusted with each sale to maintain its fair value. The servicing
fee is estimated by management to be adequate compensation
and is equal to what would otherwise be charged by an outside
servicing agent. The company records the loss associated with
the receivable sales by comparing cash received and fair value of
the retained interests to the carrying amount of the receivables
sold. The estimate of fair value of the retained interests is based
on the present value of future cash flows discounted at rates esti-
mated by management to be commensurate with the risks.

Inventories

The costs of the company’s product inventories are deter-
mined by the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. Inventory carry-
ing values include material costs, labor and the associated indirect
manufacturing expenses. Materials and supplies are valued at
average cost.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Exploration and Production - Exploration expenses, includ-
ing geological and geophysical costs, rentals and exploratory dry
holes, are charged against income as incurred. Costs of successful
wells and related production equipment and developmental dry
holes are capitalized and amortized by field using the unit-of-pro-
duction method as the oil and gas are produced.

Undeveloped acreage costs are capitalized and amortized at
rates that provide full amortization on abandonment of unpro-
ductive leases. Costs of abandoned leases are charged to the accu-
mulated amortization accounts, and costs of productive leases are
transferred to the developed property accounts.

Kerr-McGee Corporation 2001 Annual Repore 35




Other - Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less
reserves for depreciation, depletion and amortization. Maintenance
and repairs are expensed as incurred, except that costs of replace-
ments or renewals that improve or extend the lives of existing
properties are capitalized. Costs of nonproducing mineral acreage
surrendered or otherwise disposed of are charged to expense at
the time of disposition.

Depreciation and Depletion - Property, plant and equip-
ment is depreciated or depleted over its estimated life by the unit-
of-production or the straight-line method. Capitalized exploratory
drilling and development costs are amortized using the unit-of-
production method based on total estimated proved developed
oil and gas reserves. Amortization of producing leasehold, plat-
form costs and acquisition costs of proved properties is based on
the unit-of-production method using total estimated proved
reserves. In arriving at rates under the unit-of-production method,
the quantities of recoverable oil, gas and other minerals are
established based on estimates made by the company's geologists
and engineers.

Retirements and Sales - The costs and related depreciation,
depletion and amortization reserves are removed from the respec-
tive accounts upon retirement or sale of property, plant and
equipment. The resulting gain or loss is included in Other
Income in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

Interest Capitalized - The company capitalizes interest
costs on major projects that require a considerable length of time
to complete. Interest capitalized in 2001, 2000 and 1999 was
$33 million, $5 million and $9 million, respectively.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Proved oil and gas properties are reviewed for impairment
on a field-by-field basis when facts and circumstances indicate
that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. In perform-
ing this review, future cash flows are estimated by applying esti-
mated future oil and gas prices to estimated future production,
less estimated future expenditures to develop and produce the
reserves. If the sum of these estimated future cash flows (undis-
counted and without interest charges) is less than the carrying
amount of the property, an impairment loss is recognized for the
excess of the carrying amount over the estimated fair value of the
property.

Other assets are reviewed for impairment by asset group for
which the lowest level of independent cash flows can be identi-
fied and impaired in the same manner as proved oil and gas
properties.

Revenue Recognition

Except for natural gas and most crude oil sales, revenue is
recognized when title passes to the customer. Natural gas rev-
enues and gas-balancing arrangements with partners in natural
gas wells are recognized when the gas is produced using the enti-
tlements method of accounting and are based on the company’s
net working interests. At December 31, 2001 and 2000, both
the quantity and dollar amount of gas balancing arrangements
were immaterial. Crude oil sales are recognized when produced
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using the entitlements method if a contract exists for the sale ot
the production.

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are provided to reflect the futnre tin
consequences of differences between the tax basis of assets and
liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statemenits

Site Dismantlement, Remediation and Restoration Costs

The company provides for the estimated costs at current
prices of the dismantlement and removal of oil and gas produ
tion and related facilities. Such costs are accumulated over the
estimated lives of the facilities by the use of the unit-of-produg-
tion method. As sites of environmental concern are identificd,
the company assesses the existing conditions, claims and asscr-
tions, generally related to former operations, and records an esti-
mated undiscounted liability when environmental assessmenis
and/or remedial efforts are probable and the associated costs can
be reasonably estimated.

Employee Stock Option Plan

The company accounts for its employee stock option plans
using the intrinsic value method in accordance with Accountiny
Principles Board Opinion (APB) No. 25, “Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees.” -

Derivative Instruments

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued Statement No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instrumenis
and Hedging Activities” (FAS 133). The Statement as amendcd
requires recording all derivative instruments as assets or liabilitics,
measured at fair value. The company adopted this standard on
January 1, 2001, by recording the fair value of all the foreign
currency forward purchase and sales contracts, and by separating,
and recording the fair value of the options associated with the
company’s debt exchangeable for stock (DECS) of Devon Enerpy
Corporation (Devon) presently owned by the company. In adopt
ing the standard, the company recognized an expense of $20 nul
lion as a cumulative effect of the accounting change and a $3
million reduction in equity (other comprehensive income) for
the foreign currency contracts designated as hedges. Also, in
accordance with FAS 133, the company chose to reclassify 85%
of the Devon shares owned to “trading” from the “available for
sale” category of investments. On January 1, 2001, the company
recognized after-tax income totaling $118 million for the unreal-
ized appreciation on the Devon shares reclassified to trading.
The portion of the stock investments now classified as trading
is marked-to-market through income each month. See Note 18
for a full description of the company’s hedging activities and
related accounting,

Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs

All amounts billed to a customer in a sales transaction
related to shipping and handling represent revenues earned and
are reported as revenue, and the costs incurred by the company
for shipping and handling are reported as expense.




E_ : Cash Flow Information

Net cash provided by operating activities reflects cash payments for income taxes and interest as follows:

(Millions of dollars) 2001 2000 1999
Income tax payments o $434 $338 | $111
Less refunds received (19) (34) (85)
Net income tax payments $ 415 $304 $26
Interest payments $189 $193 $191

Information about noncash investing and financing activities not reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows follows:

(Millions of dollars) 2001 2000 1999
Noncash investing activities
Increase (decrease) in fair value of securities available for sale(! $ (34) $280 $118
Decrease in fair value of trading securicies(" (188) —_ —_
Increase in an equity affiliate carrying value - — 98
Noncash financing activities
Common stock issued in HS Resources acquisition 355 - —
Debt assumed in HS Resources acquisition 506 — —
Increase (decrease) in the valuation of the DECS!) 8 187 (3)
Fair value of embedded options in the DECS!) (205) — -
Dividends declared but not paid 3 4 17
(1) See Notes 1 and 18 for discussion of FAS 133 adoption.
'V Inventories
Major categories of inventories at year-end 2001 and 2000 are:
(Millions of dollars) 2001 2000
Chemicals and other products $338 $259
Materials and supplies 98 129
Crude oil and natural gas liquids 3 3
Total $439 $391

Eh Investments - Equity Affiliates

At December 31, 2001 and 2000, investments in equity
affiliates are as follows:

(Millions of dollars) 2001 2000
Javelina Company $42 325
Avestor Limited Partnership 44 —
Other 15 16

Total $101 $41

Javelina Company and Avestor Limited Partnership repre-
sent the company’s investments of 40% and 50%, respectively, in
non-exploration and production partnerships. Avestor Limited
Partnership was formed in 2001 to develop, produce and market
a next-generation power cell for use in telecommunications, util-
ity peak shaving and electric vehicles.

In October 2000, the company sold its 25% equity interest
in the National Titanium Dioxide Company Limited, a Saudi
Arabian pigment operation. The gain on this sale was $8 million,

net of $5 million for income taxes, and is included as Other
Income in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

Following are financial summaries of the company’s equity
affiliates. Due to immateriality, investments shown as Other in the
preceding table have been excluded from the information below.

(Millions of dollars) 2001 2000 1999
Results of operations ~
Net sales $172 $213  $256
Net income (loss) (5) 47 33
Financial position ~
Current assets 46 45
Property, plant and equipment — net 113 113
Total assets 213 158
Current liabilities 23 21
Total liabilities 52 21
Stockholders’ equity 161 137
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f i Investments - Other Assets

Investments in other assets consist of the following at
December 31, 2001 and 2000:

(Millions of dollars) 2001
Devon Energy Corporation common stock!!) $385 Sl
Long-term receivables, net of $9 allowance for doubtful notes in both 2001 and 2000 139 It
Derivatives (fixed-price and basis swap commodity contracts) 16
U.S. government obligations 2
Other 12

Total $554 S
(1) Sce Note 18.
L Property, Plant and Equipment

Fixed assets and related rescrves at December 31, 2001 and
2000, are as follows:
Reserves for
Depreciation and
Gross Property Depletion Net Propern

(Millions of dollars) 2001 2000 2001 2000 2001 o
Exploration and production . $14,383  $10,894 $7427  $6,581 $7,256  $4.%13
Chemicals 1,860 1,736 857 721 1,003 1,01
Other 151 140 88 85 63 ol

Total $16,394 $12,770 $8,072 $7,387 $8,322  $5.3%1

Deferred Charges
Deferred charges are as follows at year-end 2001 and 2000:

(Millions of dollars) 2001 Muio
Pension plan prepayments $188 1
Unamortized debt issue costs 34 h
Nonqualified benefit plans deposits 26 RS
Amounts pending recovery from third parties 10
Other 3 9

Total $261 $19s
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Y

m Asset Securitization

In December 2000, the company began an accounts receiv-
oMlc monetization for its pigment business through the sale of
wlhic1ed accounts receivable with a three-year, credit-insurance-
Lacked asset securitization program. The company retained ser-
«wmg responsibilities and subordinated interests and will receive
« wrvicing fee of 1.07% of the receivables sold for the period of
e outstanding, generally 60 to 120 days. No recourse obliga-
uons were recorded since the company has very limited obliga-
wans for any recourse actions on the sold receivables. The collec-
won of the receivables is insured, and only receivables that qualify
fur credit insurance can be sold. A portion of the insurance is
winsured by the company’s captive insurance company; however,
the company believes that the risk of insurance loss is very low

ﬁ: Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities at year-end 2001 and 2000 are as follows:

since its bad debt experience has historically been insignificant.
The company also received preference stock in the special-pur-
pose entity equal to 3.5% of the receivables sold. This preference
stock is essentially a retained deposit to provide further credit
enhancements, if needed.

During 2001, the company sold $597 million of its pigment
receivables, resulting in pretax losses of $8 million. During 2000,
the company sold $160 million of the receivables, resulting in
pretax losses of $3 million. The losses are equal to the difference
in the book value of the receivables sold and the total of cash and
the fair value of the deposit retained by the special-purpose entity.
At year-end 2001, the outstanding balance on receivables sold
totaled $96 million.

Millions of dollars) 2001 2000
I:mployee-related costs and benefits $102 $75
Interest payable 100 81
Current environmental reserves 68 69
Derivativest! 32 —
" Litigation reserves 21 20
Royalties payable 13 28
Drilling and operating costs 5 15
Acquisition and merger reservest?) 9 10
Other 21 17
Total $371 $315

(1) Fixed-price and basis swap commodity contracts and forward foreign currency contracts.

(2) See Note 10.

m Acquisition and Merger Reserves

In August 2001, the company recorded an accrual of $42
million for items associated with the HS Resources acquisition.
Included in this accrual were transaction costs, severance and
other employee-related costs, contract termination costs, and
other acquisition-related costs. Of this accrual, $34 million was
paid during 2001. The balance is primarily for the remaining
severance costs that are expected to be paid and charged to the
reserve during 2002.

During 1999, the company recorded an accrual of $163
million for items associated with the Oryx merger. Included in
this charge were transaction costs, severance and other employee-
related costs, contract termination costs, lease cancellations,

write-off of redundant systems and equipment and other merger-
related costs. Of this total accrual, $1 million and $10 million
remain in the reserve at the end of 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The accruals, expenditures and reserve balances for 2001
and 2000 are as follows:

(Millions of dollars) 2001 2000
Beginning balance $10 $20
Accruals 42 —
Payments (43) (10)
Ending balance $ 9 $10
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|| Debt

Lines of Credit and Short-Term Borrowings

At year-end 2001, the company had available unused bank
lines of credit and revolving credit facilities of $1.258 billion.

Of this amount, $820 million can be used to support commer-
cial paper borrowing arrangements of Kerr-McGee Credit LLC,
and $365 million can be used to support European commercial
paper borrowings of Kerr-McGee (G.B.) P1.C, Kerr-McGee
Chemical GmbH, Kerr-McGee Pigments (Holland) B.V. and
Kerr-McGee International ApS.

The company has arrangements to maintain compensating
balances with certain banks that provide credit. At year-end 2001,
the aggregate amount of such compensating balances was imma-
terial, and the company was not legally restricted from withdraw-
ing all or a portion of such balances at any time during the year.

Short-term borrowings at year-end 2001 and 2000 consisted

of notes payable totaling $8 million (4.42% average interest ruic|
and $6 million (4.94% average interest rate), respectively. The
notes are denominated in a foreign currency and represent appron
mately 9 million euros and 6 million euros in 2001 and 2000,
respectively.

Long-Term Debt

The company's policy is to classify certain borrowings undc
revolving credit facilities and commercial paper as long-term dcln
since the company has the ability under certain revolving credit
agreements and the intent to maintain these obligations for
longer than one year. At year-end 2001 and 2000, debt totaling
$1.066 billion and $71 million, respectively, was classified as
long-term consistent with this policy.

Long-term debt consisted of the following at year-end
2001 and 2000:

(Millions of dollars) 2001 2000
Debentures —
7.125% Debentures due October 15, 2027 (7.01% effective ratc) $ 150 § 150
7% Debentures due November 1, 2011, net of unamortized debe discount of
$94 in 2001 and $99 in 2000 (14.25% effective rate) 156 151
5-1/4% Convertible subordinated debentures due February 15, 2010 600 GO0
7-1/2% Convertible subordinated debentures - 180
Notes payable —
5-7/8% Notes due September 15, 2006 (5.89% effective rate) 325 -
6-7/8% Notes due September 15, 2011, net of unamortized debt discount of $1 (6.90% effective rate) 674 -
7-718% Notes due September 15, 2031, net of unamortized debt discount of $2 (7.91% effective rate) 498 -
5-1/2% Exchangeable Notes (DECS) due August 2, 2004, net of unamortized debt discount of $20 in 2001
(5.60% effective rate) (Seec Note 18) 310 514
10% Notes due April 1, 2001 - 150
6.625% Notes due October 15, 2007 150 150
8.375% Notes due July 15, 2004 150 150
8.125% Notes due October 15, 2005 150 150
8% Notes due October 15, 2003 100 100
Variable interest rate revolving credit agreements with banks 254 —
Floating rate notes due June 28, 2004 200 -
Medium-Term Notes (9.29% average effective interest rate at December 31, 2001) $11 due
January 2, 2002, and $2 due February 1, 2002, 13 13
Commercial paper (3.01% average effective interest rate at December 31, 2001) 732 50
Euro Commercial paper (2.95% average effective interest rate at December 31, 2001) 80 21
Guaranteed Debr of Employee Stock Ownership Plan 9.61% Notes due in installments
through January 2, 2005 21 33
Other 3 7
4,566 2,419
Long-term debt due within one year (26) 175
Toral $4,540  $2,244

Maturities of long-term debt due after December 31, 2001,
are $26 million in 2002; $1.172 billion in 2003 of which $1.066
billion is borrowings that the company expects to be able to main-
tain as long-term, see above; $664 million in 2004 of which $310
million may be a noncash payment for the DECS; $151 million
in 2005; $325 million in 2006; and $2.228 billion thereafter.

Certain of the company’s long-term debt agreements contain
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restrictive covenants, including a minimum tangible net worth
requirement and a maximum total debt to total capitalization
ratio. At December 31, 2001, the company was in compliance
with its debt covenants.

Additional information regarding the major changes in dcb
during the periods and unused commitments for financing is
included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis.




EE‘ Income Taxes

The taxation of a company that has operations in several
countries involves many complex variables, such as differing tax
structures from country to country and the effect on U.S. taxa-
tion of international earnings. These complexities do not permit
meaningful comparisons between the U.S. and international
components of income before income taxes and the provision for
income taxes, and disclosures of these components do not pro-
vide reliable indicarors of relationships in future periods. Income
(loss) before income taxes and change in accounting principle is
composed of the following:

(Millions of dollars) 2001 2000 1999
United States 524 $ 562 $(30)
International 280 737 287

Total $804 $1,299 $257

The effective income tax rate in Canada decreased to 37%
from 38% for the year 2001. The deferred income tax liability
balance was adjusted to reflect this revised rate, causing a decrease
in the 2001 international deferred provision for income taxes of
$1 million.

The income tax rate in Australia decreased to 30% from
34% for the year 2001 and decreased to 34% from 36% for the
year 2000. Effective January 1, 2001, the German corporate
income tax rate decreased to 25% from 30%. The deferred
income tax asset and liability balances were adjusted to reflect
these revised rates, causing a net increase in the 2000 international
deferred provision for income taxes of $2 million.

The 2001, 2000 and 1999 taxes on income before change in
accounting principle are summarized below:

(Millions of dollars) 2001 2000 1999

U.S. Federal -
Current $(63) $105 $(38)
Deferred 221 82 38
158 187 —
International —
Current 134 286 147
Deferred 1 as) (37
135 268 110
State 5 2 1
Total $298 $457 %111

At December 31, 2001, the company had foreign operating
loss carryforwards totaling $160 million — $8 million that expire
in 2003, $11 million that expire in 2004, $16 million that expire
in 2006 and $126 million that have no expiration date. Realiza-
tion of these operating loss carryforwards is dependent on gener-
ating sufficient taxable income.

Deferred tax liabilities at December 31, 2001 and 2000, are
composed of the following:

(Millions of dollars) 2001 2000
Net deferred tax liabilities —
Accelerated depreciation $1,308 $858
Exploration and development 159 31
Undistributed earnings of foreign
subsidiaries 28 28
Postretirement benefits (89) (89)
Dismantlement, remediation, restoration
and other reserves (58) (55)
U.S. and foreign operating loss carryforward (46) (18)
AMT credit carryforward (18) (18)
Other (9 (33)
Total $1,275 $704

In the following table, the U.S. Federal income tax rate is
reconciled to the company’s effective tax rates for income before
change in accounting principle as reflected in the Consolidated
Statement of Income.

2001 2000 1999
350% 35.0% 35.0%

U.S. statutory rate
Increases (decreases) resulting from —

Taxation of foreign operations 18 5 4.8
Adjustment of prior years’ accruals — 6) —
Refunds of prior years' income taxes — ()] —_
Adjustment of deferred tax balances
due to tax rate changes (.1) 1 —
Other — net 4 .8 33
Total 371% 35.1% 43.1%

The Internal Revenue Service has examined the Kerr-McGee
Corporation and subsidiaries’ pre-merger Federal income tax
returns for all years through 1996, and the years have been closed
through 1994. The Oryx income tax returns have been examnined
through 1997, and the years have been closed through 1978. The
company believes that it has made adequate provision for income
taxes that may become payable with respect to open tax years.
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£ Taxes, Other than Income Taxes

Taxes, other than income taxes, as shown in the Consoli-
dated Statement of Income for the years ended December 31,
2001, 2000 and 1999, are composed of the following:

(Millions of dollars) 2001 2000 19
Production/severance $ 67 $ 85 $s0
Payroll 28 21 1
Property 15 13 1
Other 5 3 3

Total $115 $122 $85

; ¢ Deferred Credits and Reserves — Other

Other deferred credits and reserves consist of the following
at year-end 2001 and 2000:

(Millions of dotlars) 2001 2000
Reserves for site dismantlement,
remediation and restoration $447 $434
Postretirement benefit obligations 184 185
Pension plan liabiliries 44 43
Derivatives() 42 —
Minority interest in subsidiary companies 3 24
Orther 78 50
Total $798 $736

(1) Options associated with exchangeable debr, forward foreign currency
contracts and derivative contracts.

ﬁ‘ Contingencies

West Chicago, lllinois

In 1973, a whoily owned subsidiary, Kerr-McGee Chemical
Corporation, now Kerr-McGee Chemical LLC (Chemical), closed
the facility in West Chicago, llinois, that processed thorium ores.
Historical operations had resulted in low-level radioactive conta-
mination at the facility and in the surrounding areas. In 1979,
Chemical filed a plan with the Nuclear Regulatory Commission
(NRQC) to decommission the facility. In 1990, the NRC trans-

ferred jurisdiction over the facility to the State of Illinois (the State).

Following is the current status of various matters associated with
the closed facility.

Closed Facility - In 1994, Chemical, the City of West
Chicago (the City) and the State reached agreement on the initial
phase of the decommissioning plan for the closed West Chicago
facility, and Chemical began shipping material from the site to a
licensed permanent disposal facility.

In February 1997, Chemical executed an agreement with the
City covering the terms and conditions for completing the final
phase of decommissioning work. The State has indicated approval
of the agreement and has issued license amendments authorizing
much of the work. Chemical expects most of the work to be
completed within the next two years, leaving principally only
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The company provided for environmental remediation and
restoration, net of authorized reimbursements, during each of the
years 2001, 2000 and 1999 as follows:

(Millions of dollars) 2001 2000 1990
Provision, net of authorized reimbursements $ 90 $112  § 3
Reimbursements received 1n 66 1
Reimbursements accrued —_ — 6

The reimbursements, which pertain to the former facility in
Wiest Chicago, Illinois, are authorized pursuant to Title X of the
Energy Policy Act of 1992 (sce Note 15).

groundwater remediation and/or monitoring for subsequent yc.r:

In 1992, the State enacted legislation imposing an annual
storage fee equal to $2 per cubic foot of byproduct material
located at the closed facility, which cannot exceed $26 million
per year. Initially, all storage fee payments were reimbursed to
Chemical as decommissioning costs were incurred. Chemical wa
fully reimbursed for all storage fees paid pursuant to this legisl
tion. In June 1997, the legislation was amended to provide thu
future storage fee obligations are to be offset against decommis
sioning costs incurred but not yet reimbursed.

Vicinity Areas — The U.S. Environmental Protection Agcuy
(EPA) has listed four areas in the vicinity of the closed West
Chicago facility on the National Priority List promulgated In
EPA under authority of the Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980 (CERCIA)
and has designated Chemical as a potentially responsible party w:
these four areas. The EPA issued unilateral administrative onler
for two of the areas (known as the residential areas and Red
Keppler Park), which require Chemical to conduct removal acion
to excavate contaminated soils and ship the soils elsewhere fi
disposal. Without waiving any of its rights or defenses, Chenue !
is conducting the work required by the two orders. Chemicat 1




completed the required excavation and restoration work at the park
site and will be monitoring the site pending final EPA approval.
Work at the residential sites is expected to be completed in 2002.
The other two areas (known as the Sewage Treatment Plant
and Kress Creek) currently are being studied to determine the
extent of contamination, and Chemical is in discussions with the
relevant authorities regarding cleanup requirements. Chemical
has indicated a willingness to undertake a cleanup of the final
two sites subject to various conditions, including the continued
reimbursement of the government’s share of costs for cleaning up
the West Chicago sites. If these conditions are met, the costs of
cleanup for these two sites are not expected to exceed the addi-
tional federal funding, as more fully discussed below.
Government Reimbursement ~ Pursuant to Title X of the
Energy Policy Act of 1992 (Tide X), the U.S. Department of
Energy (DOE) is obligated to reimburse Chemical for certain
decommissioning and cleanup costs in recognition of the fact that
much of the facility’s production was dedicated to U.S. government
contracts. Title X was amended in 1998 to increase the amount
authorized for reimbursement to $140 million plus inflation
adjustments. Through December 31, 2001, Chemical has been
reimbursed approximately $146 million under Title X. These
reimbursements are provided by congressional appropriations.
Historically, congressional authorizations under Title X have
lagged Chemical’s cleanup expenditures. At December 31, 2001,
the government’s share of costs already incurred by Chemical but
not yet reimbursed by DOE totaled approximately $95 million.
In 2001, the United States Housc of Representatives passed a bill
that would bring the congressional authorizations current as well
as authorize reimbursement for the government’s share of future
costs. That bill currently is pending in the United States Senate.

Other Matters

The company and/or its subsidiaries are parties to a number
of legal and administrative proceedings involving environmental
and/or other matters pending in various courts or agencies. These
include proceedings associated with facilities currently or previously
owned, operated or used by the company, its subsidiaries, and/or
their predecessors, and include claims for personal injuries and
property damages. The company’s current and former operations
also involve management of regulated materials and are subject
to various environmental laws and regulations. These laws and
regulations will obligate the company and/or its subsidiaries to
clean up various sites at which petroleum and other hydrocarbons,
chemicals, low-level radioactive substances and/or other materials
have been disposed of or released. Some of these sites have been

ﬁ Commitments

Lease Obligations

Total lease rental expense was $38 million in 2001, $34 mil-
lion in 2000 and $37 million in 1999.

The company has various commitments under noncancel-
able operating lease agreements, principally for office space,
production facilities and drilling equipment. During 2001, the

designated Superfund sites by EPA pursuant to CERCLA. Similar
environmental regulations exist in foreign countries in which the
company and/or its subsidiaries operate. Environmental regula-
tions in the North Sea are particularly stringent.

The company provides for costs related to contingencies
when a loss is probable and the amount is reasonably estimable.
It is not possible for the company to reliably estimate the amount
and timing of all future expenditures related to environmental
and legal marters and other contingencies because:

* some sites are in the early stages of investigation, and other

sites may be identified in the future;

* cleanup requirements are difficult to predict at sites where
remedial investigations have not been completed or final
decisions have not been made regarding cleanup require-
ments, technologies or other factors that bear on
cleanup costs;

* environmental laws frequently impose joint and several
liability on all potentially responsible parties, and it can be
difficult to determine the number and financial condition
of other potentially responsible parties and their shares of
responsibility for cleanup costs;

* environmental laws and regulations are continually
changing, and court proceedings are inherently uncertain;
and

* some legal matters are in the early stages of investigation
or proceeding or their outcomes otherwise may be difficule
to predict, and other legal matters may be identified
in the future.

Although management believes that it has established adequate
reserves for cleanup costs and legal matters, due to these uncercain-
ties the company could be required to record additional reserves in
the future.

As of December 31, 2001, the company had reserves totaling
$182 million for cleaning up and remediating environmental sites,
reflecting the reasonably estimable costs for addressing these sites.
This includes $49 million for the West Chicago sites. Cumulative
expenditures at all environmental sites through December 31, 2001,
total $928 million. Management believes, after consultation
with general counsel, that currently the company has reserved
adequately for the reasonably estimable costs of contingencies.
However, additions to the reserves may be required as additional
information is obtained that enables the company to better esti-
mate its liabilities, including liability at sites now under review,
though the company cannot now reliably estimate the amount
of future additions to the reserves.

construction of the Nansen production platform was completed
and production commenced from the Gulf of Mexico Nansen
field in January 2002. The company entered into an operating
lease agreement for the use of the platform. Including the lease
rentals for the Nansen platform, aggregate minimum annual
rentals under all operating leases in effect at December 31, 2001,
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total $370 million, of which $26 willion is duc in 2002, $20 mil-
lion in 2003, $68 willion in the period 2004 through 2006 and
$250 million thereateer.

During rhe third quarter of 2001, the company eneered
into an arrngement with Kerr-McGee Guanison Trust for the
construction of the company’s share ot a pladorns to be used i the
development of the Gulf of Mexico Gunnison field, in which the
company has a 50% working ierest. The construction ol the
company’s portion of the pladorm is being financed by a $157 il-
lion synthetic lease between the trust and a group of firancial
stitations. 1n 2000, the cotpany entered into a similar sarange-
ment with Kerr-McGee Boomvang Trust for the construction of
the company’s share of a platform to be used in the development
of the Boomvang field, in which the company has a 30% working
interest. 1he construction of the company's portion of the plat-
form is heing financed by a $78 million syntheric lease credic facil-
ity between the trustand a group of financial institutions.  After
construction, the company and the crusts are committed to enter
into operating leases for the use o the placforms. Currently, the
company is obligated 1o make lease payniems in amounts sufficient

Acquisition

On August |, 2001, the company completed the sacquisition
of all of the outstanding shares of common stock of 118 Resources,
Inc.can independent oit and gas explornion and producion com-
pany with active projects in the Denver-Juleshurg, Basing Gulf

Coast, Mid-Cominent and Northern Rocky Mountain regions of

the ULS. The acquisition added approximately 250 million cubic
feet equivalent of daily gas production and 1.3 willion cubic feet
eyuivalent of proved gas rescrves, primarily in the Denver, Colorado,
area. The addition of these prinmarily natural gas reserves provides
the company a more halanced portlolia, geographic diversity and
production mix. b addition, the acquisivion provides low risk-
exploitation drilling opportunitics from identified projects based
on HS Resourcees” seismic inventory. The acquisidon price totaled
$1.8 biflion in cash. company stock and assutuption of debr.

The company reflected the assets and labilities acquired au fair
value in its balance sheer effective August 1, 2001, and the com-
pany’s results of operations include HS Resources from Augus 1,
2001, through the end of the year 2001. The purchase price was
allocated 1o specific assets and liabilities based on their estimated
fair value at the date of acquisiion. The allocations include $348
million recorded as goodwill. The cash portion of the acquisition
toraled $955 million, including direct expenses, and was ulri-
mately financed through issuance of long-term debt. A otal of
5,057,273 shares of Kerr-McGee common stock were issued in
connection with the acquisition. The shares were valued at
$70.33 per share. the average price two days before and ateer the
purchase was announced. Debt totaling $506 million was assumed.
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to pay interest at varying rates on both of the financings. The pay-
ments for both obligations arc expected to be $5 million in 2002
$5 million in 2003, $14 millon in 2004, $16 million in 2005,
$17 mitlion in 2006, and $3955 million thereatier. The future mini-
nunm annual rentals due under noncneelable operating leases
shown above exclude any paviments refated o these agreements.

The company has guaranteed that the Nansen, Boomvang
and Guanison platforts will have residaal values at the end of
the operating leases equal o at least 10% of the fair market value
of the plactorm at the inception of the lease. For Nansen the
armteed value is $14 willion in 2022 and for Boomvang and
Gunnison estimates of the gaaratees are $8 miillion in 2022 and
$16 million in 2024, respectively.

Drilling Rig Commitments
During 1999, the company entered into lease agreements
g paity 8
to participate in the use of various drilling rigs. 'l hie total exposure
with respect to these commitments ranges from nil 1o $85 million,
depending on partner participation. 1hese agreements extend
=l ty

through 2004,

The following are the amounts altocated 1o 1he acquired
assets and liabilities based on their fair value:

{(Millions of dollirs)

S 70

Accouns reccivable
Dieposits and prepaicks 13
Other current assels 42
Propery, plint sud cquipmen 1987
Lvesunients and other assets 29
Goodwill 348
Accouans payable (94)
Accrued pavables (33
Onher current liabilides (56)
Dyeferred inconie raxes (4421
Orcher deterred credins and reserves (48!
Total S1.816

The following unaudited pro forma condensed inconie
statement information has been preparad o give effect o the HS
Resources acquisition as if it had occurred at the beginning of dhe
periods presented, including purchase accounting adjusunents.

(Millions of dollars, except per-share mounts) 2001 2000
Sales $3,870  $4,444
Income before change in accounting principle 520 826
Net income 499 826
Earings per share -
Basic 4.99 8.39
Diluted 4.73 7.83




g} Financial Instruments and Derivative Activities

Investments in Certain Debt and Equity Securities
The company has certain investments that are considered to
be available for sale. These financial instruments are carried in

the Consolidated Balance Sheet ar fair value, which is based on

quoted market prices. The company had no securities classified
as held to maturity at December 31, 2001 or 2000. At
December 31, 2001 and 2000, available-for-sale securities for
which fair value can be determined are as follows:

2001 2000

Gross Gross

Unrealized Unrealized

Falr Holding Fair Holding

{Millions of dollars) Value Cost  Galns (Losses) Value Cost Gains (Losses)

Equity securities $59 $32 $ (1) $607 $209 $398

Exchangeable debt - — —_ 514 330 (184)
U.S. government obligations —

Maturing within one year 3 3 - 2 2 —

Maturing between one year and four years 2 2 - 4 4 —

Total $(1) $214

(1) This amount includes $28 million of gross unrealized hedging losses on 15% of the exchangeable debt at the time of adoption of FAS 133.

The equity securities represent the company’s investment in
Devon Energy Company common stock, and the exchangeable
debt is the company’s debt that may be repaid with the Devon
stock currently owned by Kerr-McGee. Prior to the beginning of
2001, cthe stock and the debt were marked-to-marker each month,
with the offset recognized in accumulated other comprehensive
income. On January 1, 2001, the company adopted the provi-
sions of FAS 133 and in accordance with that standard chose to
reclassify 85% of the Devon shares owned to “trading” from the
“available for sale” category of investments. As a result of the
reclassification, the company recognized after-tax income totaling
$118 million ($181 million before taxes) for the unrealized
appreciation on 85% of the Devon shares. Additionally, with
adoption of FAS 133, the debt exchangeable for stock (DECS)
and its embedded option features were separated. The debt is
now recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at face value
less unamortized discount, and the options associated with the
exchangeable feature of the debt have been recorded at fair value
on the balance sheet as deferred credits. (See further discussion
on derivatives below.)

The Devon securities are carried in the Consolidated Balance
Sheet as Investments - Other assets. U.S. government obligations
are carried as Current Assets or as Investments - Other assets,
depending on their marurities.

The change in unrealized holding gains (losses), net of income
taxes, as shown in accumulated other comprehensive income for
the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, is as follows:

2001 2000 1999

$139 $79 $—
(22) 60 79

(Millions of dollars)

Beginning balance —
Net unrealized holding gains (losses)
Redlassification of gains included

in net income

(118) — —
$ (1) %139 $79

Ending balance

Trading Securities

As discussed above, the company has recorded 85% of its
Devon shares as trading securities and marks this investment
to market each month through income. At year-end 2001, the
market value of 8.4 million shares of Devon was $326 million,
and $188 million in unrealized pretax losses was recognized dur-
ing 2001 in Other Income in the Consolidated Statement of
Income. However, this loss was more than offset by the $205 mil-
lion unrealized gain on the embedded options associated with
the DECS. (See discussion of these derivatives below.)

Financial Instruments for Other than Trading Purposes

In addition to the financial instruments previously dis-
cussed, the company holds or issues financial instruments for
other than trading purposes. At December 31, 2001 and 2000,
the carrying amount and estimated fair value of these instru-
ments for which fair value can be determined are as follows:

2001 2000
Carrying Falr  Carrying Fair
{Millions of dollars) Amount Value Amount Value
Cash and cash
equivalents $ 91 $ 91 §$ 144 § 144
Long-term notes
receivable 107 107 67 146
Long-term receivables 26 22 33 28
Contracs to sell
foreign currencies - — — ()
Contracts to purchase
foreign currencies (15) (15) — (2)
Short-term borrowings 8 -8 6 6
Debt exchangeable for
stock excluding options 310 330
Long-term debr,
except DECS 4,256 4,319 1,905 2018
Retr M G 8 grgmaration 2000 Avounad Kopeao @
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The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approxi-
mates fair value of those instruments due to their short maturity.
The fair value of notes receivable is based on discounted cash
flows or the fair value of the note’s collateral. The fair value of
long-term receivables is based on the sales price negotiated in the
pending sale of the operation. The fair value of foreign currency
forward contracts represents the aggregate replacement cost based
on financial institutions’ quotes. The fair value of the company’s
short-term and long-term debt is based on the quoted market
prices for the same or similar debt issues or on the current rates
offered to the company for debt with the same remaining marurity.

Derivatives

The company issued the DECS in August 1999, allowing
each holder to receive between .85 and 1.0 shares of Devon stock
or the cash equivalent, at the option of the company, at maturity in
August 2004. Embedded options in the DECS provide Kerr-
McGee a floor price on Devon's common stock of $33.19 per share
(the put option). The company also retains the right to 15% of the
shares if Devon's stock price is greater than $39.16 per share (the
call option). Using the Black-Scholes valuation model, the fair
values of the embedded put and call options were $2 million and
$35 million, respectively, for a net fair value of $33 million on
December 31, 2001. During 2001, the company recorded gains
of $205 million in Other Income for the changes in fair value.
As discussed above, the fluctuation in the value of these derivatives
will generally offset the increase or decrease in the market value of
85% of the Devon stock owned by Kerr-McGee. The remaining
15% of the Devon shares are accounted for in accordance with
FAS 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity
Securities,” as available-for-sale securities with changes in market
value recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income.

From time to time, the company enters into forward contracts
to buy and sell foreign currencies. Certain of these contracts (pur-
chases of Australian dollars and British pound sterling) have been
designated and have qualified as cash flow hedges of the company’s
anticipated future cash flow needs for a portion of its capital
expenditures and operating costs. These forward contracts gener-
ally have durations of less than three years. The resulting changes
in fair value of these contracts are recorded in accumulated other
comprehensive income. The amounts in accumulated other com-
prehensive income, $18 million loss at December 31, 2001, will
be recognized in earnings in the periods during which the hedged
forecasted transactions affect earnings (i.e., when the hedged
transaction is paid in the case of a hedge of operating costs and
when the hedged assets are depreciated in the case of a hedge of
capital expenditures). In 2001, the company reclassified $9 mil-
lion of losses on forward contracts from accumulated other com-
prehensive income to operating expenses in the income statement.
Of the existing net losses at December 31, 2001, approximately
$10 million will be reclassified into earnings during the next 12
months, assuming no further changes in fair value of the con-
tracts. No hedges were discontinued during 2001, and no inef-
fectiveness was recognized. The company recognized net foreign
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currency hedging losses of $6 million in 2000 and $5 million in
1999, respectively.

The company has entered into other forward contracts to sell
foreign currencies, which will be collected as a result of pigment
sales denominated in foreign currencies, primarily in euros. These
contracts have not been designated as hedges even though they do
protect the company from changes in foreign currency rate changes.
Almost all of the pigment receivables have been sold in an asset
securitization program at their equivalent U.S. dollar value at the
date the receivables were sold. However, the company retains the
risk of foreign currency rate changes between the date of sale and
collection of the receivables.

The company has periodically used derivative instruments
to reduce the effect of the price volatility of crude oil and natural
gas. As discussed in Note 17, the company purchased 100% of
the outstanding shares of common stock of HS Resources effec-
tive August 1, 2001. At the time of the purchase, HS Resources
(now Kerr-McGee Rocky Mountain) and its trading subsidiary
(now Kerr-McGee Energy Services) had a number of derivative
contracts for purchases and sales of oil and gas, basis differences
and energy-related contracts. Al of these contracts are being
treated by the company as speculative and are recorded ar their
fair market value on the balance sheet and marked-to-market
through income each month.

HS Resources hedged a portion of its equity oil and gas pro-
duction with NYMEX fixed-price and basis contracts. The fixed
price contracts will expire in 2002, and the basis contracts will
expire by 2008. The company has chosen to let the contracts run
until maturity, unless closed earlier. The net fair value of these
commodity-related derivatives was $6 million at year-end 2001.
Of this amount, $6 million was recorded in current assets, $5 mil-
lion in investments — other assets, $4 million in current liabilities
and $1 million in deferred credits. The net gain associated with
these derivatives was $27 million in 2001 and is included in Other
Income in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

The trading subsidiary, Kerr-McGee Energy Services (KMES),
markets purchased gas (primarily equity gas) in the Denver area.
Existing contracts for the physical delivery of gas at fixed or index-
plus prices and associated transportation contracts are marked-to
market each month in accordance with FAS 133. KMES has
entered into basis and price derivative contracts that offset its fixed
price risk on physical contracts. These derivative contracts lock in
the margins associated with the physical sale. The company believes
thar the risk associated with these derivatives is minimal due to the
credit-worthiness of the counterparties. The net fair market valuc
of the commodity-related derivatives, physical contracts and tran«
portation contracts was $21 million at year-end 2001. Of this
amount, $30 million was recorded in current assets, $11 million in
investments — other assets, $19 million in current liabilities and
$1 million in deferred credits. The 2001 net loss associated with
these derivatives and energy-related contracts was $24 mitlion and
is included in Sales in the Consolidated Statement of Income. T
company did not enter into any commodity-related derivatives
during 2000 or 1999.
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E}J Common Stock
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Changes in common stock issued and treasury stock held
for 2001, 2000 and 1999 are as follows: '

(Thousands of shares) Common Stock Treasury Stock
Balance December 31, 1998 93,378 7,011
Exercise of stock options and stock appreciation rights 112 —
Issuance of restricted stock 4 —
Balance December 31, 1999 93,494 7,011
Exercise of stock options and stock appreciation rights 423 —
Public offering 7,500 —
Issuance of restricted stock — (78)
Balance December 31, 2000 101,417 6,933
Exercise of stock options and stock appreciation rights 533 —
Cancellation of outstanding shares of Kerr-McGee Operating Corporation
(formerly Kerr-McGee Corporation) (95,118) —
Issuance of stock by Kerr-McGee Corporation (new holding company) 95,118 —
Shares issued to purchase HS Resources 5,057 —
Cancellation of treasury stock (6,838) (6,838)
Issuance of restricted stock 16 (102)
Forfeiture of restricted stock — 8
Issuance of shares for achievement awards 1 —
Balance December 31, 2001 100,186 1

The company has 40 million shares of preferred stock with-
out par value authorized, and none is issued.

There are 1,107,692 shares of the company’s common
stock registered in the name of a wholly owned subsidiary of the
company. These shares are not included in the number of shares
shown in the preceding table or in the Consolidated Balance
Sheet. These shares are not entitled to be voted.

The company has granted 118,000, 74,000 and 4,000 shares
of restricted common stock in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively,
to certain key employees under the 2000 and the 1998 Long-Term
Incentive Plans. Shares are awarded in the name of the employee,
who has all the rights of a shareholder, subject to certain restrictions
on transferability and a risk of forfeiture. Of the restricted shares
granted in 2001, the forfeiture provisions on 72,000 shares expire
on January 9, 2004. Of the remaining shares granted in 2001,
the forfeiture provisions lapse one-third per year over a three year
period beginning on January 9, 2001 and August 1, 2001, for
29,000 shares and 16,000 shares, respectively. The forfeiture provi-
sions on awards granted in 2000 lapse one-third per year over a

three-year period beginning on January 11, 2003. The forfeiture
provisions on the 1999 awards expire on December 1, 2003.
During 2001, 8,000 shares of restricted stock were forfeited.

The company has had a stockholders-rights plan since 1986.
‘The current rights plan is dated July 26, 2001, and replaced the
previous plan prior to its expiration. Rights were distributed as a
dividend at the rate of one right for each share of the company’s
common stock and continue to trade together with each share of
common stock. Generally, the rights become exercisable the ear-
lier of 10 days after a public announcement that a person or
group has acquired, or a tender offer has been made for, 15% or
more of the company’s then-outstanding stock. If either of these
events occurs, each right would entitle the holder (other than a
holder owning more than 15% of the outstanding stock) to buy
the number of shares of the company’s common stock having a
market value two times the exercise price. The exercise price is
$215. Generally, the rights may be redeemed at $.01 per right
until a person or group has acquired 15% or more of the com-
pany’s stock. The rights expire in July 2006.
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FS Other Income

Other income was as follows during each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 2001:

(Millions of dollars) 2001 2000 199
Derivatives and Devon stock revaluation(! $225 $— $-
Interest 22 29 14
Income (loss) from unconsolidated affiliates (5) 23 16
Gain on foreign currency exchange 3 30 11
Gain on sale of assets 4 6 3
Plant closing/product line discontinuation - (21) -
Other (12) (9) (4
Total $237 $58 $40

(1) See Note 18.

Eamings Per Share

Basic net income per share includes no dilution and is com-
puted by dividing income available to common stockholders by
the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for
the period. Diluted net income per share reflects the potential

dilution that could occur if security interests were exercised or
converted into common stock.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic
and diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31,
2001, 2000 and 1999.

2001 2000 1999
(Millions of dollars, except per-share Net Net Income Net Net Income Net Net Income
amounts and thousands of shares) Income Shares Per Share Income Shares Per Share Income Shares Per Share
Basic earnings per share —
Net income available to
common stockholders $486 97,106 $5.01 $842 93,406 $9.01 $142 86,414 $1.64
Diluted earnings per share —
Effect of dilutive securities:
5-1/4% convertible debentures 22 9,824 19 8,720 — —
7-1/2% convertible debentures —_ - 9 1,697 — —
Employee stock options - 181 —_ 164 — 83
Income available to common
stockholders, including
assumed dilution $508 107,111 $4.74 $870 103,987 $8.37 $142 86,497 $1.64

Not included in the calculation of the denominator for diluted
earnings per share were 2,219,858, 2,113,284 and 2,063,079
employee stock options outstanding at year-end 2001, 2000 and
1999, respectively. The inclusion of these options would have
been antidilutive since they were not “in the money” at the end
of the respective years.
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The company has reserved 9,823,778 shares of common
stock for issuance to the owners of its 5-1/4% Convertible
Subordinated Debentures due 2010. These debentures are con-
vertible into the company’s common stock at any time prior to
maturity at $61.08 per share of common stock. The company
retired the 7-1/2% Convertible Subordinated Debentures in 2001,




ﬁ} Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of

Assets to Be Disposed Of

In 2001, the company’s exploration and production operat-
ing unit suspended production from the Hutton field in the
North Sea due to concerns about the oil export pipeline’s
integrity. It was determined that due to the amount of corrosion
present in the pipeline, replacement of the pipeline would be
required to allow production to resume. After careful study, the
company, as operator, and the other partners decided not to
replace the pipeline due to the small amount of remaining field
reserves and plan to decommission the field. The Hutron field
was deemed to be impaired because recovery of the net book
value from future cash flows could no longer be expected. In
2001, an impairment loss of $47 million was determined based
on the difference between the carrying value of the assets and the
present value of the field’s discounted future cash flows, net of
expected proceeds from the sale of the Hutton Tension Leg
Platform (TLP). The Hutton TLP is a production, drilling and
accommodation facility located at the Hutton field.

At the end of 2001, the company’s chemical - pigment oper-
ating unit ceased production at its titanium dioxide pigment
plant in Antwerp, Belgium. The plant closing is part of the com-
pany’s strategy to improve efficiencies and enhance margins by
rationalizing assets within the chemical unit. A $14 million
impairment loss was recognized in 2001, which reduced the car-
rying value of the asset to $1 million.

The company’s chemical - other operating unit ceased pro-
duction at its manganese metal production facility in Hamilton,
Mississippi, during 2001. Production was ceased due to low-
priced imports and softening prices that made the product no
longer profitable. A $13 million impairment loss was recognized

" Employee Stock Option Plans

The 2000 Long Term Incentive Plan (2000 Plan) authorizes
the issuance of shares of the company’s common stock any time
prior to April 30, 2010, in the form of stock options, restricted
stock or long-term performance awards. The options may be
accompanied by stock appreciation rights. A total of 2,500,000
shares of the company’s common stock is authorized to be issued
under the 2000 Plan.

In January 1998, the Board of Directors approved a broad-
hased stock option plan (BSOP) that provides for the granting
of options to purchase the company’s common stock to full-
time, nonbargaining unit employees, except officers. A total of
1,500,000 shares of common stock is authorized to be issued
under the BSOP.

The 1987 Long Term Incentive Program (1987 Program) and
the 1998 Long Term Incentive Plan (1998 Plan) authorized the
isuance of shares of the company’s stock over a 15-year period and

in 2001, which reduced the carrying value of the asset to nil.
Also in 2001, due to the loss of its only major customer, a wood-
preserving plant in Indianapolis, Indiana, was deemed to be
impaired because the asset was no longer expected to recover its
net book value through future cash flows. A $2 million impair-
ment loss was recognized in 2001, which reduced the carrying
value of the asset to $1 million. Plant operation will be suspended
until the outcome of a viability assessment is completed.

Following are the sales and pretax income included in the
Consolidated Statement of Income for assets the company
decided to dispose of during 2001. Since each of these assets to
be disposed of represents a small portion of a business segment or
legal entity, the pretax income amounts may not include all indi-
rect costs that might otherwise have been incurred by an unre-
lated operation. The impairment losses are included in the pre-
tax income amounts for 2001. The company had no material
assets held for disposal at year-end 2000 or 1999.

(Millions of dollars) 2001 2000 1999
Sales -
Exploration and production $ 13 $52 $44
Chemicals — pigment 37 52 47
Chemicals ~ other 26 40 46
Total $ 76 $144 8137

Pretax income (loss) —
Exploration and production

$(50) $19 %16

Chemicals ~ pigment (53) — 2)
Chemicals — other (27) — 2
Total $(130) $ 19 $16

10-year period, respectively, in the form of stock options, restricted
stock or long-term performance awards. The 1987 Program was
terminated when the stockholders approved the 1998 Plan, and
the 1998 Plan was terminated with the approval of the 2000 Plan.
No options could be granted under the 1987 Program or the
1998 Plan after that time, although options and any accompany-
ing stock appreciation rights outstanding may be exercised prior
to their respective expiration dates.

The company’s employee stock options are fixed-price options
granted at the fair market value of the underlying common stock
on the date of the grant. Generally, one-third of each grant vests
and becomes exercisable over a three-year period immediately fol-
lowing the grant date and expires 10 years after the grant date.

The following table summarizes the stock option transactions
for the 2000 Plan, the BSOP, the 1998 Plan and the 1987 Program.
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2(_]01 2000 1999
Weighted-Average Weighted-Average Weighted-Average
Exercise Price Exercise Price Exercise Price
Options per Option Options per Option Options per Option
Outstanding, beginning of year 3,036,605 $59.66 2,823,334 $56.78 2,783,482 $58.77
Oprtions granted 1,024,530 65.19 719,550 63.53 377,000 46.53
Options exercised (532,260) 59.55 (426,561) 46.59 (110,521) 42.20
Oprtions surrendered upon exercise
of stock appreciation rights (1,900) 42,63 (7,300) 45.57 (14,000) 45.25
Options forfeited (62,539) 62.78 (46,779) 61.79 (45,929) 60.73
Options expired (30,691) 63.74 (25,639) 72.95 (166,698) 72.95
Ourstanding, end of year 3,433,745 61.18 3,036,605 59.66 2,823,334 56.78
Exercisable, end of year 1,935,880 59.32 2,007,036 59.70 2,003,138 57.63
The following table summarizes information about stock
options issued under the plans described above that are outstand-
ing and exercisable at December 31, 2001:
Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Range of Weighted-Average Weighted-Average Weighted-Average
Exercise Prices Renutining Contractual Exercisc Price Exercise Price
Options per Option Life (years) per Option Options per Option
19,184 $30.00-$39.99 2.0 $34.65 19,184 $34.65
361,347 40.00- 49.99 3.9 43.14 313,009 43.59
725,730 50.00- 59.99 5.2 56.89 676,349 57.07
2,148,572 60.00- 69.99 7.2 64.93 748,426 65.34
178,912 70.00- 79.99 2.9 72.79 178,912 72.79
3,433,745 30.00- 79.99 6.2 61.18 1,935,880 59.32

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No.
123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” prescribes a
fair-value method of accounting for employee stock options
under which compensation expense is measured based on the
estimated fair value of stock options at the grant date and recog-
nized over the period that the options vest. The company, how-
ever, chooses to account for its stock option plans under the
optional intrinsic value method of APB No. 25, “Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees,” whereby no compensation expense
is recognized for fixed-price stock options. Compensation cost
for stock appreciation rights, which is recognized under both
accounting methods, was immaterial for 2001, 2000 and 1999.

Had compensation expense been determined in accordance
with SFAS No. 123, the resulting compensation expense would
have affected net income and per-share amounts as shown in the
following table. These amounts may not be representative of
future compensation expense using the fair-value method of
accounting for employee stock options as the number of options

accounting has not been applied to options granted prior to

January 1, 1995.

(Millions of dollars, except per-share amounts) 2001 2000 1994
Net income-
As reported $486 $842 $14.
Pro forma 478 835 136
Net income per share —
Basic -
As reported 5.01 9.01 1.rs
Pro forma 4.92 8.94 1.5
Diluted -
As reported 4.74 8.37 i.01
Pro forma 4.66 8.30 1.5

The fair value of each option granted in 2001, 2000 and
1999 was estimated as of the date of grant using the Black-Schalc-
option pricing model with the following weighted-average

granted in a particular year may not be indicative of the number assumptions.
of options granted in future years, and the fair-value method of
Assumptions

Weighted—/\\'n'l.n‘g-
Risk-Free Expected Expected Life Expected Fair Vitlw .
Incerest Rate Dividend Yield (years) Volatility Options Citane |
2001 5.0% 3.3% 5.8 42.9% $220
2000 6.6 3.1 5.8 313 190
1999 54 3.1 5.8 25.2 (RIRY
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E: Employee Benefit Plans

The company has both noncontributory and contributory
defined-benefit retirement plans and company-sponsored con-
tributory postretirement plans for health care and life insurance.
Most employees are covered under the company’s retirement

plans, and substantially all U.S. employees may become eligible
for the postretirement benefits if they reach retirement age while
working for the company. Following are the changes in the ben-
efit obligations during the past two years:

Postretirement Health

Retirement Plans and Life Plans
(Millions of dollars) 2001 2000 2001 2000
Benefit obligation, beginning of year $1,014 $ 977 $230 $215
Service cost 22 17 2 2
Interest cost 73 72 17 15
Plan amendments 21 3) — —_
Net actuarial gain 17 (12) 43 (8)
Acquisitions - 58 - 21
Foreign exchange rate changes (3) (1) - —
Assumption changes 37 — - —
Contributions by plan participants - — 8 7
Benefits paid (106) (94) (29) (22)
Benefir obligation, end of year $1,075 $1,014 $2711 $230

The benefit amount that can be covered by the retirement
plans that qualify under the Employee Retirement Income Security
Act of 1974 (ERISA) is limited by both ERISA and the Internal
Revenue Code. Therefore, the company has unfunded supple-
mental plans designed to maintain benefits for all employees at
the plan formula level and to provide senior executives with ben-
efits equal to a specified percentage of their final average compen-
sation. The benefit obligation for the U.S. and certain foreign
unfunded retirement plans was $44 million and $37 million at

December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Although not con-
sidered plan assets, a grantor trust was established from which pay-
ments for certain of these U.S. supplemental plans are made. The
trust had a balance of $28 million at year-end 2001 and $24 mil-
lion at year-end 2000. The postretirement plans are also unfunded.

Following are the changes in the fair value of plan assets dur-
ing the past two years and the reconciliation of the plans’ funded
status to the amounts recognized in the financial statements at
December 31, 2001 and 2000:

Postretirement Health

Retirement Plans and Life Plans

(Millions of dollars) 2001 2000 2001 2000
Eair value of plan assets, beginning of year $1,558 $ 1,653 $ — $ —
Actual return on plan assets (73) (80) —_ —
Employer contribution 9 20 - —
Acquisitions - 61 - —
Foreign exchange rate changes (4) ) —_ —
Benefits paid (106) 94) —_ —
Fair value of plan assets, end of year 1,384 1,558 —_ —
Benefit obligation (1,075) (1,014) (271) (230)
Funded status of plans - over (under) 309 544 (271) (230)
Amounts not recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheet —
Prior service costs 89 76 4 4
Ner actuarial loss (gain) (235) (508) 45 3
Prepaid expense (accrued liability) $ 163 $ 112 $(222) $(223)
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Following is the classification of the amounts recognized in
the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2001 and 2000:

Postretiremen | e-dih

Retirement Plans and Lifi-_l’l.nu
(Millions of dollars) 2001 2000 2001 Mty
Prepaid bencfits expense $191 $140 $ — s
Accrued benefit liability (31) (29) (222) (204
Additional minimum liability —
Accumulated other comprehensive income 3 1 —
Total $163 $112 $(222) S0
Total costs recognized for employee retirement and post-
retirement benefit plans for each of the years ended December 31,
2001, 2000 and 1999, were as follows:
Retirement Plans Postretirement Healelr and Life Plans
(Millions of dollars) 2001 2000 1999 2001 2000 1991
Net periodic cost -
Service cost $ 22 $ 17 $15 $2 $2 $1
Interest cost 73 72 69 17 15 9
Expected return on plan assets (124) (111) (98) - —
Net amortization —
Transition asset (1) (5 (6) - —
Prior service cost 9 8 12 1 1
Nect actuarial gain (23) (17) ..(3) - —
(44) (36) (1) 20 18 10
Dispositions, curtailments, serelements - — 29 - —
Total $ (44) $ (36) $18 $20 $18 $ia
The following assumptions were used in estimating the
actuarial present value of the plans’ benefic obligations and net
periodic expense:
2001 2000 1999
United States Intemational United States Internadonal United States International
Discount rate 1.25% 5.75% 7.75% 5.5-6.5% 7.75% 5.5-6.5"
Expected return on plan assets 9.0 70 9.0 7.0 9.0-9.5 6.25
Rate of compensation increases 5.0 2575 5.0 3.0-5.0 5.0 3.0-5.0

The health care cost trend rates used to determine the year-
end 2001 postretirement benefic obligation were 7% in 2002,
gradually declining to 5% in the year 2010 and thereafrer. A 1%
increase in the assumed health care cost trend rate for each future
year would increase the postretirement benefit obligation at
December 31, 2001, by $23 million and increase the aggregate
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of the service and interest cost components of net periodic
postretirement expense for 2001 by $2 million. A 1% decrease
in the trend rate for each future year would reduce the benefit
obligation at year-end 2001 by $23 million and decrease the
aggregate of the service and interest cost components of the net
periodic postretirement expense for 2001 by $2 million.




E Employee Stock Ownership Plan

In 1989, the company’s Board of Directors approved a
leveraged Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP) into which
is paid the company’s matching contribution for the employees
contributions to the Kerr-McGee Corporation Savings Investment
Plan (SIP). The ESOP was amended in 2001 to provide match-
ing contributions for the employees’ contributions made to the
Kerr-McGee Pigments (Savannah), Inc. Employees’ Savings Plan,
a savings plan for the bargaining unit employees at the company’s
Savannah, Georgia, pigment plant (Savannah Plan). Most of the
company’s employees are eligible to participate in both the ESOP
and the SIP or Savannah Plan. Although the ESOP, SIP and
Savannah Plan are separate plans, matching contributions to the
ESOP are contingent upon participants’ contributions to the SIP
or Savannah Plan. Additionally, HS Resources had a savings plan
at the time of acquisition, which had only discretionary cash
contributions by the employer. Kerr-McGee paid $1 million into
this plan in December 2001. Beginning January 1, 2002, the
remaining HS Resources employees became eligible to participate
in the Kerr-McGee ESOP and SIP.

In 1989, the ESOP trust borrowed $125 million from a
group of lending institutions and used the proceeds to purchase
approximately three million shares of the company’s treasury
stock. The company used the $125 million in proceeds from the
sale of the stock to acquire shares of its common stock in open-
market and privately negotiated transactions. In 1996, a portion
of the third-party borrowings was replaced with a note payable to
the company (sponsor financing). The third-party borrowings
are guaranteed by the company and are reflected in the Consoli-
dated Balance Sheet as Long-Term Debt, while the sponsor financ-
ing does not appear in the company’s balance sheet. The remain-
ing balance of the sponsor financing is $4 million at year-end 2001.

The Oryx Capital Accumulation Plan (CAP) was a com-
bined stock bonus and leveraged employee stock ownership plan
available to substantially all U.S. employees of the former Oryx
operations. On August 1, 1989, Oryx privately placed $110 mil-
lion of notes pursuant to the provisions of the CAP. Oryx loaned
the proceeds to the CAP, which used the funds to purchase Oryx
common stock that was placed in a trust. This loan was sponsor
financing and does not appear in the accompanying balance
sheet. The remaining balance of the sponsor financing is $77
million at year-end 2001.

During 1999, the company merged the Oryx CAP into the
ESOP and SIP. As a result, a rotal of 159,000 and 294,000 shares

was transferred from the CAP into the ESOP and SIP, respectively.

The company stock owned by the ESOP trust is held ina
foan suspense account. Deferred compensation, representing the
unallocated ESOP shares, is reflected as a reduction of stockhold-
ers’ equity. The company’s matching contribution and dividends
on the shares held by the ESOP trust are used to repay the loan,
and stock is released from the loan suspense account as the prin-
cipal and interest are paid. The expense is recognized and stock
is then allocated to participants’ accounts at market value as the
participants’ contributions are made to the SIP: Long-term debr
is reduced as payments are made on the third-party financing.
Dividends paid on the common stock held in participants’ accounts
are also used to repay the loans, and stock with a market value equal
to the amount of dividends is allocated to participants’ accounts.

Shares of stock allocated to the ESOP participants’ accounts
and in the loan suspense account are as follows:

(Thousands of shares) 2001 2000
Participants’ accounts 1,407 1,303
Loan suspense account 873 1,114

The shares allocated to ESOP participants at December 31,
2001, included approximately 68,000 shares relcased in January
2002, and at December 31, 2000, included approximately
57,000 shares relcased in January 2001.

All ESOP shares are considered outstanding for net income
per-share calculations. Dividends on ESOP shares are charged to
retained earnings.

Compensation expense is recognized using the cost method
and is reduced for dividends paid on the unallocated ESOP
shares. The company recognized ESOP expense of $12 million
and $11 million in 2001 and 2000, respectively, and ESOP and
CAP-related expense of $14 million in 1999. These amounts
include interest expense incurred on the third-party ESOP debt
of $2 million in 2001, $3 million in 2000 and $4 million in
1999. The company contributed $22 million and $21 million to
the ESOP in 2001 and 2000, respectively, and $25 million to the
ESOP and CAP in 1999. Included in the contributions were
$12 million for both 2001 and 2000 and $17 million in 1999 for
principal and interest payments on the sponsor financings. The
cash contributions are net of $4 million for the dividends paid on
the company stock held by the ESOP trust in each of the ycars
2001, 2000 and 1999.
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13 Condensed Consolidating Financial Information

In connection with the acquisition of HS Resources, a holding purchase of HS Resources. As a result of these guarantee arrange-

company structure was implemented. (See Note 1 for a discus- ments, the company is now required to present condensed con-
sion of the new organization.) solidating financial information. Since neither the new holding
On October 3, 2001, Kerr-McGee Corporation issued company nor any guarantee arrangement existed during 2000,
$1.5 billion of long-term notes in a public offering. The notesare  comparative consolidated financial information is not presented.
general, unsecured obligations of the company and rank on parity The following condensed consolidating financial informa-
with all of the company’s other unsecured and unsubordinated tion presents the balance sheet as of December 31, 2001, and the
indebtedness. Kerr-McGee Operating Corporation and Kerr- related statements of income and cash flows for the year 2001,

McGee Rocky Mountain Corporation have guaranteed the notes.  for (a) Kerr-McGee Corporation, the holding company, (b) the
Additionally, Kerr-McGee Corporation has guaranteed all indebted-  guarantor subsidiaries, and (c) the non-guarantor subsidiaries on
ness of its subsidiaries, including the indebtedness assumed in the a consolidated basis.

Condensed Consolidating Income Statement for the Year Ended December 31, 2001

Kerr-McGee Guarantor Non-Guarantor '
(Millions of dollars) Corporation Subsidiaries Subsidiaries  Eliminations  Consolidated l
Sales $ — $122 $3,873 $ (357) $3,638
Costs and Expenses
Costs and operating expenses — 48 1,625 (357) 1,316
Selling, general and administrative expenses — 69 168 — 237
Shipping and handling expenses — 2 117 — 119
Depreciation and depletion — 57 666 — 723
Asset impairment — — 76 — 76
Exploration, including dry holes and amortization
of undeveloped leases - 15 196 — 211
Taxes, other than income taxes — 13 102 ket 115
Provision for environmental remediation and restoration
of inactive sites, net of reimbursements — 82 — =2 82
Interest and debt expense 36 202 118 (164) 192
Total Costs and Expenses 36 488 3,068 (521) 3,071
(36) (366) 805 164 567
Other income 903 820 165 (1,651) 237
income before income Taxes and Change in Accounting Principle 867 454 970 (1,487) 804
Taxes on income —_— 87 (385) — (298)
income before Change in Accounting Principle 867 541 585 (1,487) 506
Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principie
(net of iIncome taxes) —_ 21 1 —_ (20)
Net Income $867 $ 520 $ 586 $(1,487) $ 486
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Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2001

Kerr-McGee Guarantor Non-Guarantor
(Millions of dollars) Corporation Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations  Consolidated
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash $ — $ 3 $ 8 § — $ 9
Intercompany receivables 1,001 (524) 1,866 (2,343) —
Accounts receivable — 41 441 — 482
Inventories — 4 435 —_ 439
Deposits, prepaid expenses and other assets — 50 82 223 355
Total Current Assets 1,001 (426) 2,912 (2,120) 1,367
Property, Plant and Equipment - Net —_ 2,072 6,250 — 8,322
Investments and Other Assets 12 641 323 (60) 916
Investments in and Advances to Subsidiaries 2,322 5,044 1,708 (9,074) —
Goodwill — 348 8 — 356
Total Assets $3,335 $7.679 $11,201  $(11,254)  $10,961
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 45 $ 95 $ 515 $§ — § 655
Short-term borrowings —_ —_ 8 —_ 8
Intercompany borrowings —_ 1,316 1,026 (2,342) —
Long-term debt due within one year — 23 3 — 26
Other current liabilities 34 (186) 403 234 485
Total Current Liabilities 79 1,248 1,955 (2,108) 1,174
Long-Term Debt 1,497 2,017 1,026 — 4,540
Deferred Credits and Reserves — 953 1,110 10 2,073
Investments by and Advances from Parent — 36 955 991) —
Stockholders’ Equity 1,759 3,425 6,155 (8,165) 3,174
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $3,335 $7,679 $11,201  $(11,254) $10,961
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ended December 31, 2001

Kerr-McGee Guarantor  Non-Guarantor
(Millions of dollars) Corporation Subsidiarics Subsidiaries Eliminations  Cotsolidin .

Cash Flow from Operating Activities
Net income $ 867 $ 520 $ 586 $(1,487) $ A8
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities —

Depreciation, depletion and amortization — 60 719 — 7
Deferred income taxes -— 106 99 —_— AT
Dry hole costs — — 72 — )
Asset impairment — — 76 - «
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 97 (585) — 488
Provision for environmental remediation and
restoration of inactive sites — 82 — - 8
Gains on asset retirements and sales — (3) 9) — (12
Noncash items affecting net income - (200) 53 - - (14
Changes in current assets and liabilitics and other,
net of effects of operations acquired (1,461) 804 (740) 999 (398
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (497) 784 856 — 1,143
Cash Flow from Investing Activities
Capital expenditures — (95) (1,697) — (1,793
Dry hole costs — — (72) - (71
Acquisitions (955) — (23) — (978
Other investing activities — 6 61) -— (55)
Net cash used in investing activities (955) . (89 (1,853) —_ (2,897

Cash Flow from Financing Activities

Issuance of long-term debt 1,497 (10) 1,026 — 2,504
Repayment of long-term debt — (587) (74) — (661)
Increase (decrease) in short-term borrowings - (1 2 — )]
Increase (decrease) in intercompany notes payable — 1,009 ) (1,000) -
Issuance of common stock - 32 —_ — 3
Dividends paid (45) (1,128) — 1,000 (17
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activitics 1,452 (695) 945 — 1,70
Effects of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents — — (1) —_— (n
Net Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents —_ — (53) —_ (53)
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year — 3 141 — 14
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year $ — $ 3 $ 88 $ — $ 9l
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[ “/ Reporting by Business Segments and Geographic Locations

The company has three reportable segments: oil and gas
exploration and production and manufacturing and marketing of
titanium dioxide pigment and other chemicals. The exploration
and production unit produces and explores for oil and gas in the
United States, the United Kingdom sector of the North Sea,
Indonesia, China, Kazakhstan and Ecuador. Exploration efforts
are also extended to Australia, Benin, Brazil, Gabon, Morocco,
Canada, Thailand, Yemen and the Danish sector of the North
Sea. The chemical unit primarily produces and markets titanium
dioxide pigment and has production facilities in the United States,
Australia, Germany and the Netherlands. Other chemicals include
the company’s electrolytic manufacturing and marketing operations

and forest products treatment business. Al of these operatians
are in the United States.

Crude oil sales to individually significant customers totaled
$408 million to Texon L. and $401 million to B Ol Interna-
tional in 2001, $548 million to Texon L.P. and $85Y million to BP
Oil International in 2000 and $420 million to BP Oil International
in 1999. In addition, natural gas sales to Cinergy Marketing &
Trading LP totaled $682 million and $522 million in 2001 and
2000, respectively. There were no individually significant natural
gas customers in 1999. Sales to subsidiary companies are elimi-
nated as described in Note 1.

(Millions of dolars) 2001 2000 1999
Sales —
Exploration and production $2,511 $2,860 $1,784
Chemicals -
Pigment 931 1,034 725
Other 196 227 234
Total Chemicals 1,127 1,261 959
Total $3,638 $4,121 $2,743
Operating profit (loss)(" -
Exploration and production $ 959 $1,467 $ 542
Chemicals —
Pigment ! (22) 130 113
Other (17) 17 14
Total Chemicals (39) 147 127
Total $ 920 $1,614 $ 669
Net operating profit (loss)M -
Exploration and production $ 600 $ 946 $ 338
Chemicals —
Pigment (12) 70 73
Other (11) 11 9
Total Chemicals (23) 81 82
Toral 577 1,027 420
Net interest expense!" (109) (117) (117)
Net nonoperating expense“) 38 (68) (157)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of taxes (20) — 4
Net income $ 486 $ 842 $ 142
Depreciation, depletion and amortization —
Exploration and production $ 651 $ 632 $ 578
Chemicals -
Pigment 103 71 45
Other 17 21 18
Total Chemicals 120 92 63
Other 8 8 7
Total $ 7719 $ 732 $ 648

(1) Includes special items. Refer to Management's Discussion and Analysis.
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Results of Operations from Crude Oil and Natural Gas Activities

"I'he results of operations from crude oil and natural gas
activitics for the three years ended December 31, 2001, consist of
the following;

Results of
Production Orher Depreciation IncomeTax - Operations,
Gross (Lifting) Related  Exploration  and Depletion Asset Expenses Producing
(Millions of dollars) Revenues Costs Costs'? Expenses Expenses  Impairment (Bencfits) Activities
2001 -
United States $1,402 $231 $ $100 $317 $ — $248 $437
North Sea 922 227 61 29 253 47 120 185
Other international 140 25 36 81 21 — ) 21
Total crude oil and
natural gas activitics 2,464 483 166 210 591 47 366 601
Other®? 47 45 5 1 4 — @ (h
Total $2,511 $528 171 $211 $595 $ 47 $359 $600
2000 -
United States $1.436 $198 $ 67 $ 95 $286 $ — $277 $513
North Sea 1,264 262 55 26 283 — 219 419
Other international 143 24 27 49 14 — 21 8
Total crude oil and
natural gas activitics 2,843 484 149 170 583 — - 517 940
Other® 17 6 — — 1 - . 4 6
Total $2,860 $490 $149 $170 $584 $— $521 $940
1999 -
United States $ 950 $178 $ 85 $97 + $316 $— $ 9 $178
North Sea 731 199 54 22 205 — 99 152
Other international 79 23 20 21 15 — 2 (2
Total crude oil and
natural gas activities 1,760 400 159 140 536 — 197 328
Other® 24 6 — —_ 1 — 7 1
Total $1,784 $406 $159 $140 $537 $— $204 $338

(1) Includes transition and restructuring charges of $1 million and $20 million in 2001 and 1999, respectively. (Sec Note 10.)
(2) Includes gas marketing, gas processing plants, pipelines and other items that do not fit the definition of crude oil and natural gas acrivities but have been included
above to reconcile to the segment presentations.
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The table below presents the company’s average per-unit Natural gas production las heen convetted o banchob il

sales price of crude oil and natural gas and production costs equivalent based on approximate relative heanny, vahie (6 Ml
per barrel of oil equivalent for each of the past three years. equals 1 barrel).
2001 2000 1499
Average sales price —
Crude oil (per barrel) -
United States $22.05 $27.50 $16.90
North Sea 23.23 27.92 17.88
Other international 2114 26.13 14.77
Average 22.58 27.64 17.26
Natural gas (per Mcf) —
United States 3.99 4.11 241
North Sea 246 232 2.12
Average 3.83 3.87 2.38

Production costs —
(per barrel of oil equivalent)

United States 3.79 3.59 2.92
North Sea 5.53 5.55 4.81
Qther internarional 3.82 4.39 432

Average 4.45 4.49 3.72

E’, Capitalized Costs of Crude Oil and Natural Gas Activities

Capitalized costs of crude oil and natural gas activities and
the related reserves for depreciation, depletion and amortization
at the end of 2001 and 2000 are set forth in the table below.

(Millions of dollars) 2001 2000
Capitalized costs —
Proved properties $13,206 $10,244
Unproved properties 819 549
Other 358 101
Total 14,383 10,894
Reserves for depreciation, depletion and amortization —
Proved properties 6,907 6,413
Unproved properties 151 119
Other 69 49
Total 7127 6,581
Net capitalized costs $ 7,256 $ 4,313
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Crude Oil, Condensate, Natural Gas Liquids and Natural Gas Net Reserves (Unaudited)

The estimates of proved reserves have been prepared by
the company’s geologists and engineers in accordance with the

Securities and Exchange Commission definitions. Such estimates
include reserves on certain properties that are partially undeveloped

and reserves that may be obrained in the future by improved

recovery opcrations now in operation or for which successful test-
ing has been demonstrated. The company has no proved reserves

attributable to long-term supply agreements with governments

or consolidated subsidiaries in which there are sigsn!
minority interests. Natural gas liquids and natural
are determined using a gas pressure base of 14.75 v
The following table summarizes the changes ins 1l
quantities of the company's crude oil, condensate, nae
liquids and natural gas reserves for the three years cnd! 1

31, 2001.

Crude Qil. Condensate and
Natural Gas Liquids
(Milkions of barrels)

Natural Gas
(Billions of cubic fr

Order Ol
United North  Interna- United North  Juteria
Staes Sea tional Total States Sea tienal
Proved developed and undeveloped reserves —

Balance Decemiber 31, 1998 254 220 103 577 1,333 242 3
Revisions of previous estimates 5 14 1 20 14 9 !
Purchases of reserves in place 4 7 — 11 19 36
Sales of reserves in place n 5) —_ (6) €)) —

Extensions. discoveries and other additions 1 34 13 48 103 2 jis
Production (29) (38) ) (72) (194) (23)

Balance December 31, 1999 234 232 112 578 1,274 266 Sin
Revisions of previous estimates ) 7 —_ (2) 11 40
Purchases of reserves in place 1 68 — 69 19 173
Sales of reserves in place (1 — — (1) (37) — -
Extensions, discoveries and other additions 30 91 11 132 227 13 20
Production 27) (43) (6) (76) (169) (25) —_

Balance December 31, 2000 228 355 117 700 1,325 467 535
Revisions of previous estimates 27 (4) 1 24 35 2 —
Purchases of reserves in place 45 — — 45 1,050 5 — "
Sales of reserves in place (4) — — 4) 7) — —
Extensions, discoveries and other additions 49 74 25 148 737 76 —_
Production (28) (37) (7) (72) (195) (23) —

Balance December 31, 2001 317 388 136 841 2,945 527 535 pai

Proved developed reserves —
December 31, 1999 166 167 32 365 854 157 — ju
December 31, 2000 153 185 27 365 848 150 — "
December 31, 2001 206 248 24 478 1,741 208 13 B
“I'ie following presents the company’s barrel of oil equiva-
et prowvedd developed and undeveloped reserves based on
approsatnaie relstive henting valie (6 Mcf equals 1 barrel).
United North Other
States Sea International
446 276 198 1k
449 433 206 Ja
808 476 225 P

62 |




@ Standardized Measure of and Reconciliation of Changes in Discounted Future Net Cash Flows (Unaudited)

The standardized measure of future net cash flows presented the company’s estimates of total reserves, development costs and
i the following table was computed using year-end prices and production rates were based upon the best information available,
costs and a 10% discount factor. The future income tax expense the development and production of the oil and gas reserves may
was computed by applying the appropriate year-end statutory not occur in the periods assumed. Actual prices realized and
rates, with consideration of future tax rates already legislated, to costs incurred may vary significantly from those used. Thercforc,
the future pre-tax net cash flows less the tax basis of the properties such estimated future net cash flow computations should not be
mvolved. However, the company cautions that actual future net considered to represent the company’s estimate of the expected
cash flows may vary considerably from these estimates. Although revenues or the current value of existing proved reserves.
Standardized
Future Measure of
Future Development 10% Discounted
Cash  and Production Future Future Net Annual Future Net
{Millions of dollars) Inflows Costs Income Taxes Cash Flows Discount Cash Flows
2001 -
United States $12,126 $ 5,803 $2,007 $ 4,316 $1,937 $2,379
North Sea 8,348 3,805 1,155 3,388 1,216 2,172
Other international 3,516 1,812 595 1,109 672 437
Total $23,990 $11,420 $3,757 $ 8,813 $3,825 $4,988
2000 —
United States $14,825 $ 3,945 $3,698 $ 7,182 $2,940 $4,242
North Sea 9,051 3,625 1,807 3,619 1,312 2,307
Other international 4,284 1,813 944 1,527 850 677
Total $28,160 $ 9,383 $6,449 $12,328 $5,102 $7,226
1999 —
United States $ 7,928 $ 3,332 $1:398 $ 3,198 $1,343 $1,855
North Sea 6,146 2,608 1,245 2,293 665 1,628
Other international 3,693 1,665 783 1,245 717 528
Total $17,767 $ 7,605 $3,426 $ 6,736 $2,725 $4,011

The changes in the standardized measure of future net cash
flows are presented below for each of the past three years:

(Millions of dolfars) 2001 2000 1999

Net change in sales, transfer prices and production costs $(5,879) $ 3,849 $4,310
Changes in estimated future development costs (639) (33) (318)
Sales and transfers less production costs {1,904) (2,358) (1,314)
Purchases of reserves in place 1,117 1,065 117
Changes due to extensions, discoveries, etc. 1,232 1,477 592
Changes due to revisions in quantity estimares 168 56 272
 Changes due to sales of reserves in place (87) (166) (104)
Current period development costs 1,237 568 339
FAccretion of discount 1,093 601 231
Changes in income taxes 1,689 (1,706) (1,414)
Timing and other (265) (138) (423)

Net change (2,238) 3,215 2,288
Total at beginning of year 7,226 4,011 1,723
Total at end of year $ 4,988 $ 7,226 $4,011
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Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

Vonany il quanerly consolidated resulis for 2001 and average of stock issued, convertible debt issued or repaid and net
2000 i preserned hiedow, The quarterly per-share amounts do loss sustained in a quarter. (Refer to Note 1 for information about
nat add 1o the annual amounts due to the effects of the weighted the 2001 change in accounting principle.)

Diluted Income (Lass)
per Common Slare

hwonie Inconie
(Loss) Belore Net (1.oss) Belore Net
Operating Accomming, Inconie Acconnting, Income
(Millions ol dollars, except per-share anounus) Sales l’mfllt (Loss) Change (Lass) Clunge (Lans)
2001 Quarter Ended -
March 31 $1,058 $ 424 $355 $335 $3.40 $3.21
June 30 939 340 175 175 1.71 1.71
September 30 884 176 20 26 27 27
December 31 757 (20) (50) (50) (.50) (.50)
Toral $3,638 $ 920 #3506 $486 $4.93 $4.74
2000 Quarter Ended -
March 31 $ 886 $ 328 $185 $185 $1.94 $1.94
June 30 1.011 334 110 110 1.11 1.11
September 30 1,106 459 265 265 2.57 2,57
December 31 1,118 493 282 282 2.73 2.73
Toral $4,121 $1.614 $842 $842 $8.37 $8.37
The company’s common stock is listed for trading on the Oryx and HS Resources owners who have not yet exchanged their
New York Stock Exchange and at year-end 2001 was held by stock. "The ranges of market prices and dividends declared dur-
approximately 28,000 Kerr-McGee stockholders of record and ing the last two years for Kerr-McGee Corporation are as follows:

Marker Prices o
Dividends

2001 2000 per Share
High Low High Low 2001 2000
Quarter Ended -
March 31 $70.70 $62.80 $67.94  $39.88 $45 $.45
June 30 74.10 62.52 . 62.50 51.13 .45 45
September 30 66.96 46.94 68.00 5313 45 45
December 31 59.60 49.00 71.19 59.00 45 45
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Eight-Year Financial Summary

{Millions of dollars, except per-share amounts) 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994

Summary of Net Income (Loss)
Sales $3,638 $4,121  $2,743 $2,254  $2,667 $2,792 $2,466 $ 2,389

Costs and operating expenses 2879 2,672 2,336 2,660 2073 2,174 2352 2215
Interest and debt expense 192 208 190 157 141 145 193 211

Total costs and expenses 3,071 2,880 2,526 2817 2214 2,319 2545 2,426
567 1,241 217 (563) 453 473 79 (37)

Other income 237 58 40 43 82 110 147 15
“Taxes on income (298) (457) (111) 175 (184) (225) 42 9)
Income (loss) from continuing operations 506 842 146 (345) 351 358 110 (31)
Income from discontinued operations —_ — — 277 33 56 27 55
Extraordinary charge —_ — —_ — (2) — 23) (12)
Cumulative effect of change in

accounting principle (20) — 4) — — — — (948)
Net income (loss) $ 486 $ 842 $ 142 $ (68) $ 382 § 414 $ 114 $ (930)
Effective Income Tax Rate 374% 35.1% 43.1% (33.60% 344% 38.6% (61.8)% 40.9%

Common Stock Information, per Share
Diluted net income (loss) —

Continuing operations $493 $ 837 $1.69 $(398) $402 $405 §$123 $ (30)
Discontinued operations - — — 3.20 .38 63 .30 .63
Extraordinary charge — — — — (.02) — (.26) (.14)
Cumulative effect of accounting change (.19) — (.05) —_ — —_ —  (10.82)
Net income (loss) $474 $ 837 $164 $ (78 $438 $468 $ 127 $(10.69)
Dividends declared $180 $ 180 $ 180 $1.8 $1.8 $ 164 $ 15 $1.52
Stockholders’ equity 28.83 25.01 17.19  15.58 17.88  14.59 1247 1233
Market high for the year 7410 7119 62.00 73.19 7500 7413 6400  51.00
Market low for the year 46.94  39.88 28.50  36.19 55.50  55.75  44.00  40.00
Market price at year-end $54.80 $66.94 $62.00 $3825 $63.31 $72.00 $63.50 $46.25

Shares outstanding at year-end (thousands) 100,185 94,485 86,483 86,367 86,794 87,032 89,613 90,143

Balance Sheet Information

Working capital $ 193 $ (34) $ 321 $(73) $ — $ 161 $(106) $ (254)
Property, plant and equipment — net 8,322 5,383 4,085 4,153 3919 3,693 3807 4,497

 Total assets 10,961 7,666 5899 5451 5,339 5,194 5,006 5918

Long-term debt 4,540 2,244 2,496 1,978 1,736 1,809 1,683 2,219

Total debt 4,574 2,425 2,525 2,250 1,766 1,849 1,938 2,704

Total debt less cash 4,483 2,281 2,258 2,129 1,574 1,719 1,831 2,612

 Stockholders equity 3,174 2,633 1,492 1,346 1,558 1,279 1,124 1,112

Cash Flow Information

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,143 1,840 708 418 1,114 1,144 732 693
Capital expenditures 1,792 842 528 1,006 851 829 749 622
Dividends paid 173 166 138 86 85 83 79 79
Treasury stock purchased $ — $§ — $ — $ 25 $ 60 $ 195 $ 45 $§ —

atios and Percentége

Current ratio 1.2 1.0 1.4 8 1.0 1.2 9 8
verage price/earnings ratio 128 6.6 27.6 NM 14.9 13.9 42.5 NM
Total debt less cash to total capiralization 59% 46% 60% 61% 50% 57% 62% 70%

mployees
Jotal wages and benefits $ 369 $ 333 $ 327 $ 359 $367 $ 367 $ 402 $§ 422
INumber of employees at year-end 4,638 4,426 3,653 4400 4792 4,827 5176 6724
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